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Notice is hereby given that the 3rd Annual Meeting of the Company will be held at the FMB Training Centre, First House, 
Blantyre, Malawi on 6 August 2019 at 3:30pm to transact the following business:

1. Minutes of the Last Annual Meeting

To note and approve the minutes of the 2nd Annual Meeting of the Company on Friday 7 June, 2018.

2. Audited Financial Statements

To receive and adopt the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December, 2018 together with the reports of the 
auditors and directors thereon.

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED that the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31  December, 2018 along with the 
Auditor’s report thereon, be and are hereby received, considered and adopted.”

3. Dividend

The Directors do not recommend that a dividend be paid in respect of the financial year ended 31 December, 2019.

4. Directors

4.1. To re-elect directors, Mr. Hitesh Anadkat and Mr Rajkamal Taposeea who retire by rotation but being eligible offer 
themselves for re-election.

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions:

4.1.1. “RESOLVED that the appointment of Mr. Hitesh Anadkat as director of the Company be and is hereby approved.”

4.1.2. “RESOLVED that the appointment of Mr. Rajkamal Taposeea as director of the Company be and is hereby approved.”

4.2. To authorise the non-executive directors to determine the remuneration of the executive directors for the year ending 
31 December, 2019.

To consider and, if thought, to pass the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED to authorise the non-executive directors to determine the remuneration of the executive directors for the 
year ending 31 December, 2019.”

4.3. To fix fees and sitting allowances for the Chairman and other non-executive directors for the year ending  
31 December, 2019.

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED that the fees and sitting allowances for the Chairman and other non-executive directors for the year ending 
31 December, 2019 be approved unchanged as follows:

Annual fees

(i) Chairman US$ 10 000.00 per annum

(ii) Other non-executive directors US$ 8 000.00 per annum

(iii) Board committee membership fee US$ 2 000 per annum per committee

Sitting allowances

(i) Sitting allowance per board meeting for all non-executive directors US$ 1 000.00

(ii) Board sub-committee sitting allowance per meeting for all non-executive directors US$ 500.00”
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)

5. Auditors

5.1. To approve the payment of audit fees of US$ 45 000.00 to Deloitte in respect of the audit of the financial statements for 
the year ended 31 December, 2018.

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED that the payment of audit fees of US$ 45 000.00 to Deloitte in respect of the audit of the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December, 2018 be approved.”

5.2. To approve the re-appointment of Deloitte as auditors for the year ending 31 December, 2019.

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED that Deloitte be appointed auditors of the Company for the year ending 31 December, 2019 and to hold 
office until the conclusion of the next Annual Meeting.”

6. To Authorise the Directors to Issue Further Shares

Pursuant to the Special Resolution of 7th June, 2018 which authorised the directors to issue new ordinary shares up to a 
maximum of 10% of the issued ordinary shares of the Company, the Directors issued 122 000 000 additional shares equivalent 
to 5.22% of the total previously issued ordinary shares.

Rule 5.85 read together with Rule 5.86 of the Listings Requirements of the Malawi Stock Exchange (“MSE”) permits the issue in 
aggregate of new shares for cash over a 36 month period up to a maximum of 15% of the total issued shares at the beginning 
of such period.

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as a Special Resolution:

“RESOLVED to authorise the directors to issue, for cash and in accordance with Rules 5.84 to 5.92 of the Listings Requirements 
of the MSE, new ordinary shares of the Company up to a maximum of 228,437,500 shares, equivalent to 9.78% of the total 
issued ordinary shares at the beginning of the 2018 financial year, such authority being valid until the date of the next annual 
meeting of the Company provided that the authority will not extend beyond 15 months from the date of this resolution.”

7. Other Business

To transact such other business as may be transacted at an annual general meeting of members.

Minerva Fiduciary Services (Mauritius) Limited

Company Secretary

Note: A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy (or more than one proxy) to attend, speak and vote in 

his or her stead. The proxy need not be a member of the company.

The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority, if any under which it is signed or a notarially certified 

copy of that power of attorney or authority shall be deposited at the Transfer Secretary’s office, 1st Floor, Livingstone Towers, Glyn Jones 

Road, Blantyre, not later than forty eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting and in default the instrument of 

proxy shall not be treated as valid.
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MINUTES OF 2nd ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

FMBcapital Holding Plc

Minutes of 2nd Annual General Meeting of FMBcapital Holdings Plc held on 7 June, 2018 at the FMB Training Centre, Blantyre.

Directors Present Directors Present Directors Present

Mr. T. M. Davidson  Chairman Mr. R. Taposeea Director Mr. H. N. Anadkat Director

Mr. D. Dikshit  Director Mr. J. M. O’Neill  Director Mr. F. Ceccato Director

Apology
Mr. V. S. Mohadeb Director

Shareholders present by proxy Proxy holder

FMB Pension Fund Lackson Nyala

First Merchant Bank pension Fund Tony Roka

Manhill Ltd J.M. O’Neill

Homes for the Elderly J.M. O’Neill

J & J Nsamala Trust T. Nsamala

Investments Perspective Joe Maere

Livingstone Exports Ltd M. Bamford

Livingstone Holdings Ltd M. Bamford

N.G Anadkat Ltd M. Bamford

Luvinda General Dealers F. Harawa

D. Makadia M. Mkandawire

Old Mutual Life Assurance 
Company Ltd

Bernard Sanje

Old Mutual Investment Group Bernard Sanje

Escom Pension Fund Bernard Sanje

TNM Pension Fund Bernard Sanje

Standard Bank ITF Old Mutual 
Unit Trust

Bernard Sanje

Aviation Pension Fund Bernard Sanje

CHAM Pension Fund Bernard Sanje

Magetsi Pension Fund Bernard Sanje

Queen Gondwe Geoffrey Gondwe

Magni Holdings Ltd Hitesh Anadkat

Premier Capital (Mauritius) Limited Hitesh Anadkat

Prime Capital Holdings Ltd Mr. B.N. Jani

Prime Bank Ltd Mr. B.N. Jani

First Names Trust Company (Isle of 
Man) Limited – The Kalamata Trust

Hitesh Anadkat

First Names Trust Company 
(Isle of man) Limited – The Raus 
Declaration Trust

Hitesh Anadkat

First Names Trust Company (Isle of 
man) Limited – The Picconia Trust

Hitesh Anadkat

Roycan Trust Company S.A – The 
North Star Trust

Hitesh Anadkat

First Names Trust Company (Isle of 
man) Limited – The Lotus Trust

Hitesh Anadkat

Shareholders present by proxy Proxy holder

First Names Trust Company (Isle of 
man) Limited – Pisage Trust

Hitesh Anadkat

First Names Trust Company (Isle of 
man) Limited – The Jasmine Trust

Hitesh Anadkat

Illovo Sugar Malawi Pension Fund Lackson Nyala

Illovo Sugar Malawi Pension Fund Lackson Nyala

Limbe Leaf Malawi Pension Fund Lackson Nyala

Limbe Leaf Pension Fund Lackson Nyala

Limbe Leaf Pension Fund Lackson Nyala

Limbe Leaf Pension Fund Lackson Nyala

National Investment Trust Limited Lackson Nyala

National Investment Trust Limited Lackson Nyala

Associated Pension Trust Lackson Nyala

NICO General Insurance Co Lackson Nyala

NICO Life Pension Fund Lackson Nyala

NICO Life Insurance Company Lackson Nyala

Nico Life Deposit Adminstration 
Fund

Lackson Nyala

Press Corporation Ltd Pension Fund Lackson Nyala

Puma (BP) Pension Fund Lackson Nyala

Standard Bank Pension Fund Lackson Nyala

Sucoma Group Pension Fund Lackson Nyala

Sucoma Group Pension Fund Lackson Nyala

Toyota Malawi Pension Fund Lackson Nyala

Toyota Malawi Pension Fund Lackson Nyala

Miss J.H. Kajawo Harris Kajawo

Investments Perspective Holdings Joes Maere

Elida Mwamira Maggie Mwamira

H.M. Zembere McDonald

Richard Kumwenda Tom Kumwenda

Contintental Asset Management 
Ltd 

Cuthbert Munyenyembe

Cam Nominees A/c George Ndindi Cuthbert Munyenyembe

Matoga D. Dikshit/M. Msisha

C. Chipeta W. Chanachi/P. Welemu
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MINUTES OF 2nd ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)

Shareholders present in person

Dheeraj Dikshit D. Njiramadzi Dillon Anadkat Wesley Mankhomwa

Dr. E. Mthungi Vasudev Popatlal Frank Harawa Joseph Kalulu

Lovemore C. Tinto Lenard C. Kasuma Nargis Khan Abdul Dunha

RR Katunga Fletcher Grace Nyirenda D.G. Mwamira G. Gondolo

D. Munthali R.B. Malinda C. Makadia

Quorum

The Chairman reported that a quorum of members was 
present and he called the meeting to order at 3.00 pm. It was 
agreed that the notice of the meeting, which was properly 
given, be taken as read.

Scrutineer

The Chairman informed the meeting that he had appointed 
Ernst and Young as independent scrutineer of the voting at 
the meeting.

Approval of Minutes of the Last Annual Meeting

The minutes of the 1st Annual Meeting circulated to members 
were approved as a true record of the meeting.

Audited Financial Statements

The audited financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2017 together with the reports of the auditors 
and directors thereon were approved and adopted.

Dividend

As recommended by directors no dividend was to be paid in 
respect of the financial year ended 31st December, 2017

Directors

The appointment as director of Mr. Francesco Ceccato who 
was co-opted since the last Annual General Meeting was 
approved.

The appointment as director of Mr. Dheeraj Dikshit who 
retired by rotation but being eligible offered himself for re-
election was approved.

The appointment as director of Mr. John Michael O’Neill who 
retired by rotation but being eligible offered himself for re-
election was approved.

The non-executive directors were authorised to determine the 
remuneration of the executive directors for the forthcoming 
year, 31st December, 2018.

The fees and sitting allowances for the Chairman and other 
non-executive directors for the year ending 31st December, 
2018 were approved as follows;

Annual fees

Chairman US$ 10 000.00

Other non-executive directors US$ 8 000.00

Board committee membership US$ 2 000.00 per annum

Sitting allowances

Sitting allowances per board meeting for all non-executive 
directors US$ 1 000.00

Board sub-committee sitting allowance per meeting for all 
non-executive directors US$ 500.00

Auditors

The payment of audit fees of US$  25  000.00 to Deloitte in 
respect of the audit of the financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 was approved.

Deloitte was appointed as auditor of the Company for the year 
ending 31st December, 2018.

Issue of Further Shares

The directors were, by a special resolution carried by a 
unanimous show of hands, authorized to issue, for cash 
and in accordance with Rules 5.84 to 5.92 of the Listings 
Requirements of the Malawi Stock Exchange, new ordinary 
shares up to a maximum of 10% of the issued ordinary shares 
of the Company, such authority being valid until the date of 
the next annual meeting of the Company provided that the 
authority would not extend beyond 15 months from the date 
of the resolution.

Other Business

There being no other business of which due notice had been 
given the meeting was closed.

Terence Davidson
Chairman
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CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW

I am pleased to report that in 2018 our Group made good progress building 
on the acquisitions of 2017 as well as the restructuring undertaken in 
the same year. This included a successful rebranding in four countries, 
establishing a centralized shared services platform in Mauritius and managing 
a smooth transition in Zimbabwe as we successfully integrated that 
acquisition into our operations.

Terence Davidson
Chairman of FMBcapital Group

OVERVIEW
Our regional diversification strategy is bearing fruit with 
Zambia, Mozambique and Botswana all having made good 
progress both in terms of growth in balance sheet and profit. 
In Zimbabwe, we successfully completed a complex and 
challenging migration from Barclays Plc IT systems to those 
of the Group. However, we faced continuous challenges there 
with numerous policy changes, macro-economic uncertainty 
and lack of business confidence in the economy.

As planned, our strategic positioning with a large geographic 
footprint provides resilience against these events. In Malawi 
and Zimbabwe, we continue to provide comprehensive 
banking and financial services solutions to all segments of the 
market whereas in Botswana, Mozambique and Zambia, our 
focus remains on servicing mid to large scale businesses.

For the period under review, our Malawi bank’s profits fell 
marginally. A continued reduction in interest rates impacted 
interest income and higher than normal operating costs were 
incurred because of the extensive one-off rebranding and cor-
porate restructuring exercise. We completed the integration 
of Opportunity International Bank that we acquired in 2017 
and made positive strides towards cost reductions.

In Botswana, business sentiment remained positive with 
strong GDP growth on the back of a recovery in the mining 
sector and a general increase in non-mining activity. Our 
business in Botswana maintained a trajectory of solid profit 
growth in 2018 bolstered by the deepening of customer 
wallet share, an increase in customer acquisitions and the 
launch of payroll lending solutions for the retail segment. The 
bank relocated its head office to newly acquired premises in 
Gaborone’s business district while expanding the sales force 
and opening five new loan centers across the country.

Mozambique continues to suffer from decreased public and 
foreign investment as a result of its hidden debt crisis leading 
to a decline in real GDP growth. Despite this, it is pleasing to 
report that profitability was restored in our business there

 
through significant operating changes which resulted in 
steady balance sheet growth, both in deposits and lending, 
as well as containment of operating expenses. We made a 
number of management changes, including a change in the 
leadership which have brought renewed energy into the 
business resulting in the bank acquiring a number of large 
and prestigious clients. On the ground, we will be shortly 
relocating our primary Maputo branch to the city’s fast 
growing new business district and making a foray into the 
provinces by opening a branch in Nampula.

In Zambia, economic growth continued mainly as a result 
of increased copper production as well as some significant 
investment in public infrastructure projects. The relative price 
stability in the country led the Central Bank to reduce the 
policy rate in February 2018. Our banking operations grew 
remarkably on the back of a robust upswing in the lending and 
deposit book coupled with a healthy increase in transactional 
income, notably from increased foreign exchange trading 
volumes. Our results were further boosted by the successful 
settlement of several large non-performing loans. The bank 
strengthened its presence in the Copper Belt by opening a 
branch in Kitwe in August 2018, taking its total branch network 
in the country to seven.

Our Zimbabwe operation, acquired from Barclays in late 2017, 
continues to contend with that country’s well-publicised 
economic challenges which have resulted in severe shortages 
of foreign currency and spiraling inflation. The introduction 
by the Central Bank of a new functional currency in February 
2019, though a welcome development, has created fresh 
uncertainty and also retrospectively impacted our results for 
2018. Nevertheless, the bank experienced strong revenue 
growth in 2018 together with a 27% increase in profits after 
tax. Notable achievements were the successful introduction 
of the co-brand in October 2018 in accordance with our 
transition agreement with Barclays, followed by a successful 
migration of IT systems from Barclays platforms to those of 
the Group within targeted deadlines.
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CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW (CONTINUED)

STRATEGIC GROUP ACTIONS
Implementing a successful multi-faceted growth strategy 
across several geographies requires experienced and astute 
executive management. After a rigorous selection process, we 
appointed several qualified executives to the new positions of 
Group Heads for Digital and Information Technology, Human 
Resources and Audit. All have considerable multinational and 
Africa banking experience.

In October 2018, we rebranded our operations in four markets. 
In Botswana, Malawi and Zambia we now trade as ‘First Capital 
Bank’. In Zimbabwe the business trades, and will until October 
2020, as ‘First Capital Bank in association with Barclays’ as 
part of our trademark licensing agreement with Barclays plc. 
We anticipate rebranding Mozambique in late 2019 once all 
regulatory approvals have been received. The rebranding 
exercise gives us the opportunity to create a common brand 
identity, a common set of operating values and a common 
vision across all our operations. Ultimately, the rebranding will 
serve to strengthen our position as a regional group creating 
strong synergies in each market and across the region.

In December 2018 we raised additional share capital of 
approximately US$ 11.5 million through the issue for cash of 
122 million ordinary shares to Old Mutual Investment Group. 
This financial injection will be used to fund short to medium 
term growth initiatives across the Group and enhance our 
position as a leading Southern African banking group.

The year also witnessed significant milestones in the Group’s 
corporate restructuring with the transfer of First Capital Bank 
Malawi’s shareholding in First Capital Bank Zambia and First 
Capital Bank Botswana to FMBCH in December 2018 and 
February 2019 respectively. The transfer of the shareholding 
in First Capital Bank Mozambique to FMBCH is also expected 
to be concluded within the first half of 2019.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
For the purposes of the 2018 group accounts we have 
determined that, although not officially recognized as such 
until 22 February 2019, the RTGS dollar became the de facto 
functional currency of our Zimbabwe operation with effect 
from 1 October 2018. In the absence of a quoted exchange 

rate, our best estimate, based on various sources of market 
information, was that by year end the RTGS dollar had 
depreciated to a value of 28 US cents from its previous parity 
with the US dollar. A significant proportion of our Zimbabwe 
assets are denominated in RTGS dollars which, at year end, 
translated to a much reduced US dollar equivalent causing 
a noticeable contraction in the 2018 group balance sheet. 
Furthermore, a charge to translation reserve of more than 
US$ 50 million has been recorded in other comprehensive loss.

The Group acquired its interest in Afcarme with effect from 
11  October 2017 and, accordingly, consolidated operating 
profit for 2017 included US$ 5.5 million profit of our Zimbabwe 
operation for the period 11 October to 31 December 2017. 
Group operating profits of 2018 include a full year’s operating 
results for Zimbabwe of US$ 19.2 million. However, in 2017, 
we recorded non-recurring gains on bargain purchases of 
US$ 18.7 million. Overall, the impact year on year was a decline 
of 11.5% in group profit before tax from US$ 42.5 million to 
US$ 37.6 million. Earnings per share attributable to members, 
which is calculated after deduction of significant interests 
attributed to minorities, particularly in Zimbabwe, decreased 
by some 44% from the prior year.

GROUP OPERATIONS
Creating a new IT foundation for a regional banking group 
spread across several countries requires innovative design 
and expert implementation. During 2018, the Group excelled 
at working through an intricate IT transition in Zimbabwe and 
establishing the framework for establishing and developing 
the group shared services center in Mauritius.

Having acquired Barclays’ Zimbabwean interests in 2017, we 
have spent considerable resources and management time 
in merging this operation onto the Group’s IT infrastructure, 
which meant realignment of several IT functions and processes 
as well as the introduction and enhancement of systems with 
a view to taking on increased processing volumes. Although 
this project was highly demanding with tight timelines, its 
successful outcome has enhanced our overall platform and 
created invaluable IT intellectual capital for use throughout 
the Group.



 Abridged Annual Report        2018 FMBcapital Holdings plc 7

 June 28, 2019 7:24 AM FMBCH_AFS

CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW (CONTINUED)

GOVERNANCE
In response to an increasingly complex governance landscape 
the Group has significantly bolstered its risk and compliance 
resources to manage and continually update our risk 
framework. A primary focus area for the current financial 
year is to ensure that our risk and compliance function is 
comprehensively understood and implemented from board 
level down to all organisational layers.

Instilling effective governance structures at the Group level is 
essential and requires establishing a board containing the right 
balance of skills. I am pleased to report that the Group Board 
comprises a mix of highly experienced independent non-
executive and executive directors. Audit and risk committees 
are in place to provide the requisite governance oversight 
throughout the Group.

Our businesses in each country continue to operate with 
robust and effective governance structures. Each bank has its 
own board, on which independent non-executive directors are 
well represented. Separate board committees meet regularly 
to review key areas of risk, compliance, audit, credit and 
human resources.

Our executive team, working under the leadership of the 
Group Managing Director, provides the level of skills and 
experience necessary to ensure effective management of 
the Group’s operations and its subsidiaries at every level. As 
outlined earlier, we have significantly enhanced our executive 
resources in 2018, with key appointments that complement 
the existing group head office team.

In addition to our standard governance structures in 
2018 the board prioritized:

Seamless migration to shared services
Ensuring that our Mauritius based shared services center 
functions efficiently as it is crucial to the next phase of 
the Group’s development and growth. Centralising the 
Group’s IT and other support functions brings the additional 
benefits of standardised processes, enhanced operational 
control and eventually economies of scale. A systematic 
plan that progressively centralizes these processes is under 
implementation and expected to be completed by late 2020.

Driving ethics and good governance across 
the Group
Ethics, values and governance are all very important to 
group culture and were further instilled throughout the 
Group through the rebranding exercise. This initiative was 
spearheaded by our senior executive team, which traveled 
from country to country presenting our collective vision to 
employees. Ethics and integrity truly form part of the Group’s 
value system. The successful rebranding campaign was a 
defining moment for the Group that enabled us to create a 
common brand and culture across different countries.

Shareholder diversification
The cash subscription of approximately US$  11.5 million  by 
Old Mutual Investment Group to acquire 4.96% of our en-
hanced issued ordinary share capital was an important step in 
attracting new equity and diversifying our shareholder base 
and we will continue to ensure that the group is adequately 
capitalised to position us for future growth.

Compliance with IFRS 9
International Financial Reporting Standard 9 (IFRS  9), which 
the Group adopted effective 1 January 2018, addresses the 
accounting for financial instruments in terms of recognition, 
classification and measurement and accounting for impairment 
of financial assets. Adoption of this standard necessitated the 
development of new impairment models based on Expected 
Credit Losses to replace the Incurred Loss Models of the 
previous accounting standard, IAS 39. The Group is now fully 
compliant, with appropriate IFRS  9 models and processes 
implemented across all our countries of operation.

Adjustments to the carrying amounts of financial instruments 
on first adoption of IFRS  9 are recognized in the opening 
retained earnings figures for 2018 and comparative figures 
are not restated.

Regulatory Compliance
FMBCH complies with The National Code of Corporate 
Governance for Mauritius (2016). The code contains guidance 
and a set of principles that regulate organisational practices. 
In addition, our operating businesses ensure compliance with 
corporate governance requirements in individual countries of 
operation and requirements of local regulators – primarily the 
central banks of each country, and additionally in the case of 
Malawi and Zimbabwe, the local stock exchanges.

FMBCH has access to a supervisory ‘college’ comprising 
representatives from the various central banks in jurisdictions 
where the Group is present. This college gathers periodically 
to review the Group’s performance. Oversight by this college 
proactively drives compliance and consistency, keeping us 
consistently aware of multi-jurisdictional expectations, with 
each regulator offering specific perspectives.
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CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW (CONTINUED)

BUSINESS SUSTAINABILITY
With critical technical and functional positions filled, we 
are now focusing on establishing a unified operating 
platform across the Group to extract various service and 
cost efficiencies. The world class banking platform being 
developed for FMBCH will underpin the Group’s long-term 
growth with specific emphasis on leveraging digital platforms 
for enhancing customer experience as well as streamlining 
operational processes.

Our present focus is to complete and consolidate all recently 
launched initiatives, with Zimbabwe receiving considerable 
management focus. Despite Zimbabwe’s ongoing economic 
challenges, we have adopted a pragmatic approach to the 
future of the business, given the inherent strengths of the 
country. On the back of robust IT platforms, we expect 
to progressively expand the product and service offering 
in the country with a view to deepening wallet share and 
acquiring new customers. Having operated within Barclays’ 
multinational culture for over 100 years, this business also has 
the potential to become a centre of excellence for enhancing 
various components of our group portfolio.

Continued downward pressure on policy rates is likely to 
impact lending margins and profitability in Malawi. In light of 
this the bank will maintain a conservative policy concentrated 
on growing its transactional banking business supported by 
various digital solutions coupled with selective lending. We 
will also continue to focus on operational efficiencies aimed 
at enhancing customer service experience and avoiding the 
waste of resources.

In recent years Mozambique’s economic prospects were 
dimmed by economic scandal and currency volatility, but this 
economy is emerging from the doldrums as its energy sector 
progressively moves towards production of its extensive gas 
resources by 2022. Previous issues that we faced with system, 
language and cultural alignment have been resolved under 
new leadership and we aim to grow our Mozambique operation 
into a strong regional choice, albeit at a sustainable pace.

With favourable growth prospects in both Botswana and 
Zambia driven largely by continued global demand for 
diamonds and copper, we anticipate that these markets will 
respond well to the suite of banking services that the Group 
can introduce as our physical and online network rolls out.

COMMUNITY
Stakeholder relations with the community flow naturally into 
customer engagement and our corporate social responsibility 
(CSR) activities. Community projects have been focused on 
health, sports and education with our biggest spend and 
most visible outreach programmes currently in Zimbabwe 
and Malawi. We will continue to focus on these three pillars 
by enhancing our contributions in Malawi and Zimbabwe 
and identifying suitable impact opportunities in our other 
territories.

CONCLUSION
In 2018, we set the stage for the FMBCH Group of the future, 
taking major strides towards the innovative and resilient 
banking group that we envisage for our customers.

The foundation to enable us to put this strategy into motion 
were the establishment of our IT platform in Mauritius and 
the in-depth rebranding exercise performed throughout the 
Group. Both were successfully completed in 2018.

The roll-out of the new ‘First Capital Bank’ (FCB) brand, ethos 
and logo has enabled the bank’s leadership to instil our values 
and a winning culture into the Group. It is now essential that 
we align our internal culture with the service and product 
promises that we offer.

THANKS
An enormous amount of work was undertaken in 2018 which 
has placed FMBCH into its current healthy and promising 
position of today. For this I want to thank the leadership 
and the entire workforce across the Group for their tireless 
contributions to the success of our business as we con-
tinue to pursue our vision to be a leading Southern African 
banking group.

To all our stakeholders, we invite you to join us in conquering 
our present challenges and making 2019 another remarkable 
year for our clients and the Group.

Terence Davidson
Chairman of FMBcapital Group
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

The Directors are pleased to submit their report together with the audited consolidated and separate financial statements of 
FMBcapital Holdings Plc (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2018.

NATURE OF BUSINESS
FMBcapital Holdings Plc (“the Company”) is a public limited liability company incorporated in Mauritius, registered as a Global 
Business Licence Category 1 company with the Financial Services Commission in Mauritius, and listed on the Malawi Stock 
Exchange.

The Company owns and manages a portfolio of direct and indirect subsidiary investments which are principally involved in the 
provision of commercial banking services. Details of group subsidiaries, including their countries of domicile, are set out in Note 
31 of the financial statements.

Directors’ interests in the company
As at 31 December 2018, the total direct and indirect interests of the directors and parties related thereto in the issued ordinary 
share capital of the Company were as follows:

Name Shares % Shares %

Premier Capital Limited (i)  766 266 044 31.17  766 266 044 32.80

Prime Bank Limited (ii)  262 500 000 10.68  262 500 000 11.24

NG Anadkat Limited (i)  167 067 289 6.80  167 067 289 7.15

Hitesh N. Anadkat (i)  106 666 667 4.34  106 666 667 4.57

Livingstone Exports Limited (i)  16 446 961 0.67  16 446 961 0.70

Livingstone Holdings Limited (i)  13 116 970 0.53  12 697 250 0.54

Dheeraj Dikshit  12 000 000 0.49  12 000 000 0.51

Manhill Limited (iii)  1 309 391 0.05  1 309 391 0.06

Modecai Msisha  (iv)  1 050 000 0.04  1 050 000 0.04

(i) Mr H. Anadkat and members of his immediate family have beneficial interest in Premier Capital Limited, NG Anadkat Limited, Livingstone Exports 
Limited and Livingstone Holdings Limited.

(ii) Mr H. Anadkat is beneficially interested in 3.06% of the issued share capital of Prime Bank Limited.

(iii) Mr J.M. O’Neill has a beneficial interest in Manhill Limited

(iv) Mr M. Msisha is a director of FCBM, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

Mr Francesco Ceccato is employed by Barclays Bank plc (“BBPLC”). BBPLC also owns 19% of the issued share capital of Afcarme 
Zimbabwe Holdings (Private) Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, and in addition, is the sole investor in our redeemable 
preference shares (see Note 40).

The board of directors and directors’ remuneration
The Board is composed of directors coming from different sectors. Every director has drawn from their professional background 
and expertise in positively contributing to the Board’s activities. The Board comprises:

Terence Michael Davidson – Chairman

Dheeraj Dikshit – Group Managing Director

Hitesh Natwarlal Anadkat

Francesco Ceccato

Rajkamal Taposeea

Vedanand Singh Mohadeb

John Michael O’Neill

Manogaran Thamothiram (resigned – 14 March 2018)

The Board is responsible for directing the affairs of the Company in the best interests of its shareholders, in conformity with legal 
and regulatory frameworks, and consistent with its constitution and best governance practices.

The company embraces and abides by the main principles of modern corporate governance and in particular, those principles 
set out in the guidance for holders of a Category 1 Global Business Licence in the National Code of Corporate Governance for 
Mauritius and the Malawi Code II (Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance in Malawi).

Remuneration paid by the Company and its subsidiaries to directors of the Company has been disclosed in Note 46 of the financial 
statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 31 December 2018

Related parties
The Company and the Group’s dealings with its related parties are disclosed in Note 46 of the financial statements.

Audit fee
Audit fee payable to Deloitte, for the year ended 31 December 2018 amounts to US$ 45 000 (2016: US$ 25 000) excluding VAT 
and disbursements.

Financial risk factors
The financial risk factors have been set out in Note 5 of the financial statements.

Donations
During the year, no donation for political purposes was made by the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Ethical standards
The Board is fully committed to ensuring the Group’s affairs are conducted with integrity and that the highest ethical standards 
are maintained. All employees of the Group are required to abide by a code of conduct containing detailed guidelines governing 
ethics and integrity in the workplace.

Auditor’s report and financial statements
The auditor’s report is set out on pages 23 to 25 and the financial statements are set out on pages 26 to 113.

On behalf of the board

D. Dikshit J.M. O’Neill
Director Director

31 May 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW
The disclosures contained in this report are intended to 
provide a description of FMBCH’s corporate governance 
policies and practices. The FMBCH board views adherence to 
high standards of corporate governance as being essential 
to its ability to ensure and uphold the long-term sustainability 
of the business and create value for the Group’s stakeholders, 
including society at large. In this respect, the board has 
established governance processes in place, within a framework 
of effective controls, to support its strategic orientations and 
meet the reasonable expectations of its stakeholders.

The board provides ethical and effective leadership and sets 
the example for this in the way it conducts itself and oversees 
the business and affairs of the Group. It also promotes a 
culture in which the principles of integrity, accountability and 
transparency are embraced by all employees.

The board monitors and adapts practices to reflect 
global developments in corporate governance principles, 
ensure smooth business operations and drive optimal 
stakeholder engagement.

The board assumes ultimate responsibility for leading and 
controlling the organisation and ensuring it meets all legal and 
regulatory requirements. To this end, governance standards 
and practices include:

• strict compliance to rules and regulations;

• strong commitment to ethics and values;

• robust risk governance and internal control; and

• continuous multi-stakeholder engagement.

FMBCH has a Constitution that conforms to the provisions of 
the Mauritius Companies Act 2001. A copy of the Constitution 
can be obtained by written request to the Company Secretary.

Compliance with the National Code of Corporate 
Governance for Mauritius (2016)

FMBCH embraces and abides by the main principles of modern 
corporate governance, in particular, those principles set out 
in the guidance for holders of a Category 1 Global Business 
Licence in the National Code of Corporate Governance 
for Mauritius and the Code of Best Practice for Corporate 
Governance in Malawi (Malawi Code II). Disclosures pertaining 
to the eight principles of the Code of Corporate Governance 
for Mauritius are provided in various sections of this 2018 
Annual Report, as outlined below:

Principles of the Code
Relevant sections of 
the Annual Report

Principle 1: Governance Structure • Corporate Governance 
Report

Principle 2:  The Structure of 
the Board and its 
Committees

• Corporate Governance 
Report

Principle 3:  Director Appointment 
Procedures

• Corporate Governance 
Report

Principle 4:  Director Duties, 
Remuneration and 
Performance

• Corporate Governance 
Report

Principle 5:  Risk Governance and 
Internal Control

• Corporate Governance 
Report

• Financial statements, 
page 60

Principle 6:  Reporting with 
Integrity

• Corporate Governance 
Report

Principle 7: Audit • Corporate Governance 
Report

• Financial statements, 
page 23

Principle 8:  Relations with 
Shareholders 
and Other Key 
Stakeholders

• Stakeholders, page 
103

• Notice of AGM, page 1
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED)

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
Governance framework
FMBCH is led by a unitary board, which has ultimate responsibility for the overall stewardship and oversight of the organisation. 
The Group operates within a clearly defined governance framework, which provides for delegation of authority and clear lines of 
responsibility without abdicating the board’s responsibility.

Board of Directors

Group Managing 
Director

Audit committee
Risk and Compliance 

committee
Executives

Delegation of authority

• In order to carry out its duties effectively, the board has 
established two committees – the Audit Committee and 
the Risk and Compliance Committee – which are mandated 
to provide specific expertise and guidance to the board on 
matters affecting the bank’s business and affairs.

• The board sets out the strategic direction of the bank and 
has entrusted the day-to-day running of the Group to the 
executive team. The performance of this team is closely 
monitored and assessed.

Key roles and responsibilities
Board of directors
The board of directors is FMBCH’s ultimate decision-making 
entity. The board is collectively responsible and accountable 
for the affairs and overall performance of the Group. It ensures 
that proper systems and controls are in place to protect the 
Group’s assets and uphold its good reputation. The board also 
determines FMBCH’s strategic direction, identifies key risk 
areas, monitors and evaluates the implementation of policies, 
and plans and approves the Group’s capital expenditure. 
The  board ensures that business activities comply with all 
legal and regulatory requirements as well as with the Group’s 
Constitution. The detailed responsibilities of the board are set 
out in its Charter, which may be reviewed on a yearly basis or 
as required in the event of the introduction of, or amendment 
to, laws and regulations.

Chairman

The Chairman provides overall leadership to the board and 
ensures its smooth functioning while encouraging the active 
participation of all members. He ensures that the board is 
effective in delivering on its duties of setting and monitoring 
the Group’s policies, objectives and strategies.

Board Committees

The board of directors is supported in its functions by two 
main committees, namely the Audit Committee and the Risk 
and Compliance Committee.  These are led by experienced 
chairpersons who report on committee activities or decisions, 
and make recommendations on matters delegated to them 
under their respective charters. In order to fulfil the duties 
and responsibilities delegated to them, the committees are 
authorised to obtain independent professional advice at the 
Group’s expense.

Group Managing Director

The Group Managing Director is responsible for the 
management and supervision of the Group’s operations 
and its day-to-day administration. He provides leadership 
and direction to senior management and oversees the 
implementation of all plans and strategies of the business 
in line with the policies, guidelines and instructions set by 
the board.

Company Secretary

FMBCH has a service agreement with JTC Fiduciary Services 
(Mauritius) Limited (“JTC” or “the company secretary”) for 
the provision of company secretarial services. JTC provides 
assistance and information on corporate governance and 
administration issues. The company secretary is responsible 
for ensuring that board procedures are followed and that 
applicable laws and regulations are complied with. It also has 
primary responsibility for guiding the board members with 
regard to their duties and responsibilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED)

Oversight of subsidiaries
The board ensures that the best principles of modern corporate governance, relevant to each country of operation, are applied 
by the Group’s subsidiary operations. Full details regarding the governance practices of FMBCH’s subsidiaries can be accessed 
as follows:

First Capital Bank Malawi https://firstcapitalbank.co.mw/corporate-governance/

First Capital Bank Botswana https://firstcapitalbank.co.bw/about/governance/corporate-governance/

First Capital Bank S.A. Mozambique http://www.capitalbank.co.mz/governance/

First Capital Bank Zambia https://www.firstcapitalbank.co.zm/corporate-governance/

First Capital Bank Zimbabwe https://zw.barclays.com/home/annual-reports-financial-statements/

The Board
The Board of directors
The Board is composed of directors coming from different 
sectors. Every director has drawn from their professional 
background and expertise in positively contributing to the 
Board’s activities. The Board comprises:

• Terence Michael Davidson – Chairman

• Dheeraj Dikshit – Group Managing Director

• Hitesh Natwarlal Anadkat

• Francesco Ceccato

• Rajkamal Taposeea

• Vedanand Singh Mohadeb

• John Michael O’Neill

• Manogaran Thamothiram (Resigned – 14 March 2018)  

The Board is responsible for directing the affairs of the 
Company in the best interests of its shareholders, in conformity 
with legal and regulatory frameworks, and consistent with its 
constitution and best governance practices.

The Directors’ Profiles
Mr Terence Michael Davidson is a veteran banker having 
spent over 3 decades with Citibank in various geographies and 
capacities including Region Head for East and Southern Africa. 
He was also Chief Executive Officer of Kenya Commercial Bank, 
a regional bank operating in East Africa for 5 years. For the past 
few years, Terence has worked as an independent consultant 
and is on the board of Prime Bank Kenya Ltd and Asilia Ltd as 
well as being Chairman of The New Forests Company. He is a 
Trustee of Gertrudes Children’s Hospital and, the Chairman of 
the Maa Trust. He was a founder member of the Kenya Capital 
Markets Authority, a member of the Kenya Capital Markets 
Tribunal, Chairman of the Kenya Bankers Association and 
former council member of the University of Nairobi.

Mr Dheeraj Dikshit is Group Managing Director of FMBcapital 
Holdings Plc after working as the Managing Director of FMBB 
for 6  years. He holds an MBA and a Bachelor of Commerce 
Degree. Prior to joining FMB, Mr Dikshit worked for HSBC 
in different senior capacities. He has more than 21 years’ 
working experience in corporate and commercial banking as 
well as retail banking and consumer assets. Mr Dikshit joined 
First Capital Bank Plc (Malawi) (Ex-First Merchant Bank PLC 
(Malawi) in 2011. 

Mr Hitesh Natwarlal Anadkat holds an MBA from Cornell 
University and a B.Sc. Economics (Hons) from the University 
of London. Prior to returning to Malawi to establish FMB, he 
worked in a corporate finance house in USA specialising in 
mergers, acquisitions and valuations. He holds directorates 
in a number of sectors of the Malawi economy, principally 
telecommunications, manufacturing and property 
development. He is also the Non-executive Chairman of FCB 
Malawi and serves on the board of the other four commercial 
banks in the group. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED)

The Directors’ Profiles (continued)

Mr Francesco Ceccato is an Italian national, holds a BA from 
Oxford University and a M.Sc. with Distinction from London 
School of Economics. He has worked for financial institutions 
as a corporate finance adviser or principal his entire career, 
including 7 years at GE Capital and 8 years at Barclays, in both 
London and New York. He has had deep experience with Africa, 
having led mergers and disposals in South Africa, Egypt and 
Zimbabwe. In addition to FMBCH, he has previously served as 
a director for several Barclays group companies. 

Mr Rajkamal Taposeea is a Barrister-at-law having over 
22 years of experience in the financial industry. His work 
experience was acquired from blue-chip institutions with 
posting in key financial centres in the world such as New 
York, Brussels, Luxembourg, Hong-Kong and Singapore, and 
more recently as General Manager of a leading bank of the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. In Mauritius, Rajkamal was the first 
Mauritian Managing Director of Barclays Bank Plc and Regional 
Managing Director of Standard Bank of Mauritius. He was also 
the Chairman of Air Mauritius.

Mr Vedanand S Mohadeb is a Fellow of The Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in Ireland. He was admitted as a 
member in 1979 and has since been in audit and accounting 
practice until his retirement on 30 June 2015 when, he was 
a Senior Assurance Partner of PWC Mauritius. He is presently 
the Chairman of Baker Tilly Mauritius, a prominent mid-tier 
audit and accounting firm. He also acts as consultant and holds 
directorship in a property development company.

Mr John M O’Neill is a fellow and member of the Institutes 
of Chartered Accountants in Ireland and Malawi respectively. 
His professional working experience of over 40 years includes 
17 years with Deloitte where he served six years as a partner 
in its Malawi Practice. He was appointed to the Board of First 
Merchant Bank Plc in 1996 and worked as Group Finance 
Director.

Mr Manogaran Thamothiram (resigned – 14 March 2018) 
has been a Director of Minerva Fiduciary Services (Mauritius) 
Limited since 2007, is also the Managing Director and is 
resident in Mauritius. He has more than 25 years of work 
experience, with 15 years in the financial services industry. 
He is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and 
Administrators (ICSA UK).

Board mandate
The board of directors is appointed to act on behalf of the 
shareholders as stewards of the Group’s affairs. The board’s 
mandate requires it to define the Group’s purpose, strategy 
and value and determines all matters relating to the directions, 
policies, practices, management and operations of the Group. 
The board is then responsible for ensuring that the Group is 
managed in accordance with its directions and delegations.

The board is directly accountable to the shareholders. 
Each  year, FMBCH holds an annual general meeting (AGM) 
at which the directors must provide a report to shareholders 
on the performance of the Group and detail its future plans 
and strategies.

Board responsibilities
The responsibilities of the board of directors include:

Establish the Group’s values, goals and policies

• Set the Group’s pace for its current operations and future 
development

• Determine the values to be promoted throughout the 
Group.

• Determine and review Group goals.

• Determine Group policies.

Set group strategy and structure

• Review and evaluate present and future opportunities, 
threats and risks in the external environment, and identify 
current and future strengths, weaknesses and risks relating 
to the Group.

• Determine strategic options, select those to be pursued, 
and decide the means to implement and support them.

• Determine the business strategies and plans that underpin 
the corporate strategy.

• Ensure that the Group’s organisational structure and 
capability are appropriate for implementing the chosen 
strategies.

Delegate to management

• Delegate authority to management, and monitor and 
evaluate the implementation of policies, strategies and 
business plans.

• Determine monitoring criteria to be used by the board.

• Ensure that internal controls are in place and effective.

• Communicate with senior management.

Exercise accountability to shareholders and be 
responsible to relevant stakeholders

• Ensure that communications, both to and from shareholders 
and relevant stakeholders, are effective.

• Understand and take into account the interests of share-
holders and relevant stakeholders.

• Monitor relations with shareholders and relevant stake-
holders through the gathering and evaluation of appropri-
ate information.

• Promote the goodwill and support of shareholders and 
relevant stakeholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED)

Composition and meetings
FMBCH’s unitary board of directors comprises a non-executive chairman, four non-executive directors and two executive directors.

Terence Davidson (Chairman), Hitesh Anadkat (Non-Executive Director), Shyam Mohadeb (Non-Executive Director), Kamal 
Taposeea (Non-Executive Director), Francesco Ceccato (Non-Executive Director), Dheeraj Dikshit (Executive Director), Sean 
O’Neill (Executive Director).

The board is of the view that its present composition is adequately balanced and that the current directors have the range of 
skills, expertise and experience to ensure that the board carries out its duties properly.

There is a clear separation of the roles of the Chairman and the Group Managing Director.

The board meets four times a year. There are also adequate and efficient communication and monitoring systems in place to 
ensure that the directors receive all relevant and accurate information to guide them in making necessary strategic decisions, 
provide effective leadership, control the strategic direction of the Group’s operations, and ensure that the Group fully complies 
with relevant legal, ethical and regulatory requirements.

Meeting attendance in 2018

Board member
14 March

2018
07 June

2018
07 August

2018
12 November

2018 Total

Mr. Terence Davidson – Chairman ⎷ ⎷ ⎷ ⎷ 4

Mr. Dheeraj Dikshit – Managing Director ⎷ ⎷ ⎷ ⎷ 4

Mr. Hitesh Anadkat ⎷ ⎷ ⎷ ⎷ 4

Mr. Francesco Ceccato ⎷ ⎷ ⎷ ⎷ 4

Mr. Rajkamal Taposeea1 ⎷ ⎷ ⎷ ⎷ 4

Mr. Vedanand Singh Mohadeb1 ⎷ ⎷ ⎷ ⎷ 4

Mr. Sean O’Neill ⎷ ⎷ ⎷ ⎷ 4

Mr. Manon Thamothiran2 ⎷ N/A N/A N/A 1

1 Mr. Mohadeb and Mr. Taposeea currently reside in Mauritius.
2 Resigned on 14 March 2018.

Board focus areas
During the reporting period, the bulk of the board’s 
discussion centred on:

• Facilitating the seamless migration to shared services 

• Rebranding the Group and its subsidiaries

• Reviewing the capital requirements across the Group to 
ensure sustainable business growth in all markets

• Completion of agreed upon transitional processes with 
Barclays PLC following the Zimbabwe acquisition

• Ensuring IFRS compliance

• Enhancing the Group’s risk and compliance framework
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Board Committees
The board has delegated authority to various board committees that provide specialist guidance and make recommendations, 
through established reporting mechanisms, on areas and matters delegated to them. Each committee has its own charter, which 
is approved by the board and reviewed as required. These charters set out, inter alia, the roles, responsibilities, composition and 
meetings requirements of each committee.

The structures and roles of the committees are broadly as follows:

Audit Committee

Key responsibilities

The audit committee assists the board of directors in fulfilling 
its oversight responsibilities for:

• the integrity of the Group’s financial statements;

• the Group’s compliance with legal and regulatory require-
ments;

• the Group’s system of internal control; and

• the performance of the Group’s Internal Audit Function and 
External Auditors.

Composition and meetings

The committee consists of three directors and meets at least 
once every quarter in line with its approved terms of reference 
and good governance practice. During 2018, the schedule of 
Audit committee meetings was disrupted due to the Group’s 
restructure and move to Mauritius. The Group will ensure that 
the Audit Committee meets once every quarter during the 
2019 financial year.

Committee member
9 May
2018

07 June
2018

06 Dec
2018

Mr. Vedanand Singh Mohadeb ⎷ N/A ⎷

Mr. John Michael O’Neill ⎷ ⎷ ⎷

Mr. Francesco Ceccato ⎷ ⎷ ⎷

Focus areas in the 2018 financial year
• FMBCH’s interim and audited financial statements, with 

recommendations made to the board

• Reports from internal and external auditors and actions 
taken in response to these.

• Audit plans of internal and external auditors.

• Compliance work plan/reports and actions taken.

• Operational and information risk reports.

• Adequacy of allowance for credit impairment.

• Monitoring compliance within IFRS frameworks.

• Ongoing activities of selected business segments.

Risk and Compliance Committee

Key responsibilities

The risk and compliance committee assists the board in:

• setting up risk mitigation strategies;

• assessing and monitoring FMBCH’s risk management pro-
cess;

• advising the board on risk issues;

• monitoring the risk of the different portfolios against the 
set risk appetite; and

• compliance with relevant regulations and advocated norms.

Composition and meetings

The committee consists of three directors and meets at least 
once every quarter in line with its approved terms of reference 
and good governance practice. Following the Group’s 
restructure and move to Mauritius, the Risk and Compliance 
committee met once in June 2018. The full quota of quarterly 
meetings will be resumed during the 2019 financial year.

Committee member
07 June

2018

Mr. Rajkamal Taposeea ⎷

Mr. Hitesh Natwarlal Anadkat ⎷

Mr. Dheeraj Dikshit ⎷

Focus areas in the 2018 financial year
• FMBCH’s risk governance structure across the group and its 

subsidiaries.

• Adherence to the set risk appetite and limits and any 
breaches thereof.

• Capital adequacy (regulatory and internal benchmarks) and 
capital demand.

• Liquidity and funding requirements.

• Operational risk matters involving business processes and 
system infrastructure.

• Compliance with regulatory requirements, specifically 
breaches and remediation plans.

• Stress testing results in terms of capital adequacy, as part 
of ICAAP.

• Compliance with IFRS frameworks. 
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Board effectiveness

Nomination process

The Board assumes responsibility for succession planning 
and for the appointment and induction of new directors. 
It undertakes a review of its structure, size and composition 
on an annual basis, or whenever appointments are considered. 
This is done to ensure that the board has a diverse mix of 
competencies, knowledge and experience, thereby enriching 
board discussions through diverse perspectives, and improving 
the quality of decision making.

The board has a formal and transparent process in place 
for the nomination and appointment of new directors. 
Prospective candidates are assessed based on an established 
set of criteria that assess each candidate’s knowledge, 
competencies, experience, time commitment, independence, 
ethics and values.

Board induction and training

Board induction is essential in order to ensure that new board 
members are able to assume their roles and become productive 
board contributors as quickly as possible. New board members 
are provided with all the information and support they need 
to be confident and productive in their role, including:

• introduction to their fellow board members and other key 
executives;

• overview of the Group’s strategic plan and financial position;

• review of governance arrangements; and

• meetings with key stakeholders where relevant.

Professional development

The board’s is committed to continuous improvement, and 
ongoing professional development and training is made 
available as necessary.

Performance assessment

The board did not undertake an independent board evaluation 
process during the reporting period. However, internal 
assessments were conducted based on each directors’ skills 
and experience against their functional areas.

Directors’ duties, remuneration and performance
On joining the board, all directors are made aware of their 
legal duties and are familiarised with FMBCH’s operations and 
business environment. In this way all directors are enabled 
and equipped to immediately and to effectively contribute 
to strategic discussions and the oversight of Group’s strategy 
and operations.

Conflicts of interest

• Conflicts of interest are recognised as a significant 
reputational and operational risk and the board makes 
every effort to identify and address any such conflicts. The 
company secretary maintains a directors’ interests register 
and will present this to shareholders on written request.

• All potential conflicts of interest are immediately addressed 
when identified so as to ensure the good governance of 
all related transactions and their adherence to the board’s 
ethical standards.

Approach to remuneration

• Remuneration philosophy and policies

• Statement of the rationale for any changes to the 
remuneration policy.

• Affirmation that the Board or a specified committee has 
reviewed the adequacy of directors’ and senior executives’ 
remuneration and the form of that remuneration.

• Appropriate details of directors’ remuneration to include: 
an explanation of the proportions of fixed and variable 
remuneration; details of any long-term incentive plans and 
a description of any link between executive remuneration 
and organisation performance.

• Assurance that the non-executive directors have not 
received remuneration in the form of share options or 
bonuses associated with organisational performance.
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Directors’ remuneration

Competent directors are essential for the group to achieve its strategic objectives. The board therefore prioritises the appointment 
of appropriate directors with the right skills, values and experience to make a significant contribution to the sustainable success 
of the organisation.

FMBCH’s remuneration philosophy is to encourage optimal performance from every employee by means of attractive 
compensation, fair reward and appropriate incentives where justified. Board remuneration adheres to this philosophy and 
executive directors are entitled to an annual performance bonus based on the Group’s financial results as well as on their individual 
contribution to annual performance. All management and staff are similarly eligible for the payment of an annual bonus in line 
with overall business and individual performance.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2018, the total remuneration provided to directors was as follows:

Consolidated Separate

2018 2017 2018 2017

Executive Directors 1 024 517 853 358 1 024 517 –

Key Management Personnel 2 039 281 – – –

Non-Executive Directors and Independent Directors 303 371 666 353 65 487 33 918

Total spend 3 367 169 1 519 711 1 090 004 33 918

Directors’ interests and dealings in securities

As at 31 December 2018 the directors’ interests in the Group’s capital were as follows: 

Directors
Direct 

Shareholding
Indirect 

Shareholding

Mr. Terence Michael Davidson Nil Nil

Mr. Hitesh Natwarlal Anadkat 4.34% 39.17%

Mr. Vedanand Singh Mohadeb Nil Nil

Mr. Rajkamal Tapossea Nil Nil

Mr. Francesco Ceccato Nil Nil

Mr. John Michael O’Neill Nil 0.05%

Mr. Dheeraj Dikshit 0.49% Nil

During the year under review, none of the directors dealt in FMBCH shares.
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Risk governance
Risk management and internal control

Risk philosophy

The FMBCH risk appetite framework is the cornerstone of the 
Group’s risk management architecture. It helps management 
to better understand and manage risks by translating risk 
metrics and methods into strategic decisions, reporting, and 
day-to-day business decisions.

The board ensures that management sets an appropriate 
balance between promoting short-term profitability and 
growth and delivering long-term sustainable performance.

Risk management
The board places an emphasis on the bank’s risk management 
framework and internal control systems. These are regularly 
reviewed against the Group’s strategy, changes in the 
operating context, and assessed against best practice trends.

The board, supported by the risk and compliance committee, 
ensures that the structures, processes and methods for the 
identification, evaluation and management of the principal 
risks (including emerging), faced by the bank are integrated in 
the overall risk governance framework.

Moreover, the board ensures that the controls put in place 
deliver an acceptable level of risk. The audit committee oversees 
the effectiveness of the bank’s internal control systems.

Based on the work performed by internal and external 
auditors, reviews by management and regular reporting from 
the chairperson of the audit committee, the board is confident 
that the internal control systems are adequate and effective.

Significant risks

The risk assessment process has identified the following as the 
most significant risks that the Group faces:

• Credit risk

• Market risk

 ο Foreign exchange rate risk

 ο Interest rate risk

 ο Equity risk

• Liquidity risk

• Operational risk

• Compliance risk

• Reputational risk

• Strategic risk

More information regarding each significant risk is available 
on pages 60 to 73 of this report.

Information governance

One of the most significant risks that the Group faces is the 
possibility of suffering losses or business disruptions due to 
technological system failure. To manage and mitigate this risk, 
the Group has the following in place:

• Rigorous technology policies

• A modern, secure data centre

• An IT disaster recovery site

• An off-site backup centre

• Trained personnel in hardware and software systems

• Comprehensive maintenance agreements with system 
providers

During the year under review, much emphasis was placed on 
the development and implementation of risk management 
measures to mitigate the risk of cyber-attacks and threats, and 
reinforce access control, information security and business 
continuity. The Group’s IT team was bolstered through the 
appointment of an experienced new chief information and 
digital office executive, Mr. Samir Khare.

The board is responsible for data and information governance, 
but delegates the management of information technology to 
the Group’s IT function under the leadership of the IT Manager.



20 FMBcapital Holdings plc Abridged Annual Report        2018

 June 28, 2019 7:24 AM FMBCH_AFS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED)

Audit
The Group’s external and internal auditors have unlimited access to the audit committee and report to the committee at its 
quarterly meeting as well as discussing any identified areas of possible audit risk exposure. Where the committee identifies any 
cause for concern, or scope for improvement, it makes recommendations to the board and recommends remedial actions.

Internal audit

The Group has an internal audit plan in place and internal 
controls are reviewed at regular intervals in all operating 
units. Internal audit, under the leadership of the group head 
of audit, Mr. Joao Rodrigues, provides regular reports to the 
audit committee. It also presents reliable, insightful and timely 
assurance to the board and executive management on the 
effectiveness of governance, risk management and controls 
over current and evolving risks in the context of the current 
and expected business environment. 

The internal audit function conducts periodic audits and 
constitutes part of the “third line of defence” to support 
proper and compliant management of the Group.

Internal auditors inform management and the audit committee 
of any breaches or violations and the audit committee ensures 
that there is an open line of communication between the 
head of internal audit, the external auditors and the board 
of directors.

External auditor

Deloitte & Touche (“Deloitte”) has independently audited the 
2018 Annual Financial Statements contained in this report. 
Its unmodified audit opinion appears on pages  23 to 25 of 
the AFS. The scope of the audit is limited to information on 
page 23 and where Deloitte has identified key audit matters, 
these are addressed in its audit opinion.

With a view to ensuring the overall adequacy of the bank’s 
internal control framework, the audit committee evaluates 
the independence and effectiveness of the external auditor 
on an ongoing basis before making a recommendation to the 
board on its appointment and/or retention. The appointment 
of the external auditor is approved by shareholders at the 
Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

Group policy states that auditing and consulting functions 
should be allocated to separate auditing firms.

Reviewing FMBCH’s audit practices and use of financial 
consultants was a key part of the Group’s restructuring. The 
Group selected Deloitte as its external audit partner across 
all six countries of operation, which is being phased in as 
contracts with other auditing firms complete.

During 2018, the audit committee met regularly with the 
external auditor, without management present.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities
Statement of compliance
We, the directors of FMBcapital Holdings plc, confirm that, to the best of our knowledge, the Group has complied with all of its 
obligations and requirements under the National Code of Corporate Governance (2016).

On behalf of the Board

D. Dikshit J.M. O’Neill
Director Director
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
for the year ended 31 December 2018

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate annual financial 
statements of FMBcapital Holdings Plc, comprising the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at  
31 December 2018 and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and 
cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements which include a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. The consolidated and 
separate financial statements also comply in the manner required by Mauritius Companies Act, 2001 in so far as applicable 
to companies holding a Category 1 Global Business Licence. In addition, the Directors are responsible for preparing the  
Directors’ Report.

The Mauritius Companies Act, 2001 requires the Directors to ensure that the Group and Company maintain proper accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and Company and ensure the 
financial statements comply with the Companies Act. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the Directors accept responsibility for the following:

• Maintenance of proper accounting records;

• Selection of suitable accounting policies and applying them consistently;

• Making judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• Compliance with applicable accounting standards, when preparing financial statements, subject to any material departures 
being disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

• Preparation of financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume the company will continue 
in business.

The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and for maintaining adequate 
accounting records and an effective system of risk management.

The Directors have made an assessment of the Company and its subsidiaries respective abilities to continue as going concerns and 
have no reason to believe that these businesses will not be going concerns in the year ahead.

The external auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the consolidated and separate financial statements are fairly 
presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in a manner required by the Companies Act.

Directors’ remuneration and interest
Remuneration and benefits paid by the Company have been disclosed under Note 36.

Auditor
The Constitution of the Company provides for the appointment of auditors to fulfil the role of statutory auditor to audit the 
financial statements of the Company. The fee payable to the auditor is US$ 45,000 excluding VAT and disbursements.

Approval of financial statements
The consolidated and separate financial statements of FMBcapital Holdings Plc as identified in the first paragraph, were approved 
by the Board of Directors on 31 May 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

D. Dikshit J.M. O’Neill
Director Director

By order of the Board
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CERTIFICATE FROM THE SECRETARY
under Section 166 (d) Of the Mauritius Companies Act, 2001

We certify to the best of our knowledge and belief that we have filed with the Registrar all such returns as are required of 
FMBcapital Holdings Plc, under the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 during the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

Manogaran Thamothiram

for JTC Fiduciary Services (Mauritius) Limited
Corporate Secretary

Registered Office:

C/o JTC Fiduciary Services (Mauritius) Limited
Suite 2004, Level 2
Alexander House
35 Cybercity
Ebène
Mauritius

31 May 2019
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 7th–8th floor, Standard and Chartered Tower
 19–21 Bank Street
 Cybercity
 Ebene 72201
 Mauritius

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of FMBcapital Holdings Plc
Report on the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of FMBcapital Holdings Plc (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 26 to 113, which comprise the consolidated and separate statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
consolidated and separate statement of changes in equity and consolidated and separate statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated and separate financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group and Company as at 31 December 2018, and of their consolidated and separate financial performance and 
consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) and comply with the requirements of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 in so far as applicable to Category 1 Global 
Business Licence companies.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those Standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with the 
IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis of our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
and separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.

Provision for credit losses How the matter was addressed

IFRS 9 was implemented by the Group 
on 1  January 2018. As permitted by the 
Standard, the requirements have been applied 
retrospectively without restating comparatives.

The key changes arising from adoption of the new 
standard is that the Group’s credit losses are now 
recognised based on expected credit losses (‘ECL’) 
rather than on incurred losses, and the change in 
the classification and measurement of financial 
assets and liabilities, which are detailed in note 
3.1.3 to the financial statements.

The estimation of credit losses based on expected 
credit losses requires the management to exercise 
significant judgement and using subjective 
assumptions in the determination of Probabilities 
of Default (‘PD’), Loss Given Default (‘LGD’), 
and Exposures at Default (‘EAD’) to determine 
the amount of impairment provision for loans 
and advances and hence adoption of IFRS 9 is 
considered as a key audit matter.

Our procedures included the following amongst others:

• Evaluated the appropriateness of the IFRS 9 impairment methodologies 
applied by the Group against the requirements of IFRS 9;

• Evaluated with the involvement of Credit Specialists, the methodology 
that the Group has used for determination of Expected Credit Losses 
(ECL) against the requirements of IFRS 9;

• Checked the appropriateness of the Group’s staging based on a sample 
of exposures tested;

• Checked and understood the key data sources and assumptions for data 
used in the ECL models (the Models) used by the Group to determine 
impairment provisions;

• Assessed assumptions used in the determination of ECLs for 
reasonability;

• Checked the appropriateness of the system to determine the Probability 
of Default used in the ECL calculations;

• Checked the appropriateness of determining Exposure of default, 
Probability of Default (PD) and Loss Given Default (LGD) used in the ECL 
calculation based on a sample of exposures;

• On a sample basis, checked the completeness and accuracy of the 
data that was used in the ECL calculation of loans and advances as of 
31 December 2018 and 1 January 2018; and

• Checked the appropriateness of the transition adjustments

The modelling approach and methods applied in determining ECLs were 
appropriate and that the amounts recorded were reasonable and complied 
with IFRS 9. We further concluded that the financial statements disclosures 
in relation to provision for credit losses are appropriate and that the 
adoption of IFRS 9 was in line with the requirements.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of FMBcapital Holdings Plc (continued)

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Mauritius Companies Act 2001

In accordance with the requirements of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001, we report as follows:

• we have no relationship with, or interest in, the Company and its subsidiaries other than in our capacity as auditor;

• we have obtained all information and explanations that we have required; and

• in our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as appears from our examination of those 
records.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Message from the Chairman, 
Corporate Information, Report of the Directors, Corporate Governance Report, Statement of directors’ responsibilities and 
Certificate from the Secretary, but does not include the consolidated and separate financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance or conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors for the consolidated and separate financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and in compliance with the requirements of the Mauritius Companies 
Act 2001 and they are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of the consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company and 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company and/or the Group or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the Company’s and the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s and Group’s internal 
control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of FMBcapital Holdings Plc (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements (continued)
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s and Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company and /or the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the 
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

This report is made solely to the Company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with section 205 of the Mauritius Companies 
Act 2001. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s shareholders those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept 
or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s shareholders as a body, for our audit work, for 
this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Deloitte Vishal Agrawal, FCA
Chartered Accountants Licensed by FRC

31 May 2019



26 FMBcapital Holdings plc Abridged Annual Report        2018

 June 28, 2019 7:24 AM FMBCH_AFS

     Consolidated Separate

US$ Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 7 242 823 101 499 167 446 6 773 806 44 257

Money market investments 8 226 424 936 161 819 258 626 739 –

Loans and advances to customers 9 359 147 633 350 516 403 – –

Finance lease receivables 10  2 228 832 5 288 322 – –

Repurchase Agreements 11 29 969 134 34 789 390 – –

Deferred tax asset 24 499 256 – –

Current tax asset 12(c) 3 698 352 5 014 906 – –

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 13 7 665 487 7 184 758 – –

Investment in subsidiary companies 14 – – 125 941 039 123 128 045

Investment property 15 6 545 861 6 343 495 – –

Intangible assets 16 6 917 153 8 490 060 – –

Property and equipment 17 54 948 935 44 357 263 190 498 –

Assets held for sale 18 17 531 259 15 129 612 – –

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 41 1 793 644 4 254 012 – –

Other assets 19 10 825 578  16 116 501 3 821 005  976

Total assets 971 019 161 1 158 471 426 137 353 087 123 173 278

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities
Balances due to other banks 20 47 735 602 63 787 552 – –

Customer deposits 21 720 825 817 874 615 899 – –

Other payables 22 27 825 897 37 788 043 1 020 078 1 916 305

Subordinated debt 23 16 859 518 14 224 307 – –

Deferred tax liabilities 24 3 243 342 4 833 105 – –

Income tax payable 12(c) 1 306 308 348 766 – –

Provisions 38 1 698 590 2 375 719 – –

Loans payable 39 6 500 000 6 500 000 6 500 000 6 500 000

Redeemable preference shares 40 10 786 747  10 786 747 10 786 747 10 786 747

Total liabilities 836 781 821 1 015 260 138 18 306 825 19 203 052

Equity
Share capital 25(a) 117 409 081 105 707 965 117 409 081 105 707 965

Share premium 25(b) – – – –

Restructuring reserve 26 (54 510 623) (54 510 623) – –

Property revaluation reserve 27 3 005 294 15 348 – –

Loan loss reserve 28 2 903 507 1 869 083 – –

Investment revaluation reserve 30(b) 878 738 – –

Non-distributable reserves 29 – – – –

Translation reserve 30(a) (23 817 452) 17 020 – –

Retained earnings 33 656 133 19 614 393 1 637 181 (1 737 739)

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the 
company 79 524 678 72 713 186 119 046 262 103 970 226

Non-controlling Interest 31(c) 54 712 662 70 498 102  –  – 

Total equity 134 237 340  143 211 288 119 046 262 103 970 226

Total equity and liabilities 971 019 161 1 158 471 426 137 353 087 123 173 278

The consolidated and separate financial statements were approved for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 31 May 2019 
and were signed on its behalf by:

D. Dikshit J.M O’Neill
Director Director

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2018
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME for the year ended 31 December 2018

   
 Consolidated Separate

US$ Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017

Interest income 32 95 069 602 63 707 350 602 274 1 392

Interest expense on deposits and other accounts (22 246 619) (20 281 940) (1 206 915) (365 890)

Net interest income/(expense) 72 822 983 43 425 410 (604 641) (364 498)

Fees and commissions 41 333 681 22 115 286 (70 200) 18 726

Income from investments 33 2 413 333 3 227 697 6 200 152 –

Gains/(loss) on foreign exchange transactions 21 077 712 10 106 665 (292 613) –

Other operating income 751 070  274 685 3 369 005  –

Total non-interest income 65 575 796 35 724 333 9 206 344 18 726

Total income/(expense) 138 398 779 79 149 743 8 601 703 (345 772)

Staff and training costs 35 48 922 039 26 107 000 2 657 388 –

Premises and equipment costs 14 131 332 7 991 424 31 204 18 062

Depreciation and amortisation 16,17 6 602 258 4 425 278 17 076 –

Other expenses 36 26 960 645 13 615 555 1 908 898 1 352 491

Impairment loss on financial assets 37 4 166 418  3 313 768  –  –

Total expenses 100 782 692 55 453 025 4 614 566  1 370 553

Operating profit/(loss) 37 616 087 23 696 718 3 987 137 (1 716 325)

Gains on a bargain purchase 34  – 18 655 953  –  –

Share of profit of joint venture  –  199 370  –  –

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense 37 616 087 42 552 041 3 987 137 (1 716 325)

Income tax expense 12(a) (6 998 336)  (7 693 878) (612 217)  –

Profit/(loss) for the year 30 617 751  34 858 163 3 374 920 (1 716 325)

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss
Revaluation surplus on property 4 173 295 – – –

Deferred tax on revalued property (1 033 972) 4 354 – –

Fair value gain on investment  2 723 663  –  –  –

5 862 986 4 354 – –

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss
Exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations (55 128 886)  1 915 676  –  –

Total other comprehensive income for the year (49 265 900)  1 920 030  –  –

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (18 648 149) 36 788 193 3 374 920 (1 716 325)

Profit or loss attributable to:
Owners of the company 16 601 205 30 304 809 3 374 920 (1 716 325)

Non-controlling interest 31 (c) 14 016 546  4 553 354  –  –

Profit/(loss) for the year 30 617 751  34 858 163 3 374 920 (1 716 325)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to:
Owners of the company (3 394 328) 31 294 685 3 374 920 (1 716 325)

Non-controlling interest (15 253 821)  5 483 508  –  –

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (18 648 149)  36 778 193 3 374 920 (1 716 325)

Basic and diluted earnings per share (US’ cents) 42 0.709 1.297 0.144 (0.073)
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Consolidated Consolidated (CONTINUED)

US$
Share

capital
Share

 premium

Restructuring
reserve

(Note 26)

Property
revaluation

reserve
Loan loss

reserve

Non-
distributable

reserves
Translation

reserve
Retained
earnings

Equity
attributable

to owners

Non-
controlling

Interest
Total

equity

Balance as at 1 January 2018 105 707 965 –  (54 510 623) 15 348 1 869 083 – 17 020 19 614 393 72 713 186 70 498 102 143 211 288

Initial application of IFRS 9 (net of deferred tax) – – – – – – – (1 785 603) (1 785 603) (959 851) (2 745 454)
Restated balance as at 1 January 2018 105 707 965  –  (54 510 623) 15 348 1 869 083 – 17 020 17 828 790 70 927 583 69 538 251 140 465 834
Profit for the year  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 16 601 205 16 601 205 14 016 546 30 617 751
Other comprehensive income
Property revaluation 4 021 761 – 4 021 761 151 534 4 173 295
Deferred tax on revalued assets  –  – – (1 031 815)  –  –  – –  (1 031 815) (2 157) (1 033 972)
Fair value gain on investment – – – – – 848 993 – – 848 993 1 874 670 2 723 663
Arising on consolidation of subsidiaries  –  –  –  –  –  – (23 834 472)  – (23 834 472) (31 294 414) (55 128 886)

Total other comprehensive income  –  –  – 2 989 946  – 848 993 (23 834 472)  – (19 995 534) (29 270 367) (49 265 900)

Total comprehensive income for the year  –  –  – 2 989 946  – 848 993 (23 834 472) 16 601 205 (3 394 328) (15 253 821) (18 648 149)

Transfers within reserves
Transfer to loan loss reserve – – – – 773 862 – – (773 862) – – –

– – – – 773 862 – – (773 862) – – –

Other movements
Gain on disposal of FVOCI equity instrument – – – – – 3 192 – – 3 192 4 292 7 484

Shares issued through exercise of share options – – – – – – – – – 42 493 42 493

Recognition of share-based payments – – – –  – 26 553 – – 26 553 31 261 57 814

Impairment of FVOCI financial assets(debt)  –  –  –  – 260 562  – –  – 260 562 350 186 610 748

 –  –  –  – 260 562 29 745 – – 290 307 428 232 718 539

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Contribution by and distribution to owners
Issue of ordinary shares during the year 11 701 116 – – – – – – – 11 701 116 – 11 701 116

Total transactions with owners 11 701 116  –  –  – –  – – – 11 701 116 – 11 701 116

Balance as at 31 December 2018 117 409 081  – (54 510 623) 3 005 294 2 903 507 878 738 (23 817 452) 33 656 133 79 524 678 54 712 662 134 237 340
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Consolidated Consolidated (CONTINUED)

US$
Share

capital
Share

 premium

Restructuring
reserve

(Note 26)

Property
revaluation

reserve
Loan loss

reserve

Non-
distributable

reserves
Translation

reserve
Retained
earnings

Equity
attributable

to owners

Non-
controlling

Interest
Total

equity

Balance as at 1 January 2018 105 707 965 –  (54 510 623) 15 348 1 869 083 – 17 020 19 614 393 72 713 186 70 498 102 143 211 288

Initial application of IFRS 9 (net of deferred tax) – – – – – – – (1 785 603) (1 785 603) (959 851) (2 745 454)
Restated balance as at 1 January 2018 105 707 965  –  (54 510 623) 15 348 1 869 083 – 17 020 17 828 790 70 927 583 69 538 251 140 465 834
Profit for the year  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 16 601 205 16 601 205 14 016 546 30 617 751
Other comprehensive income
Property revaluation 4 021 761 – 4 021 761 151 534 4 173 295
Deferred tax on revalued assets  –  – – (1 031 815)  –  –  – –  (1 031 815) (2 157) (1 033 972)
Fair value gain on investment – – – – – 848 993 – – 848 993 1 874 670 2 723 663
Arising on consolidation of subsidiaries  –  –  –  –  –  – (23 834 472)  – (23 834 472) (31 294 414) (55 128 886)

Total other comprehensive income  –  –  – 2 989 946  – 848 993 (23 834 472)  – (19 995 534) (29 270 367) (49 265 900)

Total comprehensive income for the year  –  –  – 2 989 946  – 848 993 (23 834 472) 16 601 205 (3 394 328) (15 253 821) (18 648 149)

Transfers within reserves
Transfer to loan loss reserve – – – – 773 862 – – (773 862) – – –

– – – – 773 862 – – (773 862) – – –

Other movements
Gain on disposal of FVOCI equity instrument – – – – – 3 192 – – 3 192 4 292 7 484

Shares issued through exercise of share options – – – – – – – – – 42 493 42 493

Recognition of share-based payments – – – –  – 26 553 – – 26 553 31 261 57 814

Impairment of FVOCI financial assets(debt)  –  –  –  – 260 562  – –  – 260 562 350 186 610 748

 –  –  –  – 260 562 29 745 – – 290 307 428 232 718 539

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Contribution by and distribution to owners
Issue of ordinary shares during the year 11 701 116 – – – – – – – 11 701 116 – 11 701 116

Total transactions with owners 11 701 116  –  –  – –  – – – 11 701 116 – 11 701 116

Balance as at 31 December 2018 117 409 081  – (54 510 623) 3 005 294 2 903 507 878 738 (23 817 452) 33 656 133 79 524 678 54 712 662 134 237 340

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 31 December 2018



30 FMBcapital Holdings plc Abridged Annual Report        2018

 June 28, 2019 7:24 AM FMBCH_AFS

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

Consolidated (CONTINUED) Consolidated (CONTINUED)

US$ 
Share

capital
Share

premium

Restructuring
reserve

(Note 26)

Property
revaluation

reserve
Loan loss

reserve 

Non-
distributable

reserves
Translation

reserve
Retained
earnings

Equity
attributable

to owners

Non-
controlling

Interest
Total

equity

Balance as at 1 January 2017  161 497  2 164 142  –  4 766 722 1 742 259  483 886  2 618 072 31 977 172  43 913 750  16 669 235  60 582 985 

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  30 304 809  30 304 809  4 553 354  34 858 163 

Other comprehensive income
Deferred tax on revalued assets  –  –  –  4 354  –  –  –  –  4 354  –  4 354 

Arising on consolidation of subsidiary  –  –  –  –  –  –  985 522  –  985 522  930 154  1 915 676 

Total other comprehensive income  –  –  –  4 354  –  –  985 522  –  989 876  930 154  1 920 030 

Total comprehensive income for the year  –  –  –  4 354  –  –  985 522 30 304 809  31 294 685  5 483 508  36 778 193 

Transfers within reserves
Transfers to restructuring reserves – (2 164 142) 51 035 845 (4 766 722)  – – (3 467 428) (40 637 553) – – –

Transfer to loan loss reserve  –  –  –  –  213 167  –  –  (213 167)  –  –  – 

 – (2 164 142) 51 035 845 (4 766 722)  213 167  – (3 467 428) (40 850 720)  –  –  – 

Other transfers
Transfer to collective impairment allowance  –  –  –  – (94 458)  –  (119 146)  94 458  (119 146)  (189 524)  (308 670)

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Contribution by and distribution to owners
Issue of ordinary shares during the year 105 546 468 – (105 546 468) – – – – – – – –

Arising on increase of control in subsidiary – – – – – – – (764 510) (764 510) 764 510 –

Arising on acquisition of subsidiary – – – – – – – – – 48 354 124 48 354 124

Arising on merger with subsidiary – – – 10 994 8 115 (483 886) – 464 777 – – –

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – – (583 752) (583 752)

Dividends paid  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (1 611 593) (1 611 593)  – (1 611 593)

Total transactions with owners 105 546 468  –  (105 546 468)  10 994  8 115 (483 886)  – (1 911 326)  (2 376 103) 48 534 883  46 158 780

Balance as at 31 December 2017 105 707 965  – (54 510 623) 15 348 1 869 083  –  17 020 19 614 393  72 713 186 70 498 102 143 211 288
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Consolidated (CONTINUED) Consolidated (CONTINUED)

US$ 
Share

capital
Share

premium

Restructuring
reserve

(Note 26)

Property
revaluation

reserve
Loan loss

reserve 

Non-
distributable

reserves
Translation

reserve
Retained
earnings

Equity
attributable

to owners

Non-
controlling

Interest
Total

equity

Balance as at 1 January 2017  161 497  2 164 142  –  4 766 722 1 742 259  483 886  2 618 072 31 977 172  43 913 750  16 669 235  60 582 985 

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  30 304 809  30 304 809  4 553 354  34 858 163 

Other comprehensive income
Deferred tax on revalued assets  –  –  –  4 354  –  –  –  –  4 354  –  4 354 

Arising on consolidation of subsidiary  –  –  –  –  –  –  985 522  –  985 522  930 154  1 915 676 

Total other comprehensive income  –  –  –  4 354  –  –  985 522  –  989 876  930 154  1 920 030 

Total comprehensive income for the year  –  –  –  4 354  –  –  985 522 30 304 809  31 294 685  5 483 508  36 778 193 

Transfers within reserves
Transfers to restructuring reserves – (2 164 142) 51 035 845 (4 766 722)  – – (3 467 428) (40 637 553) – – –

Transfer to loan loss reserve  –  –  –  –  213 167  –  –  (213 167)  –  –  – 

 – (2 164 142) 51 035 845 (4 766 722)  213 167  – (3 467 428) (40 850 720)  –  –  – 

Other transfers
Transfer to collective impairment allowance  –  –  –  – (94 458)  –  (119 146)  94 458  (119 146)  (189 524)  (308 670)

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Contribution by and distribution to owners
Issue of ordinary shares during the year 105 546 468 – (105 546 468) – – – – – – – –

Arising on increase of control in subsidiary – – – – – – – (764 510) (764 510) 764 510 –

Arising on acquisition of subsidiary – – – – – – – – – 48 354 124 48 354 124

Arising on merger with subsidiary – – – 10 994 8 115 (483 886) – 464 777 – – –

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – – (583 752) (583 752)

Dividends paid  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (1 611 593) (1 611 593)  – (1 611 593)

Total transactions with owners 105 546 468  –  (105 546 468)  10 994  8 115 (483 886)  – (1 911 326)  (2 376 103) 48 534 883  46 158 780

Balance as at 31 December 2017 105 707 965  – (54 510 623) 15 348 1 869 083  –  17 020 19 614 393  72 713 186 70 498 102 143 211 288

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 31 December 2018
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 31 December 2018

Separate

US$
Share

capital
Revenue

deficit
Total

equity 

Balance as at 1 January 2018 105 707 965  (1 737 739) 103 970 226

Profit for the year  – 3 374 920 3 374 920

Total Comprehensive Income for the year  – 3 374 920 3 374 920

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity

Contribution by and distribution to owners
Issue of ordinary shares during the year 11 701 116  – 11 701 116

Balance as at 31 December 2018 117 409 081 1 637 181 119 046 262

Balance as at 1 January 2017  100  (21 414)  (21 314)

Loss for the year  –  (1 716 325)  (1 716 325)

Total Comprehensive Income for the year  –  (1 716 325)  (1 716 325)

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity

Contribution by and distribution to owners
Issue of ordinary shares during the year 105 707 865  – 105 707 865

Balance as at 31 December 2017 105 707 965  (1 737 739)  103 970 226



 Abridged Annual Report        2018 FMBcapital Holdings plc 33

 June 28, 2019 7:24 AM FMBCH_AFS

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

     Consolidated Separate

US$ Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest and fees received 159 054 073 95 523 197 3 608 466 20 118

Interest paid (22 246 619) (20 281 940) (1 206 915) (365 890)

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (100 653 291)  (50 300 508) (5 493 719)  517 163

36 154 163 24 940 749 (3 092 168) 171 391

Increase in net customer balances (169 969 730)  88 114 207 (3 820 127)  6 199

Cash (used)/generated from operations (133 815 567) 113 054 956 (6 912 295) 177 590

Dividend received net of tax 1 009 699 421 749 6 200 152 –

Income taxes paid 12(c) (7 847 231)  (7 116 058) (612 217)  –

Cash (used) in/generated from operating activities (140 653 099) 106 360 647 (1 324 360)  177 590

Cash flows from investing activities
(Purchases)/maturities of money market investments 
(net) 8 (65 094 765) (58 861 161) (626 739) –

(Purchases)/maturities of currency swaps (net) 11 4 820 256 (8 289 390) –

Acquisition of business, net cash acquired 34(b) – 341 865 513 –

Subscription of shares in subsidiary companies – – (2 812 894) (6 633 333)

Proceeds from sale of equipment 108 866 23 206 –

Acquisition of property and equipment and 
intangibles 16,17 (11 650 094)  (8 030 976) (207 574)  –

Cash (used) in/ generated from investing activities (71 815 737)  266 707 192 (3 647 207)  (6 633 333)

Cash flows from financing activities

Dividend paid 43 – (1 611 593) – –

Proceeds from issue of shares 11 701 116 11 701 116

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests – (583 751) – –

Net cash flow from equity investments – – – –

Proceeds/(repayment) of long term borrowings (447 739)  9 373 255  –  6 500 000

Cash generated from financing activities 11 253 377  7 177 911 11 701 116  6 500 000

Net (Decrease)/Increase in cash and cash 
equivalents (201 215 459) 380 245 750 6 729 549 44 257

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 499 167 446 116 985 147 44 257 –

Effect of changes in exchange rates (55 128 886)   1 936 549  –  –

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 7 242 823 101  499 167 446 6 773 806  44 257

Details for all non-cash transactions have been disclosed as follows

a)  In 2018, the Company acquired an investment in First Capital Bank Zambia Limited by way of dividend in specie from its 
subsidiary First Capital Bank Plc, Malawi – Note 14.

b)  In 2017, the acquisition of Afcarme Zimbabwe Holdings (Private) was partly settled by issue of Redeemable preference 
shares – Note 34 (a).

c)  In 2017, First Capital Bank Plc (formerly First Merchant Bank Plc) paid restructuring and acquisition expenses on behalf of 
FMBCH – Note 36.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

1. REPORTING ENTITY
FMBcapital Holdings Plc (the “Company” or “FMBCH”) was incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius under the name of 
FMB Capital Holdings Ltd as a private company limited by shares under the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 and holds a 
Category 1 Global Business Licence issued by the Financial Services Commission under the Financial Services Act. The 
principal activity of the Company is to hold investments. The Company has a branch office registered as a foreign company 
in Malawi.

These consolidated and separate financial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (“collectively the Group”). 
The Group is primarily involved in corporate, investment and retail banking.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
(i) Statement of compliance

The consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) The consolidated and 
separate financial statements also comply in the manner required by Mauritius Companies Act, 2001 in so far as 
applicable to a company holding a Category 1 Global Business Licence.

(ii) Basis of measurement
The consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following:

• properties which are revalued to fair value; and

• financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.

(iii) Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated and separate financial statements are presented in United States Dollar (US$), which is the 
Company’s functional and presentation currency. 

(iv) Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. In particular, information 
about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in t financial statements are described in the following notes.

• Notes 4(f)(v), 9 and 37  – Loans and advances to customers – Impairment

• Notes 4(f)(v), 10 and 37 – Finance leases receivables – Impairment

• Notes 6, 13, 15 and 18  – Fair value measurement

(v) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 31 December 2018

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS
3.1 Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported and/or disclosed in the financial 

statements
In the current year, the Group has adopted those new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee of 
the International Accounting Standards Board that are relevant to its operations and are effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on 1 January 2018. 

The Group has adopted 2 key reporting standards that are relevant to operations across all the countries. These being 
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers. IFRS 15 had no significant effect 
whereas IFRS 9 has resulted in significant effect on financial instruments classification and measurement as explained 
in note 5.

The accounting policies applied in the preparation of the audited financial results are consistent with the most recent 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 except for the current adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standard 9 (IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments) and International Financial Reporting Standard 15 (IFRS 15 – 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers) detailed below.

3.1.1 IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers adoption

IFRS 15 establishes a framework for determining when and how much revenue is recognised. Under IFRS 15, 
revenue is recognised when the customer obtains control of goods or services. It replaces International 
Accounting Standard 18 (IAS 18 – Revenue) and IFRIC 12 – Customer Loyalty Programs. 

IFRS 15, contains a single model that establishes a five step approach to revenue recognition:

• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer;

• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

• Step 3: Determine the transaction price

• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

• Step 5: Recognise Revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

There has been no significant change to the timing and value of revenue recognised from the existing policies. 
Therefore the Group has adopted IFRS 15 from the date of initial application with no restatement of 2017 
financial statements.

 Net fee and commission income

The adoption of IFRS 15 did not impact the Group’s results. Fees and commissions charged for services 
provided by the Group companies are recognised as the services are provided, for example on completion of 
an underlying transaction.

 Net trading income

Trading positions are held at fair value and the resulting gains and losses are included in the profit or loss 
component of the statement of comprehensive income, together with interest and dividends arising from long 
and short positions and funding costs relating to trading activities.

Income arises from both the sale and purchase of trading positions, margins which are achieved through 
market making and customer business and from changes in fair value caused by movements in interest and 
exchange rates, equity prices and other market variables. Own credit gains/losses arise from the fair valuation 
of financial liabilities designated at fair value through the profit or loss component of the statement of 
comprehensive income.

Gains or losses on assets or liabilities reported in the trading portfolio are included in the profit or loss component 
of the statement of comprehensive income under gains and losses from banking and trading activities together 
with interest and dividends arising from long and short positions and funding costs relating to trading activities.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

3.1 Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported and/or disclosed in the financial 
statements (CONTINUED)

3.1.1 IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers adoption (CONTINUED)

 Net interest income

Interest income on loans and advances at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income 
debt investments, and interest expense on financial liabilities held at amortised cost, are calculated using the 
effective interest method which allocates interest, direct and incremental fees and costs, over the expected 
lives of the assets and liabilities.

The effective interest method requires the Group to estimate future cash flows, in some cases based on its 
experience of customers’ behaviour, considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, as well as 
the expected lives of the assets and liabilities. Due to the large number of products and types (both assets and 
liabilities), there are no individual estimates that are material to the results or financial position.

3.1.2 IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments adoption

The Group has adopted IFRS 9 as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) in July 2014 
with effect from 1 January 2018, which resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the 
amounts previously recognised in the financial statements. The adoption of IFRS 9 has resulted in changes in 
accounting policies for recognition, classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities 
and impairment of financial assets. IFRS 9 also significantly amends other standards dealing with financial 
instruments such as IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures.

The Group did not early adopt IFRS 9 in previous periods. As permitted by the transitional provisions of IFRS 9, 
the Group elected not to restate comparative figures. Any adjustments to the carrying amounts of financial 
assets and liabilities at the date of transition were recognised in the opening retained earnings and other 
reserves of the current period.

Consequently, for notes disclosures, the consequential amendments to IFRS 7 disclosures have only been 
applied to the current period. The comparative period notes disclosures repeat those disclosures made in 
prior year.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

3.1 Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported and/or disclosed in the financial 
statements (CONTINUED)

3.1.3 Effect of adopting IFRS 9 on the classification and measurement of Financial assets 
and liabilities

The following table explains the original measurement categories under IAS 39 and the new measurement 
categories under IFRS 9 for each class of the Group’s financial assets as at 1 January 2018. In addition it shows 
the reconciliation between the carrying amount at 31 December 2017 under IAS 39 and the opening balance 
at 1 January 2018 under IFRS 9.

The effect of adopting IFRS 9 on the carrying amounts of financial assets at 1 January 2018 relates solely to 
the new impairment requirements, as described further below. There were no movement of balances between 
asset classes.

Consolidated

Classification

IAS 39
classification and
measurement

IFRS 9
new classification
and measurement

IAS 39
carrying

amount at
31 December

2017

Re-
measurement

(Impairment
impact) 

IFRS 9
 opening

amount at
 1 January 

2018 

Loans and 
advances to 
customers

Loans and 
receivables 
(amortised cost)

Financial assets at 
amortised cost 355 804 725 (1 936 937) 353 867 788

Placements with 
other banks (held 
for investment 
purposes)

Loans and 
receivables 
(amortised cost)

Financial assets at 
amortised cost 161 819 258 (701 564) 161 117 694

Investment 
securities (equity 
investments)

Available for sale 
– investments 
(FVOCI)

Financial assets at 
FVOCI 4 254 012 – 4 254 012

Investment 
securities (equity 
investments)

Held for trading 
(FVPL)

Financial assets at 
FVPL 7 184 758 – 7 184 758

Cash and bank 
balances

Loans and 
receivables 
(amortised cost)

Financial assets at 
amortised cost 499 167 446 – 499 167 446

Off balance sheet 
exposures Off balance sheet Off balance sheet 91 202 591 (106 953) 91 095 638

Other assets

Loans and 
receivables 
(amortised cost)

Financial assets at 
amortised cost 16 116 501 – 16 116 501

Total 1 135 549 291 (2 745 454) 1 132 803 837
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

3.1 Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported and/or disclosed in the financial 
statements (CONTINUED)

3.1.3 Effect of adopting IFRS 9 on the classification and measurement of Financial assets and 
liabilities (CONTINUED)

Separate

Classification

IAS 39
classification and
measurement

IFRS 9
new classification
and measurement

IAS 39
carrying

amount at
31 December

 2017

Re-
measurement

(Impairment
impact)

IFRS 9 
opening 

amount at
 1 January 

2018

Cash and bank 
balances

Loans and 
receivables 
(amortised cost)

Financial assets at 
amortised cost 44 257 – 44 257

Other assets

Loans and 
receivables 
(amortised cost)

Financial assets at 
amortised cost 976 – 976

Total 45 233 – 45 233

The adoption of IFRS 9 has not had a significant effect on the Group’s accounting policies related to financial 
liabilities and derivative financial instruments; therefore IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in 
IAS 39 for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities. However, the measurement of financial 
assets eliminates the previous IAS 39 categories for financial assets held to maturity, loans and receivables and 
available for sale financial instruments.

The net impact of US$ 2 745 454 was adjusted through retained earnings in the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

3.1 Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported and/or disclosed in the financial 
statements (CONTINUED)

3.1.3 Effect of adopting IFRS 9 on the classification and measurement of Financial assets and 
liabilities (CONTINUED)

 Classification of Financial instruments

Under IFRS 9, on initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at:

1. Amortised cost

2. Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) – debt investments 

3. Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)– equity investments or 

4. Fair value through Profit and Loss (FVTPL).

The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the business model in which a financial 
asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. Derivatives embedded in contracts where the 
host is a financial asset in the scope of the standard are never separated. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument 
as a whole is assessed for classification. 

The business models are explained as follows:

i) Hold to collect contractual cash-flow – Amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL:

⎷ It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

⎷  Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

ii) Hold to collect contractual cash-flow and selling (FVOCI)

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated 
as at FVTPL:

⎷  It is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows 
and selling financial assets; and 

⎷  Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

iii) Other business model – Equity investments (FVOCI)

On initial recognition of an equity investment that not held for trading, the Bank irrevocably elects to 
present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-
by-investment basis.

iv) Hold to sell – (FVTPL)

⎷  All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are 
measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets and debt instruments held for trading.

⎷  A financial asset is initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to its acquisition for financial assets and liabilities not at fair value through profit and loss. Transaction 
costs for financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value through profit and loss are expensed in profit 
and loss.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

3.1 Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported and/or disclosed in the financial 
statements (CONTINUED)

3.1.3 Effect of adopting IFRS 9 on the classification and measurement of Financial assets and 
liabilities (CONTINUED)

The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurement of financial assets.

Financial 
instrument

Business
 model IFRS 9 subsequent measurement

Loans and 
advances to 
customers

Hold to collect 
– contractual 
cashflows

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by losses 
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on 
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Loans and 
receivables from 
banks (held 
for investment 
purposes)

Hold to collect 
– contractual 
cashflows

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced 
by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange on 
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment 
securities – debt 
(held for liquidity 
purposes)

Hold to collect 
– contractual 
cashflows and 
sell

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income 
and impairment is recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and 
losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses 
accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.

Investment 
securities – 
equity

Other business 
model

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are 
recognised as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly are 
recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss.

Investment 
securities – debt 
(held for trading)

Hold to sell These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains are 
recognised in profit or loss.

 • Impairment of financial assets

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘Expected Credit Loss’ (ECL) model. The new 
impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost, contract assets and debt 
investments at FVOCI, but not to investments in equity instruments. Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognised 
earlier than under IAS 39. The financial assets at amortised cost consist of loans and advances, cash and cash 
equivalents and debt securities.

IFRS 9 outlines a three stage model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition 
as summarised below:

⎷  Stage 1 – Financial instruments not credit impaired on initial recognition and are performing

⎷  Stage 2 – If significant increase in credit risk is identified the asset is moved to Stage 2

⎷  Stage 3 – If the asset is credit impaired it is moved to Stage 3.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

3.1 Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported and/or disclosed in the financial 
statements (CONTINUED)

3.1.3 Effect of adopting IFRS 9 on the classification and measurement of Financial assets and 
liabilities (CONTINUED)

 • Expected Credit Losses measurement (ECLs)

ECLs are measured on either a 12 month or Lifetime basis depending on whether a Significant Increase in 
Credit Risk (SICR) has occurred since initial recognition or whether the asset is considered credit impaired. 
The Group uses a combination of a portfolio-based approach and individual assessment to the calculation 
of ECLs. 

Customer portfolios are segmented into Retail and Corporate, short and long term tenure (segregated by 
local and foreign currency) and further non-funded/off balance sheet product.

Portfolio assessment is performed by way of a collective assessment semi-empirical IFRS 9 model (the ECL 
Model) developed in consultation with external consultants supported by available historic information to 
support the modelling of Probability of Default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD) and Exposure at default (EAD).

Individual assessment is performed on all customer loans and advances after having defined a minimum 
exposure threshold. 

The Group elected to use a country rating by sovereign debt approach, which forms the basis of calculating 
the PD’s of all financials assets within scope of IFRS 9 guidelines. The sovereign debt PD is adjusted by 
individual corporate PD rates based on external rating provider Standard & Poor’s (S&P) information.

LGD’s of individually assessed customer loans and advances, have been determined in terms of:

⎷  Stages 1 and 2: An internal benchmark.

⎷  Stage 3: Net exposure after application of future realisable cashflows, predominantly collateral held.

LGD’s on various financial assets/low risk financial instruments, with the exception of customer loans and 
advances, have been determined in terms of: 

⎷  Basel II & III Guidelines: the treatment of sovereign exposures in the banking book. 

⎷  Basel II Guidelines: applied under foundation IRB and observed in the Committee’s study on Banks. 

⎷  Internal benchmark on Securities & Derivatives engaged with corporate counterparties. 

EAD is determined as below: 

⎷  For customer loans and advances: Outstanding exposures plus undrawn limits.

⎷  For other financial assets/low risk financial instruments: Outstanding exposures.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

3.1 Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported and/or disclosed in the financial 
statements (CONTINUED)

3.1.3 Effect of adopting IFRS 9 on the classification and measurement of Financial assets and 
liabilities (CONTINUED)

 • Expected Credit Losses measurement (ECLs) (CONTINUED)

The impairment impact of the initial application of the new provisioning model in transitioning from IAS 39 
to IFRS 9 is as shown below:

Consolidated Company

Impairment balance for IAS 39 at 31 December 2017 10 738 154 –

Loans and advances to customers 1 936 937 –

Placements with other banks (held for investment purposes) 701 564 –

Placements with other banks (held for liquidity purposes) – –

Investment securities (equity investments) – –

Cash and bank balances – –

Off balance sheet exposures 106 953 –

Other assets – –

Total IFRS 9 opening balances as at 1 January 2018 13 483 608 –

3.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. Those which may 
be relevant to the Group are set out below. The Group does not plan to adopt these standards early. These will be 
adopted in the period that they become mandatory unless otherwise indicated:

Effective date Standard, Amendment or Interpretation

Annual periods 
beginning 
on or after 
1 January 2019

IFRS 16 – Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and 
accounting treatments for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will supersede the current lease guide 
including IAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

IFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is 
controlled by a customer. Distinctions of operating leases (off balance sheet) and finance leases 
(on balance sheet) are removed for lessee accounting and is replaced by a model where a right-
of-use asset and corresponding liability have to be recognized for all leases by lessees (i.e. all on 
balance sheet) except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject 
to certain exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any 
re-measurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at present value of 
the lease payments that are unpaid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for 
interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others. 

Furthermore, the classification of cash flows will also be affected as operating lease payments 
under IAS 17 are presented as operating cash flows; whereas under the IFRS 16 model, the lease 
payments will be split into a principal and an interest portion that will be presented as financing 
and operating cash flows respectively.

In contracts to lessee accounting, IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting 
requirements in IAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating 
lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 16.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

3.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective (CONTINUED)

Effective date Standard, Amendment or Interpretation

Annual reporting 
periods beginning 
on or after 
1 January 2021

IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts

IFRS 17 requires insurance liabilities to be measured at a current fulfilment value and provides 
a more uniform measurement and presentation approach for all insurance contracts. These 
requirements are designed to achieve the goal of a consistent, principle-based accounting for 
insurance contracts. IFRS 17 supersedes IFRS 4 – Insurance Contracts as of 1 January 2021.

Annual reporting 
periods beginning 
on or after 
1 January 2019

Amendments to IFRS 9 – Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

IFRS 9 clarify that for the purpose of assessing whether a prepayment feature meets the SPPI 
condition, the party exercising the option may pay or receive reasonable compensation for the 
prepayment irrespective of the reason for prepayment. In other words, prepayment features with 
negative compensation do not automatically fail SPPI.

Annual reporting 
periods beginning 
on or after  
1 January 2019

Amendments to IAS 28 Long‑term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

The amendment clarifies that IFRS 9, including its impairment requirements, applies to long-term 
interests. Furthermore, in applying IFRS 9 to long-term interests, an entity does not take into 
account adjustments to their carrying amount required by IAS 28 (i.e., adjustments to the carrying 
amount of long-term interests arising from the allocation of losses of the investee or assessment 
of impairment in accordance with IAS 28).

Annual reporting 
periods beginning 
on or after  
1 January 2019

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015–2017 Cycle

Makes amendments to the following standards:

IAS 12 – Income Taxes

The amendments clarify that an entity should recognize the income tax consequences of dividends 
in profit or loss, other comprehensive income or equity according to where the entity originally 
recognized the transactions that generated the distributable profits. This is the case irrespective 
of whether different tax rates apply to distributed and undistributed profits.

IAS 23 – Borrowing Costs

The amendments clarify that if any specific borrowing remains outstanding after the related asset 
is ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing becomes part of the funds that an entity 
borrows generally when calculating the capitalization rate on general borrowings.

IFRS 3 – Business Combinations

The amendments to IFRS 3 clarify that when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint 
operation, the entity applies the requirements for a business combination achieved in stages, 
including remeasuring its previously held interest (PHI) in the joint operation at fair value. The 
PHI to be remeasured includes any unrecognized assets, liabilities and goodwill relating to the 
joint operation.

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements

The amendments to IFRS 11 clarify that when a party that participates in, but does not have joint 
control of, a joint operation that is a business obtains joint control of such a joint operation, the 
entity does not remeasure its PHI in the joint operation.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

3.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective (CONTINUED)

Effective date Standard, Amendment or Interpretation

Annual reporting 
periods beginning 
on or after 
1 January 2019

Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

The amendments clarify that the past service cost (or of the gain or loss on settlement) is 
calculated by measuring the defined benefit liability (asset) using updated assumptions and 
comparing benefits offered and plan assets before and after the plan amendment (or curtailment 
or settlement) but ignoring the effect of the asset ceiling (that may arise when the defined 
benefit plan is in a surplus position). IAS 19 is now clear that the change in the effect of the asset 
ceiling that may result from the plan amendment (or curtailment or settlement) is determined in 
a second step and is recognized in the normal manner in other comprehensive income.

The paragraphs that relate to measuring the current service cost and the net interest on the net 
defined benefit liability (asset) have also been amended. An entity will now be required to use 
the updated assumptions from this remeasurement to determine current service cost and net 
interest for the remainder of the reporting period after the change to the plan. In the case of the 
net interest, the amendments make it clear that for the period post plan amendment, the net 
interest is calculated by multiplying the net defined benefit liability (asset) as remeasured under 
IAS 19.99 with the discount rate used in the remeasurement (also taking into account the effect 
of contributions and benefit payments on the net defined benefit liability (asset)).

Annual periods 
beginning  
on or after  
1 January 2019

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 (amendments) Sale or Contribution of 
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 deal with situations where there is a sale or contribution 
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. Specifically, the amendments 
state that gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does not contain 
a business in a transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the 
equity method, are recognized in the parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated 
investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the 
remeasurement of investments retained in any former subsidiary (that has become an associate 
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method) to fair value are recognized in the 
former parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the new 
associate or joint venture.

Annual periods 
beginning  
on or after 
1 January 2019

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

IFRIC 23 sets out how to determine the accounting tax position when there is uncertainty over 
income tax treatments. The Interpretation requires an entity to:

• determine whether uncertain tax positions are assessed separately or as a group; and

• assess whether it is probable that a tax authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment used, or 
proposed to be used, by an entity in its income tax filings:

⎷  If yes, the entity should determine its accounting tax position consistently with the tax 
treatment used or planned to be used in its income tax filings.

⎷  If no, the entity should reflect the effect of uncertainty in determining its accounting tax 
position.

The Directors anticipate that other than IFRS 16, these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no 
significant impact on the financial statements of the Group.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Group and are consistent with those used in the 
previous  year.

a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company, its subsidiaries, namely 
First Capital Bank Plc (Malawi) (Ex-First Merchant Bank PLC (Malawi), First Capital Bank Zambia Limited and Afcarme 
Zimbabwe Holdings (Private) Limited (together referred to as ‘the Group’). 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date 
control is transferred to the Group.

i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee if it is exposed to, or, has rights 
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the investee. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Uniform accounting 
policies have been applied throughout the Group.

ii) Loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and 
any related Non-Controlling Interest and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised 
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated 
in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

iv) Interest in equity – accounted investees

The Group’s interests in equity-accounted investees are interests in associates. Associates are those entities in 
which the Group has significant influence, but not control over the financial and operating policies.

Interest in associates are accounted for using the equity method. They are recognised initially at fair value. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of profits or 
loss and other comprehensive income of equity investees, until the date on which significant influence ceases.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

b) Business combination
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business 
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets given, 
liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. 
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities, assumed are recognised at their fair value, 
except that:

• deferred tax or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and 
measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 respectively;

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non‑current Assets Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share 
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The 
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests 
are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those 
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period, or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to 
reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, 
would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

c) Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the group’s interest in the 
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity at the date of 
acquisition.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the group’s cash-generating units expected 
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are 
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less that the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the 
unit pro‑rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill 
is not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of a subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

d) Common control transactions
Common controlled transactions are recorded at book value. Any difference between cost and book value is taken 
directly to equity.

e) Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Malawi Kwacha at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the 
transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 
into Malawi Kwacha at the exchange rate (middle rate) at the date on which the fair value is determined. 

Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rate (middle rate) at the date of the transaction.

Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated into Malawi Kwacha using 
the exchange rate at that date. Foreign currency differences arising on translation are generally recognised in profit 
or loss. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

e) Foreign currency (CONTINUED)

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, 
are translated to US$ at exchange rates (mid-rate) ruling at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign 
operations are translated to US$ at average exchange rates during the year.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are recognised directly 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity in the translation reserve. When a foreign operation is 
disposed of in part or in full, the relevant amount in the translation reserve is transferred to profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains or losses arising from monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation, 
the settlement of which is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future and which in substance is considered 
to form a part of the net investment in the foreign operation are recognised directly in the foreign currency 
translation reserve. 

f) Financial assets and liabilities

i) Recognition and measurement 

The Group initially recognises loans, debt securities issued and subordinate receivables on the date on which 
they are originated. All other financial assets or financial liabilities are recognised on the trade date which is 
the date on which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A financial asset 
or liability is initially measured at fair value plus (for an item not classified at fair value through profit or loss) 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.

The difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion 
of the asset transferred) and the consideration received (including any new accounts obtained less any new 
liability assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

The adoption of IFRS 9 has resulted in changes in the Group’s accounting policies for recognition, classification 
and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities and impairment of financial assets. IFRS 9 also 
significantly amends other standards dealing with financial instruments such as IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures. The effect of adopting IFRS 9 is detailed in note 3.1.3.

ii) Classification 

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories:

• loans and receivables;

• held to maturity;

• available-for-sale; and

• at fair value through profit or loss, and within this category as:

 ο held for trading; or

 ο designated at fair value through profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

f) Financial assets and liabilities (CONTINUED)

ii) Classification (CONTINUED)

The following mapping table explain the previous measurement categories under IAS 39 and the new 
measurement categories under IFRS 9 for each class of the bank’s financial assets:

Financial Instrument
IAS 39 classification  
and measurement

IFRS 9 new classification 
and measurement

Loans and advances to 
customers

Loans and receivables (amortised cost) Financial assets at amortised cost

Placements with other banks 
(held for investment purposes)

Loans and receivables (amortised cost) Financial assets at amortised cost

Placements with other banks 
(held for liquidity purposes)

Investments (Amortised cost) Financial assets amortised cost

Investment securities (equity 
investments)

Held for trading (FVPL) Financial assets at FVPL

Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables (amortised cost) Financial assets at amortised cost

Other assets Loans and receivables (amortised cost) Financial assets at amortised cost

IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for classification and measurement of financial 
liabilities. However, it eliminates the previous IAS 39 categories for financial assets of held to maturity (HTM), 
loans and receivables and available for sale. The adoption of IFRS 9 has had no significant effect of the Group’s 
accounting policies related to financial liabilities and derivatives.

Under IFRS 9, on initial recognition, financial asset is measured at:

i. Amortised cost;

ii. Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) – debt investments;

iii. Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) – equity investments; or 

iv. Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL).

iii) Derecognition 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 
or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in 
transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability. 

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. 

The Group also derecognises certain assets when they are deemed to be uncollectible.

iv) Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are set off and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position 
when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to set off the amounts and intends either to settle on a net 
basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted by accounting standards.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

f) Financial assets and liabilities (CONTINUED)

v) Modification of loans and advances

The Group sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of loans and advances to 
customers. When this happens, the Group assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially different to 
the original terms. The Group does this by considering, among others, the following factors:

1. If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual cash flows 
to amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay.

2. Whether any substantial new terms are introduced, such as a profit share/equity-based return that 
substantially affects the risk profile of the loan.

3. Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty. 

4. Significant change in the interest rate.

5. Change in the currency the loan is denominated in.

The Group’s policy is that any Restructure of an account, even if not yet in Stage 3, where the obligor has 
not settled all arrears prior to the restructure, shall have the effect that the account shall be/continue to be 
classified as Stage 3 until a minimum applicable curing period provides confirmation that the account may be 
reclassified to Stage 2 in which a further minimum curing period shall apply prior to reclassification to Stage 1.

Restructured accounts are flagged and provided for at Stage 3 for at least a minimum period post restructure 
date subject to local regulations. If there is a Restructure, which does not result in a de-recognition (write off of 
the asset/creation of a new account), then the Group considers whether there is a modification gain or loss. The 
Group considers the new re-structured cash flow and discounts this back using the original effective interest 
rate and if that gives a higher carrying value than the Group currently holds, the Group will reflect this as a gain 
or if it gives a lower carrying value then as a loss.

The Group will write off the difference between the previous and the restructured carrying amount in the 
event of a lower carrying amount for the restructured credit facility.

vi) Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the 
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

vii) Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (‘ECL’) associated with its debt 
instrument assets, loans and advances carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising from 
loan commitments, bank balances and financial guarantee contracts. The Group recognises a loss allowance for 
such losses at each reporting date.

The increase or decrease in impairment at effective date of IFRS 9 adoption will be accounted for in the 
Statement of changes in equity under retained income. Subsequent increases or decreases in impairment will 
be recorded in the statement of comprehensive income. 

IFRS 9 outlines a three-stage model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition 
as summarised below:

Stage 1 – Financial instruments not credit impaired on initial recognition and with no SICR evident.

Stage 2 – If SICR is identified the asset is moved to stage 2.

Stage 3 – If the asset is credit impaired it is moved to stage 3.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

f) Financial assets and liabilities (CONTINUED)

viii) Expected Credit Loss measurement

• ECLs are measured on either a 12 month or Lifetime basis depending on whether a SICR has occurred 
since initial recognition or whether the asset is considered credit impaired. ECLs are a probability-weighted 
discounted product of PD, LGD and EAD. 

• Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash 
flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive).

• ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the portfolio.

• The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period (including 
extensions) over which the Bank is exposed to credit risk.

• The Group uses a combination of a portfolio-based approach and individual assessment to the calculation 
of ECLs.

⎷  Portfolio assessment is performed by way of the ECL Model to support the modelling of Probability of 
Default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD) and Exposure at default (EAD).

⎷  Individual assessment is performed on all customer loans and advances after having defined a minimum 
exposure threshold

Under IFRS 9, loss allowances are measured on either of the following bases:

i. 12 – month ECLs (Stage 1 – no significant increase in credit risk)

These are a portion of lifetime ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after 
the reporting date. These ECLs are measured on assets which are performing assets.

• Customer loans and advances which do not reflect any significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition.

• Debt securities, loans to banks and bank balances which are performing assets.

ii. Lifetime ECLs (Stage 2 – significant increase in credit risk)

These are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. 
These ECLs are measured on assets with a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

• Customer loans and advances with regulatory asset classification of Special Mention (Rebuttable 
presumption basis of 30 to 89 days past due) or with a significant increase in credit risk (as demonstrated 
in terms of the Bank’s early warning risk monitoring process) 

• Debt securities, loans to banks and bank balances which are past due.

iii. Lifetime ECLs (Stage 3 – default)

These ECLs are measured on all credit impaired/in default credit exposures.

• Customer loans and advances with regulatory asset classification Substandard, Doubtful, Loss 
(Rebuttable presumption basis of more than 89 days past due) or with a significant increase in credit 
risk (as demonstrated in terms of the Bank’s early warning risk monitoring process) justifying credit 
impairment.

• Debt securities, loans to banks, bank balances in default.

For Stage 3 assets, interest income continues to be recognised at the original effective interest rate 
on the restated carrying amount, representing the unwind of the discount of the expected cash flows, 
including the principal due on non-accrual loans.

Uncollectable loans are written off against the related allowance for loan impairment on completion of 
the Bank’s internal processes and all recoverable amounts have been collected. 

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to the profit or loss component of 
the statement of other comprehensive income.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

f) Financial assets and liabilities (CONTINUED)

(ix) Benchmarking ECL

Corporate

Due to lack of sufficient historical information on customer portfolio defaults from which PDs and LGDs are 
derived, a judgmental benchmarking is used on customer assets exceeding internal size benchmarks in parallel 
to the customer model output. The higher of benchmarking ECL and the model output is considered as the 
final ECL.

Low risk Financial Instruments

ECL for low risk financial instruments is based on benchmarked PDs and LGDs due to lack of historical data.

Retail

ECL for retail exposures are totally based on model output with no benchmarking comparative since enough 
historical default data was available when designing the calculation model.

(x) De-recognition of financial instruments

Full de-recognition only occurs when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have been discharged, 
cancelled or have expired, or the Group transfers both its contractual right to receive cash flows from the 
financial assets (or retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows, but assumes a contractual obligation 
to pay the cash flows to another party without material delay or reinvestment) and substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership, including credit risk, prepayment risk and interest rate risk. When an asset is transferred, 
in some circumstances, the Group may retain an interest in it (continuing involvement) requiring the Group to 
repurchase it in certain circumstances for other than its fair value on that date.

On write-offs the Group’s policy provides that an asset should be written off is there is no near-term realistic 
chance of recovery once collateral has been recovered. Recoveries are actively pursued but write-off of an 
account shall also not be unduly delayed. An asset shall not be written of earlier than:

• Unsecured – 6 months after default

• Secured – 18 months after default.

(xi) De-recognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same party on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified (taking into account both quantitative and 
qualitative factors), such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and 
the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the 
profit or loss component of the statement of comprehensive income. Where the terms of an existing liability 
are not substantially modified, the liability is not derecognised. Costs incurred on such transactions are treated 
as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term of the 
modified liability.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

g) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash 
equivalents are measured at amortised cost in the statement of financial position. 

h) Other assets
Other financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment losses. 
Other non-financial assets are measured at cost less impairment losses, if any. Other assets comprise prepayments, 
cheques in the course of collection, dividends receivable, stocks of consumable stationery and computer spares and 
other receivables.

i) Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market and that the Group does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term.

The Group classifies its loans and advances to customers as loans and receivables. When the Group purchases a 
financial asset and simultaneously enters into an agreement to resell the asset (or a substantially similar asset) at a 
fixed price on a future date (“reverse repo or stock borrowing”), the arrangement is accounted for as a loan to the 
other party, and the underlying asset is not recognised in the Group’s financial statements. Loans and advances are 
subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

j) Investment securities
Investment securities are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, for investments 
not at fair value through profit and loss. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment securities are accounted for 
depending on their classification as either fair value through Other Comprehensive Income or fair value through profit 
or loss.

k) Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are recognised at cost in the separate financial statements less any impairment losses. The 
investments are fully eliminated on consolidation.

l) Investments in associates
Investments in associates are recognised at fair value in the separate financial statements.

m) Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Subsequent expenditure on intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits 
embodied in the specific asset it relates to. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred. Amortisation is recognised 
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives from the date that the asset is available for use. 
The effects of any changes in estimates are accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets are amortised over 
periods up to five years. Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date 
and adjusted if appropriate. The effects of any changes in estimates are accounted for on a prospective basis.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

n) Property and equipment

i) Recognition and measurement 

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses except for freehold property and leasehold improvements which are measured at revalued 
amount less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses as described in accounting policy 4(o).

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed 
assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the 
assets to a working condition for their intended use and qualifying borrowing costs. Purchased software that is 
integral to the functionality of related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. 

Where an item of property and equipment comprises of major components having different useful lives, they 
are accounted for as separate items of property and equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds 
from disposal with the carrying amount of property and equipment and are recognised net within other 
operating income in profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in the revaluation 
reserve are transferred to retained earnings. 

ii) Revaluation

Freehold properties and leasehold improvements are subject to revaluation with sufficient regularity to ensure 
that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the fair value. Revaluation surpluses are recognised 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity in a non-distributable property revaluation reserve. 
A revaluation surplus will be recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of 
the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss.

The revaluation surplus included in equity in respect of property, plant and equipment is transferred directly to 
retained earnings when the asset is sold or disposed.

iii) Subsequent Costs

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that future economic benefits of the expenditure 
will flow to the Group. Ongoing repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

iv) Depreciation

Property and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis at rates that would reduce carrying amounts 
to their residual values, estimated at the date of purchase, over the initially anticipated useful lives of the 
assets. The Group re-assesses the useful lives, the depreciation method and the residual values of the assets 
at each reporting date. Any changes in the useful lives, depreciation method or estimated residual values are 
accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting policies 
changes in accounting estimates and errors.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss. The depreciation rates for the current and comparative period are:

• Leasehold properties 2.5% (or period of lease if shorter)

• Freehold properties 2.5% 

• Motor vehicles  25%

• Equipment, fixture and fittings 20% 

v) Capital work in progress

Capital work in progress represent gross amount spent to date in carrying out work of a capital nature. It is 
measured at cost recognised to date. Capital work in progress is presented as part of property and equipment 
in the statement of financial position. If the project is completed the expenditure is capitalised to the relevant 
items of property and equipment. Capital work in progress is not depreciated.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

o) Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable 
amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are 
independent from other assets and groups of assets. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating 
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the 
carrying amount of the other assets in the units on a pro rata basis. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs 
to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss 
has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised. 

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss unless it concerns property carried at revalued amount in which 
case it is treated as a revaluation decrease. If the impairment loss exceeds the revaluation reserve in respect of the 
impaired asset, the excess is recognised in profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss, 
unless it relates to property carried at revalued amounts, in which case the excess of the reversal over the amount 
recognised in profit or loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 

p) Customer deposits and balances due to other banks
When the Group sells a financial asset and simultaneously enters into a “repo” or “stock lending” agreement to 
repurchase the asset (or a similar asset) at a fixed price on a future date, the arrangement is accounted for as a 
deposit, and the underlying asset continues to be recognised in the Group’s financial statements.

Deposits are initially measured at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, and subsequently measured at 
their amortised cost using the effective interest method, except where the Group chooses to account for the financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 

q) Other liabilities and subordinated debt
Other payables and subordinated liabilities are initially measured at fair value minus incremental direct transaction 
costs and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest method, except where the 
Group designates liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

r) Share capital 
Share issue costs

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of an equity instrument are deducted from the initial measurement 
of the equity instruments.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

s) Employee benefits

i) Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the 
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash 
bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a 
result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

ii) Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for 
contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss 
in the periods during which related services are rendered by employees. Prepaid contributions are recognised 
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available. Contributions to a 
defined contribution plan that are due more than 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees 
render the service are discounted to their present value.

t) Net interest income
Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of 
the financial asset or liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset 
or liability. 

The effective interest method requires the Group to estimate future cash flows, in some cases based on its experience 
of customers’ behaviour, considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, as well as the expected lives 
of the assets and liabilities. Due to the large number of products and types (both assets and liabilities), there are no 
individual estimates that are material to the results or financial position. 

Income from finance leasing is included in net interest income as further described in accounting policy subsection (u).

u) Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

i) Finance lease – The Group as a lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net 
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods to reflect a constant periodic 
rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

ii) Operating leases – The Group as a lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also 
spread on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

v) Fees and commission income
The Group applies IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which replaced IAS 18 Revenue and IFRIC 12 
Customer Loyalty Programs. 

IFRS 15 contains a single model that establishes a five-step approach to revenue recognition:

⎷ Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer;

⎷ Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

⎷ Step 3: Determine the transaction price

⎷ Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

⎷ Step 5: Recognise Revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is transferred to the customer. The 
adoption of IFRS 15 did not impact the Group’s results. Fees and commissions charged for services provided by the 
Group are recognised as the services are provided, for example on completion of an underlying transaction. 

w) Income from investments 
Income from investments includes dividend income and increase in fair value of investments in listed companies.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive income is established. Usually this is the ex-dividend date for 
held for trading securities. 

Increase in fair value of investments designated at fair value through profit or loss includes all realised and unrealised 
fair value changes. 

x) Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss except 
to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income or equity, in which case it is 
recognised in other comprehensive income or equity. 

i) Current tax

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

ii) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is not recognised for:

• temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

• temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities to 
the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is 
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

• taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

x) Income tax (CONTINUED)

ii) Deferred tax (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can 
be used. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that it 
has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they 
reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the 
Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. For 
this purpose, the carrying amount of investment property measured at fair value is presumed to be recovered 
through sale, and the Group has not rebutted this presumption.

Additional taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends by the Bank are recognised at the same time 
as the liability to pay the related dividend is recognised. These amounts are generally recognised in profit or 
loss because they generally relate to income arising from transactions that were originally recognised in profit 
or loss.

y) Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by 
dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable 
to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding after adjusting for the 
effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

z) Provision
A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as 
a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefit will be required to settle the obligation. 
If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and where appropriate, the risks specific to 
the liability.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

aa) Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous 
market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that 
instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency 
and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of 
relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates 
all of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction price i.e. 
the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines that the fair value at initial recognition 
differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an 
identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, then the 
financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value at initial 
recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate 
basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market 
data or the transaction is closed out.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group measures assets and long 
positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.

Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to market risk and credit risk that are managed 
by the Group on the basis of the net exposure to either market or credit risk are measured on the basis of a price that 
would be received to sell a net long position (or paid to transfer a net short position) for a particular risk exposure. 
Those portfolio-level adjustments are allocated to the individual assets and liabilities on the basis of the relative risk 
adjustment of each of the individual instruments in the portfolio.

The fair value of a demand deposit is not less than the amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date on 
which the amount could be required to be paid.

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during 
which the change has occurred.

The analysis of fair value hierarchy for financial assets and liabilities is disclosed in Note 6 to these consolidated and 
separate financial statements.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

ab) Derivative financial instruments
A derivative is a financial instrument whose value changes in response to an underlying variable, requires no initial net 
investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other types of contracts that would 
be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors and is settled at a future date. 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which the derivatives are entered into and subsequently 
remeasured at fair value. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative 
is effective and designated as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss 
depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Derivative embedded in non-derivative host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and 
characteristics are not related to those of the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

Offsetting

In accordance with IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation, the Group reports financial assets and financial liabilities 
on a net basis on the statement of financial position only if there is a current legally enforceable right to set off 
the recognised amounts and there is intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

ac) Financial guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit
Financial guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit are accounted for as off-statement of financial position 
transactions and disclosed as contingent liabilities, unless it is probable that the Group will be required to make 
payments under these instruments, in which case they are recognised as provisions.

ad) Amounts due from related parties
These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

ae) Assets held for sale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale their carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Such assets are measured at the lower of carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

An impairment loss is recognized for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value 
less costs to sell, to the extent that it has not been recognized previously in any remeasurement. A gain is recognized 
for any subsequent increase in fair value less costs to sell of the asset, but not in excess of the cumulative impairment 
loss that has been recognized previously on the asset.

Such assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortized.
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT 
The Group is faced with a variety of risks including credit, liquidity, interest rate, foreign exchange, price, operational, 
compliance/regulatory, reputation, strategic risks and others. The Group is committed to effectively managing these risks 
with a view to achieving a balance between acceptable exposure and reward.

The Board and senior management actively oversee the risk management process and implement adequate policies, 
procedures, comprehensive internal controls and limits that are set to mitigate risks. The Group has a risk manage-
ment framework which covers risk identification, risk measurement, risk monitoring and risk control in respect of the 
significant risks.

The Board of each Group companies has a risk committee which meets regularly and gets reports from the Risk and 
Compliance function on risk assessment and levels of risks that the Bank is facing. Stress testing is done quarterly, and the 
results are discussed with the Risk Committee.

a) Credit Risk

i) Credit Risk Management

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss should the Group companies’ customers, clients or market counterparties 
fail to fulfil their contractual obligations to the Group companies. The Group companies actively seek to 
originate and manage credit risk in such a way as to achieve sustainable asset growth and risk adjusted returns 
in line with board-approved risk parameters. The credit risk that the Group companies face arises mainly from 
corporate loans and advances and counterparties credit risk arising from derivative contracts entered into with 
our clients. Other sources of credit risk arise from treasury bills, government bonds, settlement balances with 
counterparties and bank balances with Central Bank and other related banks. 

Credit risk management objectives are:

• Supporting the achievement of sustainable asset and revenue growth in line with our risk parameters

• Operating sound credit granting processes and monitoring credit risk using appropriate models to assist 
decision making

• Ensure credit risk taking is based on sound credit risk management principles and controls

• Continually improving collection and recovery.

ii) Risk limit and mitigation policies

The Group companies use a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. These include credit scoring, 
marking limits against counter parties and monitoring cashflows and utilisation against limits, covenants and 
collateral.

Principal collateral types used for loans and advances are:

• Mortgages over residential and commercial properties;

• Charges over business assets such as inventory and accounts receivable, moveable assets and guarantees, 
and

• Cash cover.

The Legal and Credit departments are responsible for conducting sufficient legal review to confirm that the 
approved collateral is legally effective. The ratio of value of loan to value of security is assessed on grant date 
and continuously monitored.
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

a) Credit Risk (CONTINUED)

iii) Credit risk grading

Customer Loans and Advances

Application:

The Group companies use external rating where available from ratings agencies, alternatively an internal 
application credit risk scoring tool that reflects its assessment of the PD of individual counterparties. Borrower 
and loan and advances specific information collected at the time of application (such as borrower profile, 
business activity, financial, account conduct, facility type, tenor and collateral) is fed into this rating tool. This is 
supplemented with external data such as credit bureau scoring information. The tool enables expert judgement 
to be fed into the final internal credit rating for each exposure. This allows for considerations which may not be 
captured as part of the other data inputs into the model.

Originators and underwriters will incorporate any updated or new information/credit assessments into the 
credit system on an ongoing basis. In addition, the Group companies officials will also update information about 
the creditworthiness of the borrower every year from sources such as financial statements, bank statements, 
credit bureau information and market feedback. This will determine the updated internal credit rating. 

Behavioural:

Payment and other behavioural aspects of the borrower are monitored on an ongoing basis in conjunction 
with collateral values and event driven factors to develop an internal behavioural credit rating. Exposures 
are monitored by grading customers in an early warning/ongoing monitoring list in order to identify those 
customers who are believed to be facing a Significant Increase in Credit Risk (SICR). Customers are categorised 
into Risk Categories 0 – 3. Those in 0 and 1 display no or temporary business as usual situations and the risk of 
default is low. Category 2 implies there are some doubts that the borrower will meet its obligations but the 
risk of default is medium. Category 3 implies that there are strong doubts that the customer will meets its 
obligations and the risk of default is high or has occurred.

These ratings are reflected on the following scale using days past due as well as other criteria which are indicative 
of the severity of a SICR. These categories are in turn further sub-categorised in order to better measure any 
SICR. The Group companies have mapped these sub-categories to the 22 rating categories employed by S&P 
with a view to using the Corporate PDs published by S&P as a representation:

Category 0 (sub categories 1 – 3c): 0 to 5 days past due

Category 1 (sub categories 4a – 5c): 6 to 29 days past due 

Category 2 (sub categories 6a – 7c): 30 days to 89 days past due 

Category 3 (sub categories 8 – 10): 90 days+ past due (Default)
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

a) Credit Risk (CONTINUED)

iv) Expected Credit Losses measurement (ECLs)

IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition 
as summarised below:

• A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in Stage 1 and has its credit 
risk continuously monitored by the Group companies.

• If a SICR since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved to Stage 2 but is not yet 
deemed to be credit-impaired. Please refer to note below for a description of how the Group companies 
determine when a significant increase in credit risk has occurred.

• If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to ‘Stage 3’. Please refer 
to life time ECLs – default below for a description of how the Group companies define credit-impaired and 
default.

The Expected Credit Loss (ECL) is measured on either a 12-month (12M) or Lifetime basis depending on 
whether a SICR has occurred since initial recognition or whether an asset is considered to be credit impaired. 
ECLs are the discounted product of the Probability of Default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD) and Exposure at 
Default (EAD).

The Probability of Default (PD) is the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (as per 
“Definition of default and credit-impaired” below), either over the next 12 months (12M PD), or over the 
remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation. PDs are modelled using historic data into 12M PD and 
Lifetime PDs. Where data is not available proxies which resemble the risk of default characteristics of the 
exposure are used. The PDs are determined individually or below threshold at portfolio level (below internal 
thresholds for customer exposures) and segmented into various categories using tenure, currency, product or 
low risk classification.

PDs modelled using historical data may then be adjusted for forward looking factors. PDs are mapped into 
regulatory grades as follows:

i) Customer loans and advances

Stage 1 12 Month PD Central bank classification Pass/internal category 0 and 1

Stage 2 Life Time PD Central Bank classification Standard/internal category 2

Stage 3 Default PD Central bank classification, Substandard, Doubtful, Loss/internal category 3

ii) Low risk financial instruments

For debt securities in the Treasury portfolio and interbank exposures, performance of the counterparty is 
monitored for any indication of default. PDs for such exposures are determined based on benchmarked 
sovereign ratings mapped to external credit rating agencies grade. Where there are external credit ratings 
PDs are derived using those external credit ratings.

The Exposure At Default (EAD) is the amount the Group companies expect to be owed at the time of 
default. For a customer revolving commitment, the EAD includes the current drawn balance plus any 
undrawn amount at the time of default, should it occur. For term loans EAD is the drawn balance. For low 
risk financial instruments EAD is the current balance sheet exposure.

The Loss Given Default (LGD) represents the Group companies’ expectation of the extent of loss on a 
defaulted exposure. LGD varies by type of counterparty, type and seniority of claim and availability of 
collateral or other credit support. 
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

a) Credit Risk (CONTINUED)

iv) Expected Credit Losses measurement (ECLs) (CONTINUED)

LGD is expressed as a percentage loss per unit of exposure at the time of default (EAD). LGD1 is calculated on 
a discounted lifetime basis for accounts in Stages 1 and 2 where LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be 
made if the default occurs. LGD2 is individually determined or modelled based on historical data. LGD for low 
risk financial instruments exposure is based on observed recovery rates and:

• Basel II & III Guidelines: the treatment of sovereign exposures in the banking book 

• Basel II Guidelines: applied under foundation IRB and observed in the Committee’s study on Banks 

• Internal benchmark on Securities & Derivatives engaged with corporate counterparties.

i. 12 month ECLs; (Stage 1 – no increase in credit risk)

ECLs measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime ECLs that result from default events 
possible within the next 12 months. The 12 month ECL is calculated for the following exposures:

• Customer loans and advances with central bank classification Pass, days past due 0 to 29 (Internal 
monitoring categories 0 and 1)

• Low risk financial instruments which are not past due

• These are a product of 12 months PD, LGD1 and EAD.

ii. Life time ECLs (Stage 2 – SICR)

ECLs are measured based on ECLs on a lifetime basis. It is measured for the following exposures:

• Customer loans and advances with central bank classification Standard, days past due 30 to 89 (Internal 
monitoring category 2)

• Low risk financial instruments where the credit risk has significantly increased since initial recognition

• These are a product of lifetime PD, LGD1 and EAD.

iii. Life time ECLs (Stage 3 – default)

ECLs are measured based on ECLs on a lifetime basis. This is measured on the following exposures:

• All credit impaired or in default customer loans and advances and low risk financial instruments in 
default.

• These are customers with central bank classification Substandard, Doubtful (internal monitoring 
category 3)

• Exposures which are 90 days+ past due

• These are a product of default PD, LGD2 and EAD.

 Benchmarking ECL

Portfolio assessment is performed by way of a collective assessment semi-empirical IFRS 9 model (the ECL 
Model) developed in consultation with external consultants supported by available historic information to 
support the modelling of PD, LGD and EAD.

Individual assessment is performed on all customer loans and advances after having defined a minimum 
exposure threshold. 

The Group companies elected to use a country rating by sovereign debt approach, which forms the basis of 
calculating the PD’s of all financials assets within scope of IFRS 9 guidelines. The sovereign debt PD is adjusted 
by individual corporate PD rates based on external rating provider S&P’s information.
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

a) Credit Risk (CONTINUED)

iv) Expected Credit Losses measurement (ECLs) (CONTINUED)

LGD’s of individually assessed customer loans and advances, have been determined in terms of:

• Stages 1 and 2: An internal benchmark applied to a net exposure after application of future realisable cash 
flows, predominantly collateral held

• Stage 3: Net exposure after application of future realisable cashflows, predominantly collateral held.

LGD’s on various financial assets/low risk financial instruments, with the exception of customer loans and 
advances, have been determined in terms of: 

• Basel II & III Guidelines: the treatment of sovereign exposures in the banking book 

• Basel II Guidelines: applied under foundation IRB and observed in the Committee’s study on Banks 

• Internal benchmark on Securities & Derivatives engaged with corporate counterparties. 

EAD is determined as below: 

• For customer loans and advances: Outstanding exposures plus undrawn limits

• For other financial assets/low risk financial instruments: Outstanding exposures.

v) Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition 
and when estimating ECLs, the Group companies consider reasonable and supportable information that is 
relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information 
and analysis, based on the Group companies’ historical experience and informed credit assessment and 
including forward-looking information.

The use of the Rebuttable Presumption of significant increase in risk means that an account is categorized 
as Stage 2 when the DPD is >30 days and <90 days. In addition to the Rebuttable Presumption the Group 
companies will also consider the output of its multi factor early warning/risk monitoring analysis as a qualitative 
measure, which include but are not limited to:

• Significant adverse changes in regulatory, business, financial or economic conditions in which the borrower 
operates in

• Actual or expected restructuring of debt

• Early signs of cash-flow/liquidity problems such as delay in servicing debt

• Significant decline in account turnover

• Breach or anticipation of breach of significant debt covenants

• Significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting the facility

• Significant change in the quality of the guarantee or financial support provided by the shareholder.

The assessment of SICR incorporates forward looking information and is performed on a monthly basis at a 
portfolio level below internal thresholds. Customer loans and advances exceeding internal thresholds and low 
risk financial instrument exposures are assessed on a monthly and quarterly basis by the Credit department, 
Bank management and the Loans Review Committee.



 Abridged Annual Report        2018 FMBcapital Holdings plc 65

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

 June 28, 2019 7:24 AM FMBCH_AFS

5. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

a) Credit Risk (CONTINUED)

vi) Default

The Group companies considers a financial asset to be in default when:

Based on the Rebuttable Presumption a customer loan and/or advance is categorized as Substandard/Doubtful/
Loss on the central bank asset classification when the days past due (DPD) is 90 days or more.

In addition to the Rebuttable Presumption the Group companies will also consider the output of its multi 
factor risk analysis using internal risk monitoring as a qualitative measure. Qualitative examples of a significant 
increase in risk include but are not limited to:

• The borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Bank in full, without recourse by the Bank to 
action such as realising security (if any is held);

• The borrower commits an act of insolvency;

• The borrower’s financial statements are qualified as to going concern; and/or

• The borrower or its Executive commit an act of fraud.

vii) Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL model

The Group companies subscribe to a forward looking view informed by the identification and use of economic 
factors which demonstrate a strong correlation with default experience. The ECL model allows the Group 
companies to develop potential future scenarios, attach probabilities thereto and to incorporate this into the 
calculation of ECL.

However, in the absence of strongly correlating factors, allowance is also made for the use of Management’s 
expert view in a holistic manner; implemented by way of adjustment of the PD/LGD/EAD levers built into the 
ECL model for this purpose.

The Group companies considered the composition of its customer loans and advances portfolio, limited number 
of defaults experienced and the unique causes of defaults in concluding that defaults did not strongly correlate 
to specific macroeconomic factors.

The Group companies have thus developed an alternative methodology which allows the direct amendment 
of  key ECL Model inputs, the probability of occurrence of these events, and their impact on the provision 
model outputs.

viii) Write-offs

The Group companies’ policy provides that an asset should be written off if there is no near term realistic 
chance of recovery once collateral has been recovered. Recoveries are actively pursued but write-off of an 
account shall also not be unduly delayed. An asset shall not be written off earlier than: 

• Unsecured – 6 months after Default

• Secured – 18 months after Default.

However, final or earlier write-off shall remain at the discretion of Management and the board.

ix) ECL Model governance

The ECL Models used for PD, EAD and LGD calculations are governed on a day to day basis through the 
Management Credit Committee comprising of senior managers in risk, finance and the business. Decisions 
and key judgements made by the Committee relating to the impairments and model overrides will be taken 
to Board Risk, Board Loans Review and Board Audit Committee as appropriate. Credit risk processes from 
origination to monitoring and other operational processes around impairments now take into cognisance 
IFRS 9 requirements.
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

a) Credit Risk (CONTINUED)

x) Disclosures on credit risk

The Group’s exposure to credit risk principally comprises of loans and advances to customers, finance lease 
receivables and money market investments. As at 31 December 2018, these were as follows:

Consolidated Separate

31 December 2018
US$

ECL
Stage

Loans and
 advances

Investments
in finance

 leases

Money
Market

 investments

Money
Market

 investments

Carrying amount 359 147 633  2 228 832 226 424 936 626 739

Standard (fully performing) 1 340 695 671  778 956 226 424 936 626 739

Past due but not impaired 2 11 468 123  790 174  –  – 

Impaired 3 16 103 004  1 293 992  –  – 

Gross exposure 368 266 798  2 863 122 226 424 936 626 739

Consolidated

31 December 2017
US$

Loans and
advances to

customers

Finance
lease

receivables

Money
market

investments

Carrying amount  350 516 403 5 288 322 161 819 258

Standard (fully performing) 328 782 718 4 124 994 161 819 258

Past due but not impaired 16 769 102 651 133 –

Impaired  17 746 712 1 247 037  – 

Gross receivable  363 298 532 6 023 164  161 819 258

Past due but not impaired assets
30 – 60 days 8 976 080 525 028 –

61 – 90 days  7 793 022 126 105  – 

 16 769 102 651 133

An estimate of the fair value of 
collateral held
Against individually impaired

Property 27 600 884 693 059 –

Others *  335 099  578 986  – 

 27 935 983 1 272 045  – 

Against past due but not impaired

Property 31 120 941 400 443 –

Others *  3 905 585 487 867  – 

 35 026 526 888 310  – 

* Other collateral held includes moveable assets, receivables and share certificates pledged. The Group’s policy is to pursue the 
timely realisation of the collateral in an orderly manner. The Group does not use any non‑cash collateral for its own operations.
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

a) Credit Risk (CONTINUED)

xi) Disclosures on credit risk

Banks in the Group have internal rating scale which is mapped into Basel II grading system. The internal rating in 
broadly classified into Standard (Performing), Past due but not impaired, Non performing (impaired).

 A. Performing Loans 

These are loans and securities for which are neither past due nor impaired and which are not part of 
restructured loans.

 B. Past due but not impaired loans

These are loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but the Group 
believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security/collateral available and/or 
the stage of collection of amounts owed to the Group.

 C. Impaired loans and securities

These are loans and securities for which the Group has determined that there is probability that it will be 
unable to collect all principal and/or interest due according to the contractual terms of the loan/securities 
agreements.

 D. Distribution of Credit Exposure by Sector

The Group monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector. Economic sector risk concentrations within the 
customer loan and finance lease portfolio at 31 December were as follows:

Consolidated

US$ 2018 2017

Agriculture 44 892 572  29 654 504 

Mining 3 771 448  1 425 497 

Financial Services 91 873 600  26 184 540 

Construction 21 896 858  20 469 140 

Energy/Electricity/Gas/Water 3 530 598 8 153 236

Manufacturing 40 577 938  43 868 447 

Wholesale and Retail 61 285 427  51 837 374 

Individual/Households 65 538 327  91 585 782 

Real Estate 1 625 642  28 652 213 

Tourism & Leisure 3 257 660  17 907 039 

Transport & Communication 17 688 212 12 166 836

Others 15 191 639  15 146 420

371 129 921  369 321 696

Split into:

Loans and advances (Note 9) 368 266 798 363 298 532

Finance leases (Note 10) 2 863 123  6 023 164

371 129 921  369 321 696
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

k) Credit Risk (CONTINUED)

xi) Disclosures on credit risk (CONTINUED)

 E. Credit quality per class of financial assets

The table below shows maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account any collateral. The 
maximum exposure is presented gross, before effect of mitigation through the use of master netting and 
collateral agreements.

 Consolidated Separate

US$ 2018 2017 2018 2017

Gross maximum exposure

Balances with central banks 7 61 321 889 276 209 019 – –

Balances with other banks 7 147 085 622 187 662 512 6 773 806 44 257

Money market investments 8 226 424 936 161 819 258 626 739 –

Cheques in the course of 
clearing 7 1 746 023 255 716 – –

Repurchase agreements 11 29 969 134 34 789 390 – –

Finance lease receivables 10 2 228 832 5 288 322 – –

Loans and advances to 
customers 9 359 147 633  350 516 403  –  – 

Total recognised financial 
assets 827 924 070 1 016 540 620 7 400 545  44 257

Letters of credit 94 617 788 18 087 873 – –

Financial guarantees 57 420 571 73 114 718  –  – 

Total unrecognised financial 
assets 152 038 359 91 202 591  –  – 

Total credit risk exposure 979 962 429 1 107 743 211 7 400 545  44 257
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

b)  Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate gap analysis 

The tables below summarises the exposure to interest rate risk as at 31 December. Included in the tables are the 
Group’s assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates. 
The Group does not bear an interest rate risk on unrecognised financial instruments.
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

b)  Interest Rate Risk (CONTINUED)

The effective interest rates for the principal financial assets and liabilities at 31 December were:

% 2018 2017 

Assets
Government securities 1 – 19.5 1 – 26

Deposits with banking institutions 1 – 15 1 – 17

Loans and advances to customers (base rate) 6.5 – 23 6.5 – 25

Liabilities
Customer deposits 0.15 – 10 0.15 – 14

Equity Risk

The value of investments at fair value through Profit or loss as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

US$  2018 2017

Fair value of investments at fair value through profit or loss 7 665 487  7 184 758 

Net increase/(decrease) in fair value during the year 1 403 633  2 801 189 

Impact on profit of:

increase of share price by 10% 766 549  718 476 

decrease of share price by 10% (766 549)  (718 476)
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

c)  Liquidity Risk
The maturity gap analysis as at 31 December 2018 is given below:
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

c)  Liquidity Risk (CONTINUED)

The maturity gap analysis as at 31 December 2017 is given below:
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

d)  Foreign exchange risk (CONTINUED)

Foreign exchange exposures were as follows:
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6. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Fair value of financial instruments not held at fair value
The disclosed fair value of these financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost approximate their carrying value 
because of their short-term nature except for loans, advances and leases which are at variable interest rates.

Consolidated

US$ Note

Financial
assets at

FVTPL

Financial
assets at

amortised
cost

Financial
assets at

FVOCI

Financial
liabilities at

amortised
cost

Carrying
Value

Fair
Value

31 December 2018
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 – 242 823 101 – – 242 823 101 242 823 101

Money market investments 8 – 226 424 936 – – 226 424 936 226 424 936

Loans and advances to customers 9 – 359 147 633 – – 359 147 633 359 147 633

Finance lease receivables 10 – 2 228 832 – – 2 228 832 2 228 832

Repurchase agreements 11 – – 29 969 134 – 29 969 134 29 969 134

Financial assets at FVOCI 41 – 1 793 644 – – 1 793 644 1 793 644

Other assets 19 – 10 825 578 – – 10 825 578 10 825 578

Investments at fair value 
through profit or loss 13 7 665 487  –  –  – 7 665 487 7 665 487

7 665 487 843 243 724 29 969 134  – 880 878 345 880 878 345

Financial liabilities
Balances due to other banks 20 – – – 47 735 602 47 735 602 47 735 602

Customer deposits 21 – – – 720 825 817 720 825 817 720 825 817

Other payables 22 – – – 27 825 897 27 825 897 27 825 897

Subordinated debt 23 – – – 16 859 518 16 859 518 16 859 518

Loans payable 39 – – – 6 500 000 6 500 000 6 500 000

Redeemable preference shares 40  –  –  –  10 786 747  10 786 747  10 786 747

 –  –  – 830 533 581 830 533 581 830 533 581

31 December 2017

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 – 499 167 446 – – 499 167 446 499 167 446

Money market investments 8 – 161 819 258 – – 161 819 258 161 819 258

Loans and advances to customers 9 – 350 516 403 – – 350 516 403 350 516 403

Finance lease receivables 10 – 5 288 322 – – 5 288 322 5 288 322

Repurchase agreements 11 – 34 789 390 – – 34 789 390 34 789 390

Financial assets at FVOCI 41 – – 4 254 012 – 4 254 012 4 254 012

Other assets 19 – 16 116 501 – – 16 116 501 16 116 501

Investments at fair value 
through profit or loss 13  7 184 758  –  –  – 7 184 758 7 184 758

7 184 758 1 067 697 320 4 254 012  – 1 079 136 090 1 079 136 090

Financial liabilities
Balances due to other banks 20 – – – 63 787 552 63 787 552 63 787 552

Customer deposits 21 – – – 874 615 899 874 615 899 874 615 899

Other payables 22 – – – 37 788 043 37 788 043 37 788 043

Subordinated debt 23  –  –  –  14 224 307 14 224 307 14 224 307

Loans payable 39 – – – 6 500 000 6 500 000 6 500 000

Redeemable preference shares 40  –  –  – 10 786 747 10 786 747 10 786 747

 –  –  –  1 007 702 548 1 007 702 548 1 007 702 548
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6. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Fair values of financial instruments
The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in 
making the measurements.

Level 1: Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments.

Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly (i.e. as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active 
markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered 
less than active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable 
from market data.

Level 3:  Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the valuation technique includes 
inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s 
valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments 
for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the 
instruments.

Consolidated and separate

2018 2017

US$ Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial asset
Investment at fair 
value through profit 
and loss 7 665 487  –  – 7 184 758  –  – 

Valuation for investments at fair value through profit or loss is done using quoted prices by the Malawi Stock Exchange.

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison with similar instruments for 
which observable market prices exist, and other valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation techniques 
include risk-free and benchmark interest rates and credit spreads used in estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices, 
and foreign currency exchange rates.

The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price that would be received 
to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measure-
ment date.

The Group uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the fair value of common and simple financial 
instruments, such as interest rate and currency swaps that use only observable market data and require little management 
judgement and estimation. Observable prices or model inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and equity 
securities, and exchange-traded derivatives. Availability of observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need 
for management judgement and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated with determining fair values. 
Availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets and is prone to changes 
based on specific events and general conditions in the financial markets.

The Group does not provide fair value disclosure for financial instruments not measured at fair value, when the carrying 
amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value and for an investment in equity instruments that do not have a quoted 
price in an active market for an identical instrument.
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7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
   Consolidated Separate

US$ 2018 2017 2018 2017

Deposits with central banks 61 321 889  276 209 019  –  – 

Balances held with correspondent banks 57 976 057  61 672 008  –  – 

Placements with other banks 89 109 565  125 990 504 6 773 806  44 257 

Cheques in course of clearing 1 746 023  255 716  –  – 

Cash balances 32 678 969  35 040 199  –  – 

Cash and bank balances 242 832 503  499 167 446 6 773 806  44 257 

Less: Expected Credit loss (9 402)  –  – 

Net cash and bank balances 242 823 101  499 167 446 6 773 806  44 257 

Amounts deposited with Central Banks for liquidity reserve requirement are not available for the Group’s operating 
activities and do not attract interest. Other cash and cash equivalents with other banks earn interest between 1 – 19.5% 
(2017: 1 – 26%).

8. MONEY MARKET INVESTMENTS
   Consolidated Separate

US$ 2018 2017 2018 2017

Treasury Bills 92 326 870 94 231 641  626 739

Malawi Government Promissory Notes 36 960 892 46 024 521  – 

Corporate Bonds 18 942 441 15 933 150 –

Local Registered Government Stocks 78 683 820  5 629 946  – 

Total before expected credit losses 226 914 023 161 819 258 626 739
Impairment allowance (489 087)  –  –

Total carrying amount at year end 226 424 936  161 819 258 626 739

Movement during the year was as follows:

As at 1 January 161 819 258 95 417 660 –

On acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 34 (a)) – 7 540 437 –

Net Purchase and maturities 65 094 765 58 861 161 626 739

As at 31 December 226 914 023 161 819 258 626 739

Expected Credit losses
Balance at 1 January 2018 –  –  –  – 
IFRS 9 transition adjustment (701 564)  –  – 
Effect of changes in exchange rate (154 735) – –  – 

Recovery for the year (note 37) 367 212  –  –  – 

Balance at 31 December (489 087)  –  –  – 

Carrying amount 226 424 936 161 819 258 626 739  – 

The interest rate on money market investments approximates the market interest rate and hence the carrying amount 
reasonably approximates the fair value. 

All money market investments mature within 12 months, except for some treasury notes within the statement of financial 
position, at a carrying amount of US$ 29.5million as at 31 December 2018 2017: US$ 29.5 million). These are Malawi 
Kwacha denominated Government of Malawi Treasury Notes which have a tenor of 36 months from 26 September 2017 to 
26 September 2020, with a coupon rate of 12%.

The company invested in treasury bills for a carrying amount of US$ 626,739 as at 31 December 2018 (2017: US$ Nil) 
maturing partly in April 2019, with a coupon rate of 26.9%.

Treasury bills held for investment purpose are classified as financial assets at amortised cost. These financial assets are 
held to earn interest income over their tenor and to collect contractual cash flows.
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9. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS
Consolidated

US$ 2018 2017

Loans and advances at amortised cost are receivable as follows:
Maturing within 3 months 172 431 670  127 272 759 

Maturing between 3 and 12 months 83 389 638  59 776 261 

Maturing after 12 months 112 445 490  176 249 512 

368 266 798  363 298 532 

Specific impairment allowances (Stage 3)
Balance at 1 January (6 219 741)  (1 723 720)

IFRS 9 transition adjustment (2 197 851)  – 

Reclassification of interest in suspense (1 900 949)  – 

(Charge)/Recoveries for the year (Note 37) (5 295 169)  (2 510 527)

Provision increase offset against fees and commission income 157 479  (41 128)

On acquisition of subsidiary –  (5 180 867)

Effect of changes in exchange rate 5 369 379  1 985 

Write-offs 5 223 894  3 234 516 

Balance at 31 December (4 862 958)  (6 219 741)

Collective impairment allowance (Stage 1 & 2) 
Balance at 1 January (4 252 508)

IFRS 9 transition adjustment (1 862 548)  – 

Transfer from loan loss reserve –  (726 140)

On acquisition of subsidiary –  (2 580 697)

On derecognition of subsidiary –  (308 670)

On restructuring of subsidiary 110 074 –

Effect of changes in exchange rate 908 095  874 

Charge for the year (Note 37) 840 680  (637 875)

Balance at 31 December (4 256 207)  (4 252 508)

Interest in suspense:
Balance at 1 January (2 309 880)  (1 933 967)

Reclassified to specific impairment allowance 1 900 949  – 

On acquisition of subsidiary –  (292 000)

Effect of changes in exchange rate 12 931  2 369 

Interest suspended for the year 396 000  (86 282)

Balance at 31 December  –  (2 309 880)

Net Loans and advances to customers 359 147 633  350 516 403 

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of loans and advances are a reasonable approximation of their fair value.

The Group manages these loans and advances in accordance with its investment strategy. 

Internal reporting and performance measurement of these loans and advances are at amortised cost.

Impairment of loans and advances has been calculated as disclosed in notes 5(a) (iii) and 37.

Loans and advances as per industry/sector have been disclosed in note 5(a) (v). 

Effective base interest rates for loans and advances have been disclosed in note 5(b).
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10. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES
   Consolidated

US$ 2018 2017

Investment in leases at amortised cost are receivable as follows:

Maturing less than 1 year 1 267 772 2 123 157

Maturing after more than 1 year 1 595 350 3 900 007

2 863 122  6 023 164

Specific impairment (Stage 3) allowances

Balance at 1 January (199 124)  (44 878)

IFRS 9 transition adjustment (161 607)

Reclassification of interest in suspense (468 937) –

(Charge) for the year (Note 37) (79 939)  (176 466)

Effect of changes in exchange rate 471 289  56 

Write-offs 61 335  22 164 

Balance at 31 December (376 983)  (199 124)

Collective impairment (Stage 1 &2) allowance

Balance at 1 January (66 781)  (77 978)

IFRS 9 transition adjustment (191 770)

Effect of changes in exchange rate 446  97 

Credit for the year (Note 37)  798  11 100 

Balance at 31 December (257 307)  (66 781)

Interest in suspense:

Balance at 1 January (468 937)  (556 018)

Reclassified specific impairment allowance 468 937

Effect of changes in exchange rate –  681 

Interest suspended for the year  –  86 400 

Balance at 31 December  –  (468 937)

Net finance lease receivables 2 228 832  5 288 322
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11.  REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS
   Consolidated

US$ 2018 2017

Repurchase agreements 29 969 134 34 789 390

Movement during the year was as follows:

As at 1 January 34 789 390 26 500 000

Additions 30 092 963 59 789 390

Maturities (34 554 342) (51 500 000)

Effect of changes in exchange rate (234 688) –

Expected credit losses  (124 189)  – 

As at 31 December 29 969 134  34 789 390

Funds under currency swap

31-Dec-18

US$ 10.0 million 10 000 000

US$ 10.0 million 10 000 000

US$ 5.0 million 5 000 000

GBP 4.0 million 4 969 134

29 969 134

31-Dec-17

US$ 10.0 million – 10 000 000

US$ 10.0 million – 10 000 000

US$ 10.0 million – 10 000 000

EUR 4.0 million  –  4 789 390

 –  34 789 390

The Group entered into a Currency Swap arrangement with the Reserve Bank of Malawi (RBM) in which the Group sold 
US Dollars to RBM. The Group also arranged a GBP/US$ swap with Standard Bank South Africa with a principal amount of 
GBP 4 million in 2018 and a Euro/US$ swap with Standard Bank South Africa with a principal amount of € 4 million in 2017. 
The deals are listed above. The corresponding liability under the arrangements has been disclosed in Note 20 as part of 
balances due to other banks.
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12. CURRENT TAX ASSET
Consolidated Separate

US$ 2018 2017 2018 2017

12(a) Tax expense
Current year tax based on profits 8 427 216  3 969 594 612 217  – 

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 
(Note 24) (1 428 880)  3 724 284  –  – 

6 998 336  7 693 878 612 217  – 

12(b) Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Profit/(loss) before tax 37 616 088  42 552 041 3 987 137  (1 716 325)

Tax (using effective tax rate of 30% Consolidated 
3% for Separate) 11 284 826  12 765 612 119 614  (51 490)

Foreign companies tax differential (2 684 390)  (144 854) 483 312  46 341 

Non-deductible expenses 320 247 466 399 9 291  5 153 

Gain on bargain purchase –  (5 596 786)  –  – 

Losses not tax deductible –  644 355  –  – 

Tax exempt income (1 922 347)  (440 848)  –  (4)

6 998 336  7 693 878 612 217  – 

12(c) Income tax (recoverable)/payable
As at 1 January (4 666 140)  (1 497 511)  –  – 

Charges for the year 8 427 215  3 969 594 612 217  – 

Effect of changes in exchange rate 1 694 112  (22 165)

Paid during the year (7 847 231)  (7 116 058) 612 217  – 

As at 31 December (2 392 044)  (4 666 140)             –  – 

Income tax recoverable/(payable) is presented as follows in the statements of financial position:

Consolidated

US$ 2018 2017

Current tax asset 3 698 352  5 014 906 

Income tax payable (1 306 308)  (348 766)

2 392 044  4 666 140 

Statutory tax rates for territories in the group are as follows*:

Mauritius (net of foreign tax credit) 3%

Mauritius 15%

Zimbabwe 25.75%

Malawi 30%

Botswana 22%

Mozambique 32%

Zambia 35%

* The tax rates for the foreign operations range from 15% to 
35%. In Mauritius, the Company is subject to income tax at 
15%. However, a Category 1 Global Business License company 
is entitled to a foreign tax credit equivalent to 80% on the 
Mauritius tax liability or the actual foreign tax suffered.
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13. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
At end of the reporting period the Group’s portfolio of investments in listed companies comprised:

   Consolidated

 2018 2017

Shares held (numbers)

Illovo Sugar Malawi Plc 12 915 541 12 915 541

National Investment Trust Plc 25 766 628 25 766 628

Telekom Networks Malawi Plc 38 338 700 38 338 700

Share price (US’ Cents)

Illovo Sugar Malawi Plc 0.2743 0.3314

National Investment Trust Plc 0.1029 0.0829

Telekom Networks Malawi Plc 0.0384 0.0200

Market value (US$)

Illovo Sugar Malawi Plc 3 542 757 4 280 227

National Investment Trust Plc 2 650 437 2 136 907

Telekom Networks Malawi Plc  1 472 293  767 624

 7 665 487  7 184 758

Change in fair value (US$)

Balance at 1 January 7 184 758 4 388 848

Effect of Exchange rate difference (922 904) (5 279)

Movement in fair value (Note 33) 1 403 633 2 801 189

Balance at 31 December 7 665 487 7 184 758

All investments in listed companies are listed on the Malawi Stock Exchange and are designated at fair value through profit 
or loss upon initial recognition. The movement in fair value is taken to profit or loss.

Fair value measurement of investments in listed companies has been categorised as Level 1 fair value based on quoted 
prices on the Malawi Stock Exchange.

14. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
At end of the reporting period the Company’s portfolio of investments in subsidiary companies comprised:

 
Nature of 
Business

Type of 
investment

Holding % US$

2018 2017 2018 2017

First Capital Bank PLC (Malawi) Banking Equity shares 100 100 101 073 622  105 707 965 

Afcarme Zimbabwe Holdings 
(Private) Limited Banking Equity shares 81 81  17 420 080  17 420 080 

First Capital Bank Zambia Limited Banking Equity shares 49 –  4 634 343 –

First Capital Bank Ltd (Botswana) Banking Preference shares 100 – 1 995 000 –

First Capital Shared Services Ltd Shared Service Equity shares 100 –  105  –

First Capital Bank S.A. 
(Mozambique) Banking Subordinate Debt 100 –      817 889

                –

125 941 039 123 128 045

During the year 2018, the Company acquired a direct 49% shareholding in First Capital Bank Zambia Limited (“FCB Zambia”) 
a company incorporated in Zambia by way of a dividend in specie from First Capital Bank PLC Malawi (FCB Malawi). This 
restructuring has no impact on the Group’s financial statement.

The Company incorporated a domestic company, First Capital Shared Services Limited (FCSSL) in Mauritius.  

During the year, the company invested US$ 1 995 000 in Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares issued by First Capital 
Bank Limited (Botswana). 

During the year, the company also invested US$ 817 889 as Subordinated Debt of First Capital Bank S.A. (Mozambique). 
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Investment property comprises commercial properties that are leased to third parties and land held for capital appreciation. 
Movement during the year was as follows:

Consolidated

US$ 2018 2017

At fair value
Balance as at 1 January 6 343 495  1 214 105 

Reclassification from property and equipment  – 

On acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34)  5 145 000 

Effect of changes in exchange rate (195 134)  (15 610)

Change in fair value 397 500  – 

Balance as at 31 December 6 545 861  6 343 495 

The fair value of investment property was determined by external, independent property valuers, having the appropriate 
recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and category of the property being valued. 
The independent valuers provide the fair value of the investment property portfolio annually.

The fair value measurement of the investment property has been categorised as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy based 
on the inputs to the valuation technique used, performed by independent valuers.

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 2018 Consolidated

US$
Computer 

software Total

Cost
As at 1 January 2018 14 036 069 14 036 069

Disposals (193 930) (193 930)

Effect of changes in exchange rate (1 577 448) (1 577 448)

Additions 1 361 903 1 361 903

As at 31 December 2018 13 626 594 13 626 594

Accumulated amortisation
As at 1 January 2018 5 546 009 5 546 009

Effect of changes in exchange rate (552 900) (552 900)

Charge for the year 1 716 332 1 716 332

As at 31 December 2018 6 709 441 6 709 441

Carrying Amount
At 31 December 2018 6 917 153 6 917 153

At 31 December 2017 8 490 060 8 490 060
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

 2017 Consolidated

US$
Computer 

software Total

Cost
As at 1 January 2017 10 175 792 10 175 792

Transfer 380 428 380 428

Disposals – –

Effect of changes in exchange rate 338 405 338 405

On acquisition of subsidiary 1 429 351 1 429 351

Additions 1 712 093 1 712 093

As at 31 December 2017 14 036 069 14 036 069

Accumulated amortisation
As at 1 January 2017 3 595 415 3 595 415

Effect of changes in exchange rate 205 464 205 464

Transfers 20 757 20 757

Charge for the year 1 724 373 1 724 373

As at 31 December 2017 5 546 009 5 546 009

Carrying Amount

At 31 December 2017 8 490 060 8 490 060

At 31 December 2016 6 580 377 6 580 377

Intangible assets include computer software and website development measured at cost incurred on acquisition 
or development. An intangible asset has been recognized on acquisition of First Capital Bank Limited Zimbabwe 
(FCB Zimbabwe) in respect of the fair value of information technology support services agreed to be provided free of 
charge by Barclays Bank Plc for a two year period post acquisition. Intangible assets are amortised over their estimated 
useful lives.
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17. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Consolidated

Freehold 
property

Leasehold 
improve-

ments
Motor 

vehicles
Corporate

 Jet

Motor 
vehicles – 
operating 

lease

Equipment,
 fixtures &

 fittings

Capital
 work in

 progress Total

Cost or valuation
Balance at  
1 January 2018 26 439 496 6 438 258 7 392 911 – 966 692 21 682 648 4 542 256 67 462 261

Additions 1 998 302 194 238 3 752 3 692 8 435 3 037 111 5 042 661 10 288 191

Impairment loss on 
revalued assets (184 247)  –  –  –  –  –  – (184 247)

Effect of changes in 
exchange rate 1 212 237 (281 595) (967 196)  – (16 749) (1 257 861) – (1 311 164)

Revaluation surplus 3 169 615 492 404  –  –  –  –  – 3 662 019

Disposals –  (20 325) (201 995)  – (378 408) (40 064)  – (640 792)

Transfers  – 1 023 672 98 167 1 914 860  – 326 399 (2 965 718) 397 380

Balance at  
31 December 2018 32 635 403 7 846 652 6 325 639 1 918 552 579 970 23 748 233 6 619 199 79 673 648

Accumulated 
depreciation 
Balance at  
1 January 2018 3 175 337 1 425 927 3 517 316 – 429 006 14 557 412  – 23 104 998

Charge for the year 531 106 751 642 1 004 237  114 587 22 895 2 461 459  – 4 885 926

Released on disposal  – (3 851) 174 840  – (259 670) 5 786  – (82 895)

Eliminated on 
|revaluation  (367 852)  (143 424)  –  –  –  –  – (511 276)

Effect of changes in 
exchange rate (69 662) 77 905 (1 322 415)  – – (1 512 803)  – (2 826 975)

Charge on operating 
lease  –  –  – – 154 935  –  – 154 935

Balance at  
31 December 2018 3 268 929 2 108 199 3 373 978 114 587 347 166 15 511 854  – 24 724 713

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2018 29 366 474 5 738 453 2 951 661 1 803 965 232 804 8 236 379 6 619 199 54 948 935

At 31 December 2017  23 264 159  5 012 331  3 775 595  537 686  537 686  7 125 236  4 642 256  44 357 263 
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17. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Consolidated

Freehold 
property

Leasehold 
improve-

ments
Motor 

vehicles

Motor 
vehicles – 
operating 

lease

Equipment,
 fixtures &

 fittings

Capital
 work in

 progress Total

Cost or valuation
Balance at  
1 January 2017  5 842 809  5 417 170  1 707 727  935 783  9 719 224  732 663  24 355 376 

Additions  –  433 052  129 121  30 909  1 111 654  4 614 147  6 318 883 

On acquisition of 
subsidiary  20 464 487  –  5 446 310  – 10 530 542 106 376 36 547 715

Effects of exchange rate 
changes  132 200  164 120  145 341  – 111 915  112 204 665 780

Revaluation surplus  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Disposals  –  –  (35 588)  –  (9 477)  –  (45 065)

Transferred to 
Intangibles  –  423 916  –  –  218 790 (1 023 134)  (380 428)

Balance at  
31 December 2017  26 439 496  6 438 258  7 392 911  966 692  21 682 648  4 542 256  67 462 261 

Accumulated 
depreciation 
Balance at  
1 January 2017  295 432  973 166  778 773  232 010  6 734 292  –  9 013 673 

Charge for the year  190 772  410 592  367 209  –  1 732 332  –  2 700 905 

Released on disposal  –  –  (35 588)  –  (9 477)  –  (45 065)

On acquisition of 
subsidiary  2 667 000  –  2 373 000  –  6 263 687  –  11 303 687 

Transferred to 
Intangibles  –  –  –  –  (20 757)  –  (20 757)

Effects of exchange rate 
changes  22 133  42 169  33 922  –  (142 665)  –  (44 441)

Charged against 
operating lease income  –  –  –  196 996  –  –  196 996 

Balance at  
31 December 2017  3 175 337  1 425 927  3 517 316  429 006  14 557 412  –  23 104 998 

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2017  23 264 159  5 012 331  3 775 595  537 686  7 125 236  4 642 256  44 357 263 

At 31 December 2016 5 547 377 4 444 004 928 954 703 773 2 984 932 732 663 15 341 703
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17. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Separate

Equipment, 
Fixtures & 

Fittings Total

Cost or valuation
Balance at 1 January 2018  –  – 

Additions 207 574 207 574

Balance at 31 December 2018 207 574 207 574

Accumulated depreciation 
Balance at 1 January 2018  –  – 

Charge for the year 17 076 17 076

Balance at 31 December 2018 17 076 17 076

190 498 190 498

Property and equipment were subjected to impairment testing by way of internal evaluation of obsolescence of equipment. 

Revaluation takes place at least every 2 years. The freehold properties and leasehold improvements of the Group companies 
were last revalued on 31 December 2018 by independent valuers on an open market value basis. The resultant surpluses 
were credited to revaluation reserve. This is not available for distribution until realised.

The fair value measurement for properties has been categorised as Level 3 fair value based on inputs to the valuation 
techniques used. The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair values of freehold 
properties and leasehold improvements, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used.

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs

Open Market Value Basis

Open market value is the estimated amount for which an asset or 
liability should exchange on the valuation date between a willing 
buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s-length transaction after proper 
marketing and where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, 
prudently and without compulsion.

The valuation process makes comparisons between the subject 
property and comparable property which has gone through the 
market in order to formulate an opinion as to a fair market value 
using an estimate of the future potential net income capable of 
being generated by the use of the property.

The valuation approach adopted takes cogni-
sance of the performance of the property 
market at the time of valuation. The approach 
relies on sales data and all relevant factors 
pertaining to the property market.

The method recognises that property can be 
assembled, not only for occupation and use of 
the owner, but also to let to one or more tenants 
who will pay the owner rent for the right to the 
use and occupation of the property.
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18. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
   Consolidated

US$ 2018 2017

At 1 January 15 129 612 –

Property repossessed during the year 2 198 231 –

On acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 34) –  14 929 959 

Income from non-current asset held for sale 205 595 –

Effect of changes in exchange rate (2 179) –

Share of post-acquisition profit in joint venture  –  199 653

17 531 259  15 129 612 

Assets held for sale include:

• 50% shareholding held by First Capital Bank Limited Zimbabwe (a subsidiary of Afcarme) in Makasa Sun (Private) Limited 
in Zimbabwe.

• Property taken over by First Capital Bank Plc Malawi on its acquisition of Opportunity International Bank of Malawi Ltd 
(OIBM). Some of the acquired assets related to closed operations which were earmarked for disposal and will not be 
used for the group’s operations.

• First Capital Bank Zambia Limited had during the year repossessed property from a borrower following its failure to 
repay a loan granted to them. The Bank is in the process of looking for a buyer for the repossessed properties. The Bank 
expects to sell the properties within two years.

The Group has assessed the carrying value of the above assets and has concluded that there is no diminution in the 
value. The Group has assessed that the sale of these assets is highly probable.

19. OTHER ASSETS
  Consolidated Separate

US$ 2018 2017 2018 2017

Prepayments 2 355 684  1 217 591 –  976 

Dividend receivable 11 831  9 529 –  – 

Stock of stationery 361 241  126 808 –  – 

Stock of computer spares and other items 304 865  163 669 –  – 

Non-customer treasury account 2 107 941  6 043 667 –  – 

Other receivables 5 684 016  8 555 237 3 821 005  – 

10 825 578  16 116 501 3 821 005  976 

Current 10 314 174  14 073 501 3 821 005 976 

Non-current 511 404  2 043 000              –               – 

10 825 578 16 116 501 3 821 005          976

Prepayments consists of expenses paid in advance including rentals paid for retail outlets, annual maintenance contracts 
and software licence fees for several items of software and hardware used in the day to day operations of companies in 
the group.

Non-customer treasury account relates to receivables arising from transactions of First Capital Bank Zambia Limited with 
customers who have a dealing mandate with the bank but do not have a bank account.

All other current assets are recoverable/realisable within 12 months and no interest is charged on overdue balances. 
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20. BALANCES DUE TO OTHER BANKS
   Consolidated

 US$ 2018 2017

European Investment Bank 5 352 622  8 010 664 

Other banks 42 382 980  55 776 888 

47 735 602  63 787 552 

Payable as follows:
Due within 1 year

Due between 2 and 5 years 44 529 996  58 357 049 

3 205 606  5 430 503 

47 735 602  63 787 552 

All balances due to other banks are stated at amortised cost. Balances due to other banks represent short term borrowings 
by the Group. The Currency Swap liability was entered into by First Capital Bank Plc (FCB Malawi). The outstanding liability 
for the Currency Swap as at end of the reporting period was US$ 30.0 million (2017: US$ 36.6 million) and the corresponding 
asset has been disclosed under Note 11.

The facility with European Investment Bank (EIB) was made available to FCB Malawi for on lending to customers in specified 
economic sectors. The EIB line of credit which is denominated in US Dollars, carries interest between 3.9% and 5.8% per 
annum and is repayable in equal bi-annual installments ending on 16 June 2022.

21. CUSTOMER DEPOSITS
   Consolidated

US$ 2018 2017

Current accounts 333 748 821  567 228 438 

Savings accounts 84 549 535  38 923 632 

Foreign currency accounts 61 114 224  106 911 638 

Term deposit accounts 240 083 187  159 835 149 

Interest payable on deposits 1 330 050  1 717 042 

720 825 817  874 615 899 

Payable as follows:
Maturing within 3 months 607 660 830  793 976 348 

Maturing after 3 months 113 164 987  80 639 551 

720 825 817  874 615 899 

Deposits from customers only include financial instruments classified as liabilities at amortised cost. Fair value of deposits 
from customers approximates carrying amount because of their short tenure.
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22. OTHER PAYABLES
   Consolidated Separate

US$ 2018 2017 2018 2017

Accrued expenses 13 114 899  9 665 369 862 406  186 161 

Bankers Cheques issued 2 413 672  9 229 535 –  – 

Bills payable 1 243 482  1 383 182 –  – 

Interest payable 1 510 813  1 114 381 95 608  243 247 

Margins on LCs 744 909  10 653 492 –  – 

Trade payables 8 798 122  5 742 084 62 064  2 664 

Due to group company – – –  1 484 233 

27 825 897  37 788 043 1 020 078  1 916 305 

Margins on letters of credit are fully cash collateralised. All amounts included in other payables are non-interest bearing 
Directors consider that the carrying amounts of other payables approximate their fair values.

23. SUBORDINATED DEBT
   Consolidated Separate

US$ 2018 2017 2018 2017

Carrying amount 16 859 518  14 224 307  –  – 

Movement during the year:
As at 1 January  14 224 307  12 485 813  –  – 

Additions 3 085 497  1 519 479  –  – 

Unamortised issue cost  (34 038)  (29 660)  –  – 

Effects of changes in exchange rate (416 248)  248 675  –  – 

As at 31 December 16 859 518  14 224 307  –  – 

a)  On 3 June 2016, FCB Malawi issued through private placement K7 billion (US$ 9 665 870), fixed term unsecured floating 
rate subordinated note which will mature in its entirety on 3 June 2023. Interest is referenced against the published 
average yield for 91 day Malawi Government Treasury Bills for auctions preceding repricing dates and is payable 
quarterly in arrears.

b)  In 2017, First Capital Bank Botswana (FCB Botswana) a subsidiary of FCB Malawi, issued P 30 million (US$ 3 038 958), 
floating rates notes maturing on 18 January 2022 which earn interest at 70 basis points below the bank rate for the 
first 5 years, and thereafter at 20 basis points below the bank rate. During the year 2017, FCB Botswana also issued 
P 15 million (US$ 1 519 479) floating rate notes maturing on 1 July 2027 and earning interest at 270 basis points above 
the bank rate. FCB Botswana has an early optional redemption date of 18 January 2022 subject to prior written consent 
from the Bank of Botswana.

c)  On 1 July 2018, FCB Botswana issued P 33 million rate (US$ 3 085 496) floating rate notes maturing on 25 January 2023 
and earning interest at 290 basis points above the bank rate. The bank has an early optional redemption date of 
25 January 2023 subject to prior written consent from Bank of Botswana

d)  The subordinated debt notes constitute direct, subordinated and unsecured obligations of FCB Malawi and FCB 
Botswana respectively. The notes rank pari passu among themselves and are subordinated to general creditors and 
claims of depositors.

e)  In July 2018, First Capital Bank S.A. Mozambique (FCB Mozambique) entered into a subordinated loan arrangement 
with FMBcapital Holdings Plc (a related entity). The principal amount under the arrangement is 50 million meticais 
(US$ 814,995) for a period of 7 years, with payment of semi-annual coupons, with the rate for the first coupon being 
18.55%.
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24. DEFERRED TAX
Consolidated

Opening 
Balance

Recog-
nised

directly in
 retained 
earnings)

Recog-
nised

 in profit or
 loss (Note 

12(a))

Recog-
nised 

in other 
comp-

rehensive
 income

Trans-
ferred on 

acquisi-
tion

Effect of 
changes in 

exchange
 rate

Closing 
balance

(US$) Rate -37% Rate -37% Rate -37%

2018

Property and equipment 5 009 509 – 272 691 – – 246 572 5 528 772

Accrued income 1 562 818 – 119 487 – – – 1 682 305

Revaluation of property 411 701 – – 1 033 972 – – 1 445 673

Gratuity and severance pay 
liabilities (1 146 495) – 292 454 – – – (854 041)

ECL Provisions – (1 256 641) (1 140 119) – – 79 980 (2 316 780)

Other temporary differences (1 004 428)  – (973 393) – – (764 022) (2 741 843)

4 833 105 (1 256 641) (1 428 880) 1 033 972  – (437 470) 2 744 086

2017

Property and equipment 1 149 782 42 574 – 3 790 942 26 211 5 009 509

Accrued income 1 912 657 (157 827) – (189 674) (2 338) 1 562 818

Revaluation of property 422 528 (4 322) (4 354) (5 736) 3 585 411 701

Tax losses (500 365) 4 199 207 – (3 699 472) 630 –

Gratuity and severance pay 
liabilities (411 044) (100 958) – (634 993) 500 (1 146 495)

Other temporary differences (137 545) (254 390)  –  (566 322) (46 171) (1 004 428)

2 436 013 3 724 284  4 354  (1 305 255) (18 183) 4 833 105

  Consolidated

US$ 2018 2017

Disclosed as under:

Deferred tax assets (499 256) –

Deferred tax liabilities 3 243 342 4 833 105

Net effect 2 744 086 4 833 105
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25. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM
a) Share capital

  Consolidated Separate

US$ 2018 2017 2018 2017

Issued and fully paid up

2 336 250 000 Ordinary shares of no par value 105 707 965 105 707 965 105 707 965 105 707 965

Issue of Shares –  122 000 000 shares  
of no par value 11 701 116  – 11 701 116  – 

2 458 250 000 (2017: 2 336 250 000) 
Ordinary shares of no par value 117 409 081  105 707 965 117 409 081 105 707 965

On 20 December 2018, FMBcapital Holdings Plc (“FMBCH”) issued and fully paid additional shares of 122 000 000 at 
the price of MWK 70.00 per share. All ordinary shares in FMBCH rank pari passu with one another and are listed on the 
Malawi Stock Exchange.

On 31 July 2017, a takeover offer (“Offer”) was made by FMBcapital Holdings Plc (“FMBCH”) to shareholders of First 
Capital Bank Plc (“FCB Malawi”), a company which was listed on the Malawi Stock Exchange until its delisting on 
18 December 2017. The terms of the Offer required the shareholders of FMB to transfer their shares to FMBCH in 
exchange for shares in FMBCH. There was no element of cash consideration involved on the Offer.

At the close of the offer period, all shares in FMB (2 336 250 000) were exchanged with an equal number of new shares 
in FMBCH. All ordinary shares in FMBCH rank pari passu with one another and are listed on the Malawi Stock Exchange.

The terms and conditions of the ordinary shares are as follows:

i. Each holder has a right to one vote on a poll at a meeting of the Company on any resolution;

ii. Each holder has an equal share in dividends authorised by the Board; and 

iii. Each holder has a right to an equal share in the distribution of the surplus assets of the Company.

b) Share premium
Premiums from the issue of shares by First Capital Bank Plc Malawi (FCB Malawi) are reported in the share premium.

Upon the takeover of FCB Malawi by FMBCH, the share premium account has been transferred to Restructuring 
reserve in 2017.
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26. RESTRUCTURING RESERVE
In 2017, the takeover of First Capital Bank Plc Malawi was a business combination of entities under common control. 
Shares issued by the Company as a consequence of the offer were recorded at fair value on the date of issue determined 
by reference to their stock exchange quoted price. In the consolidated financial statements, a Restructuring reserve has 
been debited with the difference between the fair value of FMBCH Plc shares issued and the historic carrying amount of 
FCB Malawi issued shares, share premium, and accumulated non-statutory reserves at date of share exchange.

Restructuring reserve comprise:

US$ 2018 2017

Historical cost of 2 336 250 000 shares  161 497  161 497 

Share premium  2 164 142  2 164 142 

Fair value of 2 336 250 000 shares at the completion of share exchange  (105 707 965)  (105 707 965) 

Net increase  (103 382 326)  (103 382 326)

Adjustment for reserves prior to restructuring
Property revaluation reserve  4 766 722  4 766 722 

Translation reserve  3 467 428  3 467 428 

Retained earnings  40 637 553  40 637 553 

 (54 510 623)  (54 510 623)

Restructuring reserve includes net translation reserve of US$ 3 467 428 and property revaluation reserve of US$ 4 766 722 
which shall be reclassified to the statement of profit or loss upon disposal of the related asset.

27. PROPERTY REVALUATION RESERVE
This represents the surplus arising on revaluation of property net of the related deferred taxation adjustment and is not 
available for distribution to the owners.

28. LOAN LOSS RESERVE
In order to comply with asset classification directives by central banks, the Directors have made a transfer to the loan loss 
reserve in addition to provisions charged to profit or loss in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) 9 – Financial Instruments.

29. NON DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Prior period balances represent the capitalisation in 2009 of retained earnings in The Leasing and Finance Company 
of Malawi Limited (“LFC”) a subsidiary of FMB. The operations of LFC have been fully merged into the operations of 
FCB Malawi and the shares of LFC were cancelled as of 31 December 2017. The reserve was transferred to FCB Malawi’s 
retained earnings during the year.

30. TRANSLATION RESERVE
a) Translation reserve 

This represents translation differences arising on translation of foreign investments at the end of the reporting period.

b) Investment revaluation reserve  
The Group’s investment in corporate bonds and debentures were classified as available-for-sale financial assets 
under IAS 39 have been classified as financial assets at FVTOCI because they are held within a business model whose 
objective is both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell the bonds, and they have contractual cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on principal outstanding. The change in the fair value on these redeemable 
notes continues to accumulate in the investment revaluation reserve until they are derecognised or reclassified.

The Group’s investments in equity instruments (neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a 
business combination) that were previously classified as available-for-sale financial assets and were measured at fair 
value at each reporting date under IAS 39 have been designated as at FVTOCI. The change in fair value on these equity 
instruments continues to be accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve.

There is no change in the measurement of the Group’s investments in equity instruments that are held for trading. 
Those instruments were and continue to be measured at FVTPL.
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31. GROUP SUBSIDIARIES
As at 31 December 2018, the Company had the following subsidiaries:

Subsidiary Domicile
Shares held 

by FMBCH Sub-subsidiary Domicile

Shares held by 
subsidiary

2018 2017

First Capital 
Bank Plc

Malawi 100.00% Capital Bank S.A Mozambique 80.00% 80.00%

      First Capital Bank Limited Botswana 38.60% 38.60%

      First Capital Bank Zambia Limited Zambia – 49.00%

      FMB Forex Bureau Limited (dormant) Malawi 100.00% 100.00%

      FMB Pensions Limited (dormant) Malawi 100.00% 100.00%

      FMB Capital Markets Limited (dormant) Malawi 100.00% 100.00%

      International Commercial Bank Limited 
(dormant)

Malawi 100.00% 100.00%

First Capital 
Bank Zambia 
Limited

Zambia 49.00%

Afcarme 
Zimbabwe 
Holdings 
(Private) 
Limited

Zimbabwe 81.00% First Capital Bank Limited Zimbabwe 52.68% 52.68%

First Capital 
Shared 
Services Ltd

Mauritius 100.00%        

a) Acquisition of First Capital Bank Zambia Limited
On the 26th December 2018, First Capital Bank Plc Malawi (FCB Malawi) distributed its investment in First Capital Bank 
Zambia Limited (FCB Zambia) as dividend in specie to FMBcapital Holdings PLC (FMBCH), thereby making FCB Zambia 
its direct subsidiary.

b) Incorporation of First Capital Shared Services Ltd
During the year, FMBcapital Holdings PLC incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary company, First Capital Shared 
Services Ltd, in Mauritius. 
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31. GROUP SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

c) Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries

2018 Afcarme

First Capital 
Bank 

Mozambique

First Capital 
Bank 

Botswana

First Capital 
Bank 

Zambia Total

NCI percentage and voting rights 57.32% 20% 61.40% 51%

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 69 113 122 26 630 420 84 272 055 23 263 571 203 279 168

Money market investments 78 084 715 8 273 194 25 303 906 21 465 434 133 127 249

Loans and advances to customers 66 081 586 11 876 395 148 030 206 47 664 076 273 652 263

Repurchase agreements 361 – – – 361

Current tax asset 332 002 450 105 351 075 – 1 133 182

Financial assets at FVOCI 1 749 922 – – – 1 749 922

Investment property  5 145 000  –  – 1 400 861 6 545 861

Intangible assets – 68 329 890 255 583 337 1 541 921

Property and equipment 20 551 444 1 361 963 6 887 036 1 243 646 30 044 089

Assets held for sale 15 034 595  –  – 2 198 231 17 232 826
Other assets 3 803 168 284 436 3 346 576 3 173 301 10 607 481

259 895 915 48 944 842 269 081 109 100 992 457 678 914 323

Liabilities 
Balances due to other banks 802 528 –  – 14 126 155 14 928 683

Customer deposits 188 933 838 37 393 557 232 089 778 71 401 803 529 818 976

Income Tax Payable – – – 285 963 285 963

Other payables 8 008 765 797 029 9 610 749 2 590 896 21 007 439

Provisions 873 869  –  –  – 873 869

Subordinated debt – 888 490 7 258 954  – 8 147 444

Preference Shares – – 1 963 498 – 1 963 498
Deferred tax liabilities 759 182  (552 137) (173 352) (499 256) (465 563)

199 378 182 38 526 939 250 749 627 87 905 561 576 560 309

Net assets 60 517 733 10 417 903 18 331 482 13 086 896 102 354 014

Net assets attributable to NCI 34 699 235 2 083 580 11 255 530 6 674 317 54 712 662

Carrying amount of NCI 34 699 235 2 083 580 11 255 530 6 674 317 54 712 662
Dividend paid to NCI – – – – –

NCI percentage and voting rights 57.32% 20% 61.40% 51%

Interest income 33 650 369 6 020 575 15 216 429 9 604 188 64 491 561
Interest expense (961 055) (2 027 202) (5 566 616) (2 668 064) (11 222 937)

Net interest income 32 689 314 3 993 373 9 649 813 6 936 124 53 268 624

Fees and commissions 22 948 385 1 159 567 2 517 188 3 038 518 29 663 658

Income from investments 1 810 638 – – – 1 810 638

Gain on foreign exchange transactions 10 963 269 1 161 025 2 746 496 3 199 601 18 070 391
Other operating income  734 568  –  –  –  734 568

Total operating income 69 146 174 6 313 965 14 913 497 13 174 243 103 547 879

Staff and training costs 23 766 255 2 738 527 4 398 232 4 033 357 34 936 371

Premises and equipment costs 7 510 326 853 358 1 210 140 1 095 054 10 668 878

Depreciation expense 2 051 019 521 699 606 333 660 179 3 839 230

Other expenses 14 120 437 1 530 165 3 603 734 2 440 266 21 694 602
Impairment loss on loans and advances 2 464 143 492 594 1 678 726 713 779 5 349 242

Total expenses 49 912 180 6 136 343 11 497 165 8 942 635 76 488 323

Profit before income tax expense 19 233 994 177 622 3 416 332 4 231 608 27 059 556
Income tax expense 251 708  48 896 621 161 1 504 874 2 426 639

Profit/(loss) for the year 18 982 286 128 726 2 795 171 2 726 734 24 632 917

Profit/(loss) allocated to NCI 10 883 930 25 745 1 716 235 1 390 635 14 016 545
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31. GROUP SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

c) Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries (CONTINUED)

2017 Afcarme

First Capital 
Bank 

Mozambique

First Capital 
Bank 

Botswana

First Capital 
Bank 

Zambia Total

NCI percentage and voting rights 57.32% 20% 61.40% 51%

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  390 351 057  24 386 532  70 152 297  31 012 312  515 902 198

Loans and advances to customers  112 037 577  12 034 155  121 238 945  45 321 354  290 632 031 

Current tax asset  637 246  707 217  137 893  115 575  1 597 931 

Investment property  5 145 000  –  –  1 198 495  6 343 495 

Intangible assets  1 143 481  305 377  983 038  715 396  3 147 292 

Property and equipment  20 621 361  1 312 417  2 208 714  1 526 966  25 669 458 

Assets held for sale  14 829 149  –  –  –  14 829 149 

Available for sale assets 4 208 887 – – – 4 208 887
Other assets  6 856 725  163 184  960 614  6 373 917  14 354 440 

 555 830 483  38 908 882  195 681 501  86 264 015  876 684 881 

Liabilities 
Balances due to other banks  6 232 510  847 118  –  12 110 147  19 189 775 

Customer deposits  443 783 408  26 615 322  171 135 496  55 449 284  696 983 510 

Other payables  12 523 084  824 920  1 430 338  6 379 957  21 158 299 

Provisions  2 375 719  –  –  –  2 375 719 

Subordinated debt –  –  4 558 437  –  4 558 437 
Deferred tax liabilities  2 464 757  –  291 010  (338 555)  2 417 212 

 467 379 478  28 287 360  177 415 281  73 600 833  746 682 952 

Net assets  88 451 005  10 621 522  18 266 220  12 663 182  130 001 929 

Net assets attributable to NCI  50 700 116  2 124 304  11 215 459  6 458 223  70 498 102 

Carrying amount of NCI  50 700 116  2 124 304  11 215 459  6 458 223  70 498 102 
Dividend paid to NCI – – 583 752 – 583 752

NCI percentage and voting rights 57.32% 30% 61.40% 51%

Interest income 5 806 964 4 929 385 11 309 316 7 486 687 29 532 352
Interest expense  (68 859)  (2 302 547)  (3 016 744) (2 171 835) (7 559 985)

Net interest income 5 738 105 2 626 838 8 292 572 5 314 852 21 972 367

Fees and commissions 7 233 482 525 478 2 279 225 2 390 715 12 428 900

Income from investments 359 886 – – – 359 886

Gain on foreign exchange transactions 3 223 525 587 872 1 670 262 2 329 744 7 811 403
Other operating income  474 055  –  –  –  474 055

Total operating income 17 029 053 3 740 188 12 242 059 10 035 311 43 046 611

Staff and training costs 6 350 863 1 819 081 3 896 021 3 103 999 15 169 964

Premises and equipment costs 1 872 545 1 097 000 933 328 1 096 454 4 999 327

Depreciation expense 845 871 411 382 511 992 617 352 2 386 597

Other expenses 3 231 799 1 262 329 1 846 066 1 337 302 7 677 496
Impairment loss on loans and advances  (1 018 483)  1 298 169  1 484 950  165 605  1 930 241

Total expenses  11 282 595  5 887 961  8 672 357  6 320 712  32 163 625

Profit before income tax expense 5 746 458 (2 147 773) 3 569 702 3 714 599 10 882 986
Income tax expense  1 652 862  –  838 087  1 412 589  3 903 538

Profit/(loss) for the year  4 093 596  (2 147 773)  2 731 615  2 302 010  6 979 448

Profit/(loss) allocated to NCI 2 346 449 (644 332) 1 677 212 1 174 025 4 553 354
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32. INTEREST INCOME
   Consolidated Separate

US$ 2018 2017 2018 2017

Loans and advances 46 597 931  34 496 126  –  – 

Lease finance 961 386  1 844 148  –  – 

Treasury bills 15 510 201  19 782 850 –  – 

Placement with other banks 23 409 515  3 583 255  –  1 392 

Treasury Notes 71 945 – – –

Corporate bonds 6 468 725 – 602 274 –

Promissory notes 2 049 899  4 000 971             –  – 

95 069 602  63 707 350 602 274  1 392 

33. INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS
   Consolidated Separate

US$ 2018 2017 2018 2017

Dividend income 1 009 700  426 508 6 200 152 –

Movement in fair value of investments (Note 13) 1 403 633  2 801 189 – –

2 413 333  3 227 697 6 200 152 –

34. GAINS ON BARGAIN PURCHASES

US$
Total
2018

Afcarme
Zimbabwe

Holdings
(Private)
Limited

Opportunity
International
Bank Malawi

Ltd
Total
2017

Fair value of net assets acquired (Note 34(a)) –  84 358 204  194 443  84 552 647 

Non-controlling interest –  (48 354 124)  –  (48 354 124)

–  36 004 080  194 443  36 198 523 

Consideration transferred  –  17 420 080  122 490  17 542 570 

Gain on bargain purchase  –  18 584 000  71 953  18 655 953 

Two acquisitions were completed in 2017; Afcarme Zimbabwe Holdings (Private) Limited (by FMBcapital Holdings Plc) and 
Opportunity International Bank Malawi Limited (by First Capital Bank Plc (FCB Malawi)). In both cases, the fair value of net 
assets acquired less the value of non-controlling interests exceeded consideration transferred. A gain on bargain purchase 
has been recognised in the income statement in accordance with IFRS 3 – Business Combinations.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition are disclosed in Note 34 (a)
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34. GAINS ON BARGAIN PURCHASES (CONTINUED)

a) Fair value of net assets acquired

US$
Total
2018

Afcarme
Zimbabwe

Holdings
(Private)
 Limited

Opportunity
International
Bank Malawi 

Ltd
Total
2017

Cash and cash equivalents – 346 313 111 2 308 225 348 621 336

Money market deposits  –  1 013 624  6 526 813  7 540 437 

Loans and advances – 114 653 553 2 961 177 117 614 730

Other receivables  –  11 613 783  51 986  11 665 769 

Property and equipment – 20 967 730 4 276 298 25 244 028

Intangible assets – 1 429 351 – 1 429 351

Assets held for sale – 14 629 496 300 463 14 929 959

Investment properties – 5 145 000 – 5 145 000

Deferred tax asset – – 4 079 628 4 079 628

Total liabilities  – (431 407 444) (20 310 147)  (451 717 591)

Net assets acquired – 84 358 204 194 443 84 552 647

Non-controlling interests – (48 354 124) – (48 354 124)

Gain on bargain purchase  –  (18 584 000)  (71 953)  (18 655 953)

Consideration transferred  –  17 420 080  122 490  17 542 570

Consideration discharged by:
Cash – 6 633 333 122 490 6 755 823

Issue of redeemable preference shares  – 10 786 747  – 10 786 747

 – 17 420 080  122 490 17 542 570

Expenses totalling US$ 1.2 million and US$ 0.8 million, related to advisory and professional fees on acquisition of 
Afcarme and Opportunity International Bank Malawi Ltd respectively have expensed in the 2017 income statement 
within the “Other expenses” line (see Note 36).

Included in the consolidated profit the year 2017, is US$ 4.1m profit after tax for Afcarme for the period 
11 October 2017 to 31 December 2017. The consolidated net operating income and profit after tax from operations 
would have been more by US$ 71.5 million and US$ 19.5 million respectively had the business combination been 
effected at 1 January 2017.

b) Cash flow for acquisition of business, net of cash acquired

US$ 
Total
2018

Afcarme
Zimbabwe

Holdings
(Private)
Limited

Opportunity
International
Bank Malawi

Ltd
Total
2017

Total cash consideration – 6 633 333 122 490 6 755 823

Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired  – (346 313 111) (2 308 225) (348 621 336)

Net cash in flow  –  339 679 778  2 185 735  341 865 513
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35. STAFF AND TRAINING EXPENSES
   Consolidated Separate

US$ 2018 2017 2018 2017

Salaries and wages 38 833 872  20 138 910 2 510 640  – 

Training and other staff costs 7 293 620  5 228 654 146 747  – 

Contributions to defined contribution plans 2 794 547  739 436  –  – 

48 922 039  26 107 000 2 657 388  – 

36. OTHER EXPENSES
   Consolidated Separate

US$ 2018 2017 2018 2017

Auditor’s remuneration 888 033 544 747 72 014 25 000

Bank charges 1 603 084 1 165 969 7 132 965

Directors’ expenses and remuneration 303 371 666 353 65 487 33 918

Donations 31 643 27 606 – –

Electricity 595 668 363 126 4 455 –

Fines and penalties 53 663 199 734 – –

Fuel 19 769 19 613 – –

Insurance 2 100 217 859 836 13 468 –

Legal and consultancy fees 2 202 071 245 243 601 036 –

Marketing costs 2 403 145 949 741 186 978 –

Motor vehicle running costs 556 791 449 275 15 490 –

Operational losses 1 166 125 159 808 – –

Other administration costs 4 243 121 1 906 834 326 240 57 495

Postage 173 668 720 205 71 –

Printing and stationery 1 771 228 989 591 10 181 –

Professional subscriptions 109 244 144 106 – –

Repairs and maintenance 328 938 796 590 3 391 –

Restructuring and acquisition expenses 2 902 347 2 035 972 – 1 235 113

Telephone expenses 3 141 775 561 485 4 005 –

Travel expenses 2 280 239 750 235 598 950 –

Water 86 505  59 486  –  –

26 960 645 13 615 555 1 908 898 1 352 491
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37. IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON LOANS AND ADVANCES
   Consolidated

US$ 2018 2017

Impairment allowance on loans

Impairment charge 7 134 093  7 341 097 

Recoveries (2 679 604)  (4 192 695)

4 454 489  3 148 402 

Impairment allowance on finance leases

Impairment charge  731 604  187 883 

Recoveries (652 463)  (22 517)

79 141  165 366 

Impairment allowance on other financial assets

Impairment charge 119 686  – 

Recoveries (486 898)  – 

(367 212)  – 

Total impairment loss on financial assets 4 166 418  3 313 768 

Comprising:

Impairment allowance on loans 

Specific impairment charges 5 295 169  2 510 227

Collective impairment charges (840 680)  637 875 

4 454 489  3 148 402 

Impairment allowance on finance leases

Specific impairment charges 79 939  176 466 

Collective impairment charges  (798)  (11 100)

 79 141  165 366 

Impairment allowance on other financial assets
Collective impairment charges (367 212)  – 

Total impairment loss on financial assets  4 166 418  3 313 768 
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38. PROVISIONS
   Consolidated Separate

US$

Staff 
retention 
incentive

Outstanding
 employee 

leave Others Total

Balance as at 1 January 2018  2 035 445  340 274 –  2 375 719 

Net movement during the period  74 667  142 761  (894 557)  (677 129)

Balance as at 31 December 2018  2 110 112  483 035  (894 557)  1 698 590 

Balance as at 1 January 2017  1 567 000  456 000 –  2 023 000 

Net movement during the period  468 445  (115 726) –  352 719 

Balance as at 31 December 2017  2 035 445  340 274 –  2 375 719 

The staff retention incentive represents a provision for a performance based staff incentive and is included in staff costs. 
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. The provision is made for the 
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the reporting date and the charge 
is recognised in profit or loss within “staff costs”.

39. LOANS PAYABLE
During the year 2017, FMBcapital Holdings Plc, obtained loan facilities of US$ 6.5million from related parties for the 
purpose of discharging the purchase consideration for acquisition of shares in Afcarme. These loans are unsecured and 
bear an interest of 9% pa, with the first interest payment due one year after drawdown and thereafter every quarter. The 
principal amount including any interest outstanding is repayable after six years. The principal is payable as follows:

Consolidated and separate

US$ 2018 2017 Due date

Premier Capital (Mauritius) Limited  1 250 000  1 250 000 3 August 2023

Prime Bank Limited  3 250 000  3 250 000 3 August 2023

Mrs Meeta Anadkat  1 000 000  1 000 000  31 July 2023

Pipal Limited  1 000 000  1 000 000 1 August 2023

 6 500 000  6 500 000 
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40. REDEEMABLE PREFERENCE SHARES
During the year 2017, FMBCH concluded an agreement with Barclays Bank PLC (“BBPLC”), for the acquisition of the 
81% of the issued share capital in Afcarme Zimbabwe Holdings (Private) Limited (holding company of First Capital Bank 
Limited Zimbabwe (Ex-Barclays Bank of Zimbabwe Limited). Payment for the acquisition was made partly through cash 
consideration of US$ 6.6 million and partly by issue to BBPLC of 10 786 747 redeemable preference shares of US$ 1.00 
each in the capital of the Company.

Preferred dividend

The Preference shareholders shall be entitled to be paid out of profits or other reserves available for distribution a fixed 
cumulative preferential dividend of 5% per annum thereon in priority to any payment of any distribution to the holders of 
any other class of shares. The holder has no voting right at any General Meeting.

Redemption

The Company may, at its absolute discretion, subject to law, redeem or buy back the Preference Shares (in whole or in part) 
together with a sum equal to the prorated Preferred Dividend payable in respect of the relevant financial year, plus any 
Preferred Dividend accrued but not paid from previous financial years.

The holders of the preference shares shall have the right to require the Company to redeem the whole of the preference 
shares when there is a change of control of the company or upon expiry of three years from the issue date.

Convertibility into ordinary shares

In the event that the preference shares are not redeemed as provided, the holder shall be entitled to convert all its shares 
into full ordinary shares by providing a conversion notice to the Company. Each preference share shall be converted into 
ordinary shares at a predetermined conversion price of US$ 0.0472

Status and ranking of the redeemable preference shares

The preference shares constitute unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Company and accordingly rank junior to 
all secured and unsubordinated creditors of the Company but ahead of ordinary shareholders. The preference shares have 
been classified as a financial liability in the balance sheet.

41. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVOCI
  Consolidated

US$ 2018 2017

Equity instruments 1 793 644  4 254 012 

Represented by
Investment in Zimswitch Ltd 1 749 922  4 208 887 

Investment in Sociedade Interbancária de Moçambique (SIMO)  44 820  37 452 

Effect of changes in exchange rate  (1 098)  7 673 

1 793 644  4 254 012 

Available for sale assets represent shares held by banks in the group in local switch companies. First Capital Bank Limited 
Zimbabwe (FCB Zimbabwe) holds 11.98% of the issued share capital of Zimswitch Limited and First Capital Bank S.A. 
Mozambique (FCB Mozambique) holds 0.5% of SIMO’s issued share capital. Directors have used the dividend growth 
model to value FCB Zimbabwe’s stake in Zimswitch Limited. In Mozambique, there is no active market for this financial 
instrument. The switch is not fully operational and fair value cannot be reliably determined. The investment has therefore 
been measured at cost.

The Group has no intention to dispose of the investments. Furthermore, all relevant information available at the reporting 
date indicates that there is no objective evidence that could indicate that these financial assets would be impaired and, as 
such, no impairment was raised.
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42. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share at 31 December 2018 was based on profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of US$ 16 601 206 (2017: US$ 30 304 809) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding of 
2 340 260 959 (2017: 2 336 250 000) calculated as follows:

 
 Consolidated Separate

 2018 2017 2018 2017

Profit attributable to owners of the company (US$) 16 601 206 30 304 809 3 374 920 (1 716 325)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 2 340 260 959 2 336 250 000 2 340 260 959 2 336 250 000

Basic and diluted earnings per share (US’ cents) 0.709 1.297 0.144 (0.073)

43. DIVIDENDS
No dividend has been declared for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).  

44. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
In common with other banks, the Group companies business involving acceptances, guarantees, performance bonds and 
indemnities. The majority of these facilities are offset by corresponding obligations of third parties. 

The contractual amounts of the Group companies’ off balance sheet financial instruments that commit it to extend credit 
to customers are as follows:

 
 Consolidated Separate

 2018 2017 2018 2017

Acceptances and letters of credit 94 617 788 18 087 873 – –

Financial guarantees 57 420 571 73 114 718 – –

152 038 359 91 202 591 – –

Other contingent liabilities
Legal claims 495 526 390 880 – –

Contingencies in respect of letters of credit will only crystallise into an asset or a liability when bills are presented in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of payment of the individual letters of credit. Contingencies in respect of 
guarantees and performance bonds issued will only crystallise into an asset and a liability in the event of default by the 
relevant counterparty.

Other contingent liabilities represent civil litigation matters that will crystallise into a liability only in the unlikely event of 
an unfavourable judgement

45. CORPORATE REBRANDING OF COMPONENT UNITS NAME
The Group engaged in a rebranding of the component units to First Capital Bank for all the banks and their new entity 
names are as follows:

Previous Component Unit Name  New Component Unit Name Country Registered Effective Date

First Merchant Bank Plc First Capital Bank Plc Malawi 12 September 2018

Capital Bank S.A. First Capital Bank S.A. Mozambique 12 February 2019

Capital Bank Limited First Capital Bank Limited Botswana 12 September 2018

First Capital Bank Zambia Limited No Change Zambia 10 September 2013

Barclays Bank of Zimbabwe Limited First Capital Bank Limited Zimbabwe 07 August 2018
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Intercompany balances and transactions

The following transactions were carried out by FMBCH with related parties during the year:

US$

Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transactions 2018 2017

First Capital Bank Plc (Malawi)* Subsidiary Other payables  (1 484 233) (1 465 507)

First Capital Bank Plc (Malawi) Subsidiary Group shared services  809 082

First Capital Bank Plc (Malawi) Subsidiary Other assets 6 200 152

First Capital Shared Services Ltd Subsidiary Loan receivable  1 161 939  –

First Capital Bank Zambia Limited Subsidiary Group shared services  378 042  –

First Capital Bank Zambia Limited Subsidiary Interest on loan payable (3 123)

Afcarme Zimbabwe Holdings 
(Private) Limited Subsidiary Group shared services  1 763 043  –

First Capital Bank S.A. 
(Mozambique) Fellow subsidiary Subordinated debt  817 889  –

First Capital Bank S.A. 
(Mozambique) Fellow subsidiary

Commitment fees 
receivable  1 333

First Capital Bank Limited 
(Botswana) Fellow subsidiary Preference shares  1 995 000  –

First Capital Bank Limited 
(Botswana) Fellow subsidiary Group shared services  402 337  –

Minerva Fiduciary Services 
(Mauritius) Limited**

Administrator and 
secretary

Administrative and 
secretary fees  (62 584)  (52 277)

Premier Capital (Mauritius) 
Limited** Shareholder Loan payable  –  (1 250 000)

Mrs Meeta Anadkat**
Immediate family member 
of a shareholder Loan payable  –  (1 000 000)

Prime Bank Limited** Shareholder Loan payable  –  (3 250 000)

Premier Capital (Mauritius) 
Limited** Shareholder Interest on loan payable  (112 500)  (46 541)

Mrs Meeta Anadkat**
Immediate family member 
of a shareholder Interest on loan payable  (90 000)  (37 726)

Prime Bank Limited** Shareholder Interest on loan payable  (292 500)  (121 808)
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Intercompany balances and transactions (CONTINUED)

Outstanding balances with related parties as at 31 December 2018 are as follows:

US$

Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transactions 2018 2017

First Capital Bank (Malawi) PLC* Subsidiary Other payables  –  (1 484 233)

First Capital Shared Services Ltd Subsidiary Other assets  1 161 939  – 

First Capital Bank Zambia Limited Subsidiary Group shared services  378 042  – 

Afcarme Zimbabwe Holdings 
(Private) Limited Subsidiary Group shared services  1 763 043  – 

First Capital Bank S.A. 
(Mozambique) Fellow subsidiary Subordinated debt  817 889  – 

First Capital Bank S.A. 
(Mozambique) Fellow subsidiary

Commitment fees 
receivable  1 333 

First Capital Bank Limited 
(Botswana) Fellow subsidiary Preference shares  1 995 000  – 

First Capital Bank Limited 
(Botswana) Fellow subsidiary Group shared services  402 337  – 

Minerva Fiduciary Services 
(Mauritius) Limited**

Administrator and 
secretary

Administrative and 
secretary fees  –  (2 564)

Premier Capital (Mauritius) 
Limited** Shareholder Loan payable  (1 250 000)  (1 250 000)

Mrs Meeta Anadkat**
Immediate family member 
of a shareholder Loan payable  (1 000 000)  (1 000 000) 

Prime Bank Limited** Shareholder Loan payable  (3 250 000)  (3 250 000)

Premier Capital (Mauritius) 
Limited** Shareholder Interest on loan payable  (18 183)  (46 541) 

Mrs Meeta Anadkat**
Immediate family member 
of a shareholder Interest on loan payable  (14 795)  (37 726)

Prime Bank Limited** Shareholder Interest on loan payable  (48 082)  (121 808) 

* As at 31 December 2017, the First Capital Bank Plc Malawi (“FCB Malawi”) paid US$ 1 484 233 on behalf of FMBcapital Holdings Plc 
(“FMBCH”). This amount represents expenses incurred by the FCB Malawi on behalf of FMBCH on group restructuring costs, acquisition of 
Afcarme Zimbabwe Holdings (Private) Limited and renovations of the Malawi branch office of FMBcapital Holdings Plc.

** These were the transactions and balances of the Group with related parties. 

Directors’ fees and expenses

 Consolidated Separate

US$ 2018 2017 2018 2017

Executive directors 1 024 517 853 358 1 024 517 –

Key Management Personnel 2 039 281 – – –

Non-Executive directors 303 371 666 353 65 487 33 918

Total 3 367 169 1 519 711 1 090 004 33 918
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47. SEGMENTAL REPORTING 
The Group is required to determine and present its operating segments based on the way in which financial information 
is organised and reported to the chief operating decision-maker (CODM). The CODM has been identified as the Group 
Managing Director as he makes the key operating decisions of the Group and is responsible for allocating resources and 
assessing performance.

Key internal reports received by the CODM, primarily the management accounts, focus on the performance of the Group 
as a whole. The operations of all elements of the business are driven by the corporate and retail banking environment and 
hence have fundamentally the same economic characteristics.

All operational decisions made are focused on the performance and growth of the corporate and retail banking the ability 
of the business to meet customer’s needs.

The Group has considered the overriding core principles of IFRS 8 ‘Operating segments’ as well as its internal reporting 
framework, management and operating structure. The Directors’ conclusion is that the Group has two operating segments, 
that of corporate and retail banking and asset finance. The Group is not reliant on any major customer for 1% or more of 
revenues. Costs incurred by support functions are allocated to the two main business segments on the basis of determined 
cost drivers.

• Corporate and Retail banking – Banking branches and agencies in the group are all engaged in corporate and retail 
banking, offer similar products and services to similar classes of customer and are governed by the same regulatory 
environment. Given their common economic characteristics, these individual segments are aggregated and presented 
in a single segment. They offer various products and services to large corporates, financial institutions and government, 
medium and small businesses and private individuals. Services include direct debit facilities, current and savings accounts, 
debit cards, money market deposits, overdrafts, loans and other credit facilities and foreign currency products.

• Asset Finance – Until 31 December 2017 the Group provided asset finance through Leasing and Finance Company 
of Malawi Limited to a wide spectrum of individual and corporate customers in Malawi. This business has, from 
1 January 2018 been amalgamated with corporate and retail banking.

• Other operating segments represent the company (FMBcapital Holdings Plc), First Capital Shared Services Ltd, FMB Forex 
Bureau Limited, FMB Pensions Limited, International Commercial Bank Limited and FMB Capital Markets Limited. The 
Group companies do not meet any of the quantitative thresholds set out in IFRS 8 – Segment Reporting for separate 
disclosure and reporting and this segment has been aggregated into the others segment information presented below.
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47. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (CONTINUED)

2018
US$

Corporate 
& Retail Asset Finance Others

Consolidation
 Adjustments Total

Net interest income 73 410 780  – (590 060) 2 263 72 822 983

Fees and commissions 41 421 042 – (64 003) (23 358) 41 333 681

Income from investments 2 413 333 – 6 200 152 (6 200 152) 2 413 333

Other operating income 734 568 – 2 960 132 (2 943 630) 751 070

Gain on foreign exchange transactions 21 370 771  – (291 666)  (1 393) 21 077 712

Total operating income 139 350 494  – 8 214 555 (9 166 270) 138 398 779

Staff and training costs (46 162 178) – (2 759 861) – (48 922 039)

Premises and equipment (14 036 134) – (95 198) – (14 131 332)

Depreciation and amortisation (6 559 703) – (42 555) – (6 602 258)

Other expenses (28 249 288) – (1 997 267) 3 285 910 (26 960 645)

Impairment of financial assets (4 166 418)  –          –          – (4 166 418)

Total expenditure (99 173 721)  – (4 894 881) 3 285 910 (100 782 692)

Operating profit 40 176 773 – 3 319 674 (5 880 360) 37 616 087

Gain on bargain purchase – – – – –

Share of profit of joint venture  –  –  –  –  –

Profit before income tax expense 40 176 773 – 3 319 674 (5 880 360) 37 616 087

Income tax expense (6 378 405)  – (619 931)  – (6 998 336)

Profit for the year 33 798 368  – 2 699 743 (5 880 360) 30 617 751

Total segment assets 993 027 428 – 139 703 467 (161 711 734) 971 019 161

Total segment liabilities 840 951 519 – 19 556 182 (23 725 880) 836 781 821
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47. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (CONTINUED)
Information about the geographical reportable segment and the reconciliation of the reportable segment information to 
Group total is shown below:
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47. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (CONTINUED)

2017
US$

Corporate 
& Retail Asset Finance Others

Consolidation
 Adjustments Total

Net interest income 41 794 935 1 970 924 (340 449)  – 43 425 410

Fees and commissions 21 788 837 290 282 36 167 – 22 115 286

Income from investments 3 227 697 – – – 3 227 697

Gain on foreign exchange transactions 10 106 665  –  –  – 10 106 665

Other operating income  274 685  –  –  –  274 685

Total operating income 77 192 819 2 261 206  (304 282)  – 79 149 743

Staff and training costs (25 529 492) (577 508) – – (26 107 000)

Premises and equipment (7 960 824) (11 299) (19 301) – (7 991 424)

Depreciation and amortisation (4 369 766) (52 923) (2 589) – (4 425 278)

Other expenses (11 953 407) (306 423) (1 355 725) – (13 615 555)

Impairment of financial assets  (3 148 409) (165 359)  –  – (3 313 768)

Total expenditure (52 961 898) (1 113 512) (1 377 615)  – (55 453 025)

Operating profit 24 230 921 1 147 694 (1 681 897) – 23 696 718

Gain on bargain purchase 71 951 – – 18 584 002 18 655 953

Share of profit of joint venture  199 370  –  –  – 199 370

Profit before income tax expense 24 502 242 1 147 694 (1 681 897) 18 584 002 43 352 671

Income tax expense (7 315 766) (368 536)  (9 576)  – (7 693 878)

Profit for the year 17 186 476  779 158 (1 691 473) 18 584 002 34 858 163

Total segment assets 1 142 080 610 16 422 460 124 600 709 (124 632 352) 1 158 471 426

Total segment liabilities 985 493 068 11 995 153 19 256 149 (1 484 233) 1 015 260 138
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47. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (CONTINUED)
Information about the geographical reportable segment and the reconciliation of the reportable segment information to 
Group total is shown below:
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48. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
The following event took place after reporting date that required disclosure in but not adjustment to the 2018 financial 
statements of FMBcapital Holdings Plc:

In February 2019, First Capital Bank Plc Malawi (FCB Malawi) distributed its investment in First Capital Bank Limited 
Botswana (FCB Botswana) as dividend in specie to FMBcapital Holdings PLC (FMBCH), thereby making FCB Botswana its 
direct subsidiary.

49. CHANGE IN FUNCTIONAL CURRENCY
The Group’s subsidiary, FCB Zimbabwe, assessed its functional currency for the year ended 31 December 2018 continuing 
from the previous assessment done in 2017 using same IAS 21 primary and secondary indicators:

• FCB Zimbabwe concluded that a greater proportion of the interest income and non-funded income was being priced 
and settled in Real Time Gross Settlement (RTGS) dollars and costs being largely determined and settled in RTGS dollars;

• Net receipts from operations were largely retained in RTGS dollars;

• A greater proportion of the FCB Zimbabwe’s assets and deposits were now predominantly denominated in RTGS dollars

FCB Zimbabwe also considered the following factors:

i) Separation of Nostro and RTGS balances

The separation of these balance was effective from 1 October 2018, which meant that customers who had RTGS 
balances would not ordinarily be able to access foreign cash with effect from 1 October 2018, implying that the two 
were now different currencies.

ii) Substance over form of RTGS transactions

Although the RTGS was a mode of settlement and not legally recognised as a currency FCB Zimbabwe considered 
the substance of the transactions done in RTGS, taking into account the significant disparity between the market 
perception of the relative value between the United States Dollar ($) and the RTGS dollar and concluded that the 
economic substance of these transactions over their legal form was that RTGS was a currency.

Based on the above considerations FCB Zimbabwe concluded that its functional currency had changed from United 
States Dollars ($) to RTGS dollars from 1 October 2018. However, as at 31 December 2018 the RTGS dollar had not 
been promulgated legally as a currency. Statutory Instrument (S.I) 33 commissioned the RTGS dollar as a currency 
from 22 February 2019 and prescribed that all United States dollar ($) assets and liabilities before 22 February 2019 
must be valued at 1:1 to the RTGS dollar.

For Group reporting purposes in accordance to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), the financial 
statements of Afcarme were translated to United States Dollars using a closing rate of United States Dollars ($) 
1:3.62 for the Statement of Financial Position and an average rate of United States Dollars ($) 1:3.27 for the Income 
Statement. The exchange rates are best estimate at the date of reporting. The tables below provide an analysis of the 
impact on FCB Zimbabwe’s performance and financial position using exchange rates in the range of 2.5 to 5.
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49. CHANGE IN FUNCTIONAL CURRENCY (CONTINUED)

PL Sensitivity Analysis for 2018

As notified by 
SI 33

 US$: RTGS$
@ 1:2.5

As reported 
US$: RTGS$

 @ 1:3.27

Incremental
 Rate

US$: RTGS$ 
@ 1:4

Incremental 
Rate

US$: RTGS$
@ 1:5

Interest income 34 712 33 650 33 021 32 457

Interest expense (1 025) (961) (923) (890)

Net interest income 33 688 32 689 32 098 31 568

Net fee and commission income  23 562  22 948  22 585  22 260 

Net trading income  11 835 11 835  11 835  11 835 

Net investment income  1 001 938  901  868 

Other income  762  735  718  703 

Total non-interest income  37 161 36 457  36 040  35 666 

Total income  70 848 69 146  68 138  67 234 

Staff costs  (24 407) (23 153)  (22 410)  (21 745)

Infrastructure costs  (9 697) (7 510)  (9 251)  (9 102)

Administration and general expenses  (15 193) (16 785)  (14 692)  (14 525)

Impairment losses  (2 464)  (2 464)  (2 464)  (2 465)

Operating expenses (51 760) (49 912) (48 817) (47 837)

Profit (loss) before tax  19 089 19 234  19 320  19 397 

Taxation  (329) (252)  (206)  (165)

Profit for the year  18 759 18 982  19 114  19 233 

Impact on Group’s consolidated profit for the year 
due to change in functional currency (5 563) (5 340) (5 208) (5 089)



112 FMBcapital Holdings plc Abridged Annual Report        2018

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

 June 28, 2019 7:24 AM FMBCH_AFS

49. CHANGE IN FUNCTIONAL CURRENCY (CONTINUED)

BS Sensitivity Analysis for 2018

As notified by 
SI 33

 US$: RTGS$
@ 1:2.5

As reported 
US$: RTGS$

 @ 1:3.62

Incremental
 Rate

US$: RTGS$ 
@ 1:4

Incremental 
Rate

US$: RTGS$
@ 1:5

 Cash and bank balances  82 142  68 000  65 001  59 287 

 Investment securities  115 601  79 835  72 250  57 800 

 Loans and receivables from banks  1 612  1 113  1 007  806 

 Loans and advances to customers  88 070  66 082  61 419  52 535 

 Other assets  4 786  4 009  3 844  3 530 

 Property and equipment  22 270  20 551  20 187  19 493 

 Investment properties  5 145  5 145  5 145  5 145 

 Non-current assets held for sale  14 829  14 829  14 829  14 829 

 Current tax asset  481  332  300  240 

Total assets  334 935  259 896  243 983  213 666 

Liabilities    

 Derivative financial instruments  1  1  1  1 

 Balances due to other banks  1 162  803  726  581 

 Deposits from customer  251 283  188 934  175 713  150 522 

 Provisions  1 265  874  791  633 

 Other liabilities  8 229  6 202  5 773  4 954 

 Deferred tax liabilities  1 099  759  687  550 

 Bank balances due to Group companies  1 806  1 806  1 806  1 806 

Total liabilities  264 845  199 378  185 496  159 046 

Equity     

 Share capital  216  216  216  216 

 Share premium  23 837  23 837  23 837  23 837 

 Property revaluation reserve 4 936 4 936 4 936 4 936

 Loan loss reserve  611  611  611  611 

 Investment revaluation reserve 4 926 4 926 4 926 4 926

 Capital reserves 9 013 9 013 9 013 9 013

 Translation reserve  (40 850) (50 646)  (52 809)  (56 795)

 Profit and Loss for the year  18 759 18 982  19 114  19 233 

 Retained income  48 643  48 643  48 643  48 643 

Total equity  70 091  60 518  58 488  54 620 

Total equity and liabilities  334 936  259 896  243 983  213 666 

Impact on Group’s consolidated equity for the year 
due to change in functional currency (46 412) (55 985) (58 015) (61 883)
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50. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
a. Standards issued but not yet effective

2018 has witnessed the adoption of 2 key reporting standards that are relevant to the Group. These being IFRS 9 for 
Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 for Revenue from Contracts with Customers. IFRS 15 had no significant effect whereas 
IFRS 9 has resulted in significant effect on financial instruments classification and measurement as explained in notes 
3.1.2, 5(a), 9 and 37.

b. Standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted

The following new standards, amendments and interpretations have been issued but are not effective for the 
financial year beginning 1 January 2018 and are expected to be relevant to the Group. The Group is in the process 
of assessing the potential impact that the adoption of these Standards and interpretations may have on its future 
financial performance or disclosures in the annual financial statements. The Group will not early adopt the standards.

IFRS 16 – Leases

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains 
a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases – Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal 
Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of 
leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar to the accounting 
for finance leases under IAS 17. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – leases of ’low-value’ 
assets (e.g. personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e. leases with a lease term of 12 months or less). At the 
commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognize a liability to make lease payments (i.e. the lease liability) and 
an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e. the right-of-use asset). Lessees 
will be required to separately recognize the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on 
the right-of-use asset.

Lessees will be also required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g. a change in 
the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those 
payments). The lessee will generally recognize the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment 
to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under 
IAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish 
between two types of leases: operating and finance leases.

IFRS 16, which is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, requires lessees and lessors to 
make more extensive disclosures than under IAS 17.

Transition to IFRS 16

The Group plans to adopt IFRS 16 retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented. The Group will elect 
to apply the standard to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The Group 
will therefore not apply the standard to contracts that were not previously identified as containing a lease applying 
IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.

The Group has taken properties on lease from third parties with contract terms in excess of 12 months. The contracts 
have their lease payments present valued to determine the right of use asset and the lease liability (capitalized). 
Preliminary group assessment of the impact of the adoption of the new standard is expected to be finalized before 
30 June 2019.
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 FMBcapital Holdings plc

PROXY FORM

I/We  ____________________________________________________________________________________________________________  of 

___________________________________________________________________________________________________ (Address), being a

Member/members of the above named company hereby appoint  _______________________________________________________

______________________________________________________ of  ______________________________________________  or failing him

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  of

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________ as my/our

proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the 3rd Annual Meeting of the Company to be held on 6 August, 2019 and at any 
adjournment thereof.

This form is to be used as follows:

In Favour Against Abstain

Resolution No. 1

Resolution No. 2

Resolution No 3

Resolution No. 4.1.1

Resolution No. 4.1.2

Resolution No. 4.2

Resolution No. 4.3

Resolution No. 5.1

Resolution No. 5.2

Resolution No. 6.

Unless otherwise instructed, the proxy will vote as he thinks fit

Date  ____________________________________________  Signed  __________________________________________________________

A PROXY NEED NOT BE A MEMBER OF THE COMPANY
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John Michael O’Neill 18-Apr-17 N/A
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BANKER The Mauritius Commercial Bank Ltd

P.O Box 52
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Port Louis 

Mauritius

SBM Bank (Mauritius) Ltd

Corporate Office, SBM Tower,
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Port Louis 

Mauritius

AUDITOR Deloitte 
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Cybercity

Ebène,72201

Mauritius
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